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PART I

Item 1. Business.
In this report, “WellChoice,” “Company,” “registrant,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to WellChoice, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and as the
context requires, its subsidiaries.
This report contains forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that include
information about possible or assumed future sales, results of operations, developments, regulatory approvals or other circumstances. Statements that
use the terms “believe,” “expect,” “plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,” “may,” “will,” “shall,” “should” and similar
expressions, whether in the positive or negative, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements in this report are
based on management’s estimates, assumptions and projections and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our
control. Important risk factors could cause actual future results and other future events to differ materially from those estimated by management.
Those risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to:
•

our ability to accurately predict health care costs and to manage those costs through underwriting criteria, quality initiatives and medical
management;

•

product design and negotiation of favorable provider reimbursement rates;

•

our ability to maintain or increase our premium rates;

•

possible reductions in enrollment in our health insurance programs or changes in membership;

•

the regional concentration of our business in the New York metropolitan area and the effects of economic downturns in that region or
generally;

•

future bio-terrorist activity or other potential public health epidemics;

•

the impact of health care reform and other regulatory matters;

•

the outcome of litigation; and

•

the potential loss of our New York City account.

For a more detailed discussion of these and other important factors that may materially affect WellChoice, please see our existing and future filings
with the Commission, including the risk factors set forth in “Item 1. Business – Additional Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations” and
those contained in “Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report.
Except as required by applicable law, including the securities laws of the United States, we do not intend to update or revise any forward-looking
statements.

***
Our website address is www.wellchoice.com. We make available free of charge through our website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed
with or furnished to the Commission.
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Company Overview
We are the largest health insurance company in the State of New York based on preferred provider organization, or PPO, and health maintenance
organization, or HMO, membership. At December 31, 2003, we served approximately 4.8 million members through our service areas. Our service areas
include 10 downstate New York counties which we refer to as the “New York City metropolitan area,” where we hold a leading market position covering over
21% of the population, upstate New York and New Jersey. We offer a broad portfolio of managed care and insurance products primarily to private and public
employers through a variety of funding arrangements, including insured and self-funded, or administrative services only (ASO). Our managed care product
offerings include:

•

health maintenance organizations, or HMOs;

•

preferred provider organizations, or PPOs;

•

exclusive provider organizations, or EPOs;

•

point of service, or POS, products; and

•

dental-only coverage.

We have a broad customer base. Among our customers are large groups of more than 500 employees, which include employees of New York State and
New York City as well as labor unions; middle market groups, ranging from 51 to 500 employees; small groups, ranging from two to 50 employees; and
individuals. We also serve approximately 1.1 million members through our national accounts, generally large, multi-state employers, including many Fortune
500 companies.

We have the exclusive right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks for all of our health benefits products in ten counties in the New
York City metropolitan area and in six counties in upstate New York and the non-exclusive right to use these names and marks in one upstate New York
county. In addition, we have an exclusive right to use only the Blue Cross names and marks in seven counties in our upstate New York service area and a
nonexclusive right to use only the Blue Cross names and marks in an additional four upstate New York counties. Our membership in the Blue Cross Blue
Shield Association also enables us to provide our PPO, EPO and indemnity members access to the national network of providers through the BlueCard
program. This program allows these members access to in-network benefits through the networks of Blue Cross Blue Shield plans throughout the United
States and over 200 foreign countries and territories. Substantially all of our revenues, and nearly all of our membership, is derived from the sale of our Blue
Cross Blue Shield products and services.

Industry Overview
The managed health care industry has experienced significant change during the past decade. The increasing focus on health care costs by employers,
the government and consumers has led to the growth of alternatives to traditional indemnity health insurance. HMO, PPO, EPO and POS plans are among the
various forms of managed care products that have developed in response to these market pressures. Under these arrangements, the cost of health care is
contained, in part, by negotiating contracts with hospitals, physicians and other providers to deliver care at favorable rates and adopting programs to ensure
that appropriate and cost-effective care is provided.
In addition, economic factors and greater consumer awareness have resulted in the increasing popularity of products that offer larger, more extensive
networks, more member choice related to coverage and the ability to self-refer within those networks. There is also a growing preference for greater flexibility to
assume larger deductibles and co-payments in exchange for lower premiums. At the same time, organizations and individuals are placing an increased focus
on the quality of health care and the level of sophistication and customer service in delivering service. Employer groups and providers are also demanding
prompt and accurate payment of claims, including automated claims payment options. There is also a growing preference for national accounts and other large
groups to fund their health care costs themselves rather than purchase an insured product.
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The Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and its member plans also have undergone significant change. Historically, most states had at least one Blue
Cross (hospital coverage) and a separate Blue Shield (physician coverage) company. Prior to the mid-1980s, there were more than 125 separate Blue Cross
and/or Blue Shield companies, which we sometimes refer to as “Blue” plans. Many of these organizations have merged, reducing the number of Blue plans to
41 as of December 2003. We expect this trend to continue, with plans merging or affiliating to address capital needs and other competitive pressures. At the
same time, the number of people enrolled in Blue Cross Blue Shield plans has been steadily increasing, from 65.6 million in 1995 to 88.7 million at
September 30, 2003 nationwide.
The Blue Cross Blue Shield plans work together in a number of ways that create significant market advantages, especially when competing for large,
multi-state employer groups. For example, all Blue Cross Blue Shield plans participate in the BlueCard program, which effectively creates a national “Blue”
network. Each plan is able to take advantage of other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans’ broad provider networks and negotiated provider reimbursement rates.
Utilizing the BlueCard program, an indemnity, PPO or EPO member of one plan who lives or travels outside of the state in which the policy under which he or
she is covered may obtain health care services from a provider that has contracted with the Blue Cross Blue Shield plan in the locale in which such member is
then situated. This makes it possible for individual Blue Cross Blue Shield plans to compete for national accounts business with other non-“Blue” plans with
nationwide networks.

Our Strategy
Our goal is to be the leading health insurer in the New York marketplace and surrounding areas. In recent years, we have implemented strategic changes
to achieve this goal, including shifting our membership base from purchasers of mainly traditional indemnity products to more innovative managed care
products and consolidating our claims payment systems. We plan to continue to maintain and improve our market position and financial performance by
executing the following strategy:

•

Capitalize on Growth Opportunities.

— Offer a broad spectrum of managed care products in our local markets. We intend to continue to grow our business in our local
markets, particularly in the small group and middle market customer segment, by maintaining, developing and offering the broad continuum
of managed care products that the New York market demands. Generally, the breadth and flexibility of our benefit plan options are designed to
appeal to a variety of employer groups and individuals with differing product and service preferences. We believe that customer needs will
continue to change, requiring us to increase the variety of products we offer. Product variations will include freedom in selecting providers, cost
sharing, scope of coverage and the degree of medical management. For example, during 2003, we launched a POS product to employer groups,
primarily focused on small and middle market customers.

— Grow our national accounts business . We view national accounts as an attractive growth opportunity, as this group represents
approximately 36% of employed persons in the United States. We believe our position in the New York City metropolitan area, where a
significant number of national businesses have headquarters, provides us with a competitive advantage in our efforts to grow this business. In
addition, we intend to continue to grow our national accounts business through the promotion of the BlueCard program.

— Expand geographically. We also intend to pursue expansion opportunities, especially those in or adjacent to our current service areas. We
believe that we have developed an expertise in systems migration, network development, marketing, underwriting and cost control that is
transferable to attractive markets within and outside New York and which positions us to take advantage of opportunities that may arise as the
consolidation of the health insurance industry continues.

•

Leverage the Strength of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Brands. We believe that our license to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and
marks gives us a significant competitive advantage in New York, and we intend to continue to promote the value of these brands to attract
additional customers and members.
3
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•

Continue to Promote the Use of Medical Information to Offer Innovative Products and Services to Members and Providers. We intend to be a
leader in the use of medical information to facilitate and enhance communications and delivery of service among employers, employees and other
health care providers. We believe that our members will increasingly desire and demand ready access to a repository of comprehensive, accurate and
secure medical and health-related information that can be transmitted by the member to physicians and medical institutions.

•

Reduce Costs through Operational Excellence. We are seeking to achieve operational excellence by improving delivery of service, customer
satisfaction and financial results through high levels of performance accompanied by cost containment.

Our New York Regional Markets
New York is the third most populous state in the United States, with a total population of approximately 19.2 million, according to the most recent U.S.
census estimates. We believe we can increase our market share through focused marketing efforts on a cost effective basis, given the high population density in
selected markets such as the New York City metropolitan area. The New York marketplace is comprised of a diverse customer base requiring a broad range of
product offerings, and we believe our extensive experience and history of operating in this unique marketplace combined with our leading market share and
brand recognition provides us with a distinct competitive advantage.
We operate in 28 counties in eastern New York, including the ten counties in the New York City metropolitan area, and 16 counties in New Jersey.

In our New York service area, we provide our products and services utilizing one or both of the Blue Cross Blue Shield brands through our indirect,
wholly owned subsidiaries, Empire HealthChoice Assurance, or Empire, a New York licensed accident and health insurer, and Empire HealthChoice HMO, a
New York licensed HMO. We utilize these brands to market to local groups and individuals in our New York service area as well as to national account
customers. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 23.3% of our members were covered under national accounts. The national accounts are generally selffunded accounts to which we provide our products on an ASO basis with their employees having access to a nationwide network of providers through the
BlueCard program.
Our New Jersey operations are operated under the WellChoice brand comprised of WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey and Empire HealthChoice HMO
d/b/a WellChoice HMO of New Jersey, which engages in managed care business in New Jersey. Our New Jersey operations were launched in 1998 and offer a
comprehensive network of providers across Northern, Central New Jersey and the Southern New Jersey counties of Burlington, Camden and Ocean.
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The following table demonstrates our service areas by region (including in New Jersey), population (based on 2002 U.S. Census Bureau estimates),
membership by residence (as of December 31, 2003) and branding:
Counties

Region

New York City
Metropolitan area

Upstate New York

Population

Membership(1)

(in thousands)

(in thousands)

12,215

New York, Bronx, Richmond,
Queens, Kings, Nassau,
Suffolk, Westchester,
Rockland, Putnam

2,578

Branding

Exclusive licenses to use Blue
Cross and Blue Shield names and

marks
1,011

Dutchess, Orange, Sullivan,
Ulster, Columbia, Greene

251

Exclusive licenses to use the Blue
Cross and Blue Shield names and

marks
47

Delaware

6

Non-exclusive licenses to use the
Blue Cross and Blue Shield names

and marks
Albany, Rensselaer, Saratoga,
Schenectady, Schoharie,
Warren, Washington

960

Clinton, Essex, Fulton,

224

171

Blue Cross names and marks
31

(1)
(2)

Non-exclusive license to use only

the Blue Cross names and marks

Montgomery

New Jersey

Exclusive license to use only the

7,755

Bergen, Burlington, Camden,
Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon,
Mercer, Middlesex, Monmouth,
Morris, Ocean, Passaic,
Somerset, Sussex, Union,
Warren

241(2)

WellChoice

The membership in the table excludes the approximately 1.5 million members that reside outside of our New York and New Jersey service areas.
Of this membership, approximately 220,000 members are covered by group policies issued by our New York operations and the approximately 21,000
member balance are members of our WellChoice NJ operations.

Health Care Benefits, Products and Services
We offer a wide range of health insurance products. Our offerings include managed care products consisting of HMO, POS, PPO and EPO plans and
traditional indemnity products. Our principal health products are offered both on an insured and, except with respect to our HMO products, self-funded, or
ASO basis and, in some instances, a combination of insured and self-funded.
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The following table illustrates our health benefits membership by product as of December 31, 2003:
Membership

Percentage

(in thousands)

Commercial managed care:
Group PPO, HMO, EPO and other(1)(2)
New York City and New York State PPO

2,301
1,805

48.4%
38.0

Total commercial managed care

4,106

86.4

Other insurance products and services:
Indemnity
Individual

428
220

9.0
4.6

Total other insurance products and services

648

13.6

4,754

Overall total

(1)
(2)

100.0%

Our HMO product includes Medicare+Choice. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 50,000 members enrolled in Medicare+Choice.
“Other” principally consists of our members enrolled in dental only coverage and includes POS members.

Revenues from external customers, investment income and realized gains, other revenue and income from continuing operations before income tax
expense attributable to each of our reportable segments are set forth in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which are included elsewhere in this
report. Assets are not allocated to the segments. We do not have intersegment sales or expenses.

Commercial Managed Care Products
Managed care generally refers to a method of integrating the financing and delivery of health care within a system that manages the cost, accessibility
and quality of care. Managed care products can be further differentiated by the types of provider networks offered, the ability to use providers outside such
networks and the scope of the medical management and quality assurance programs. Our members receive medical care from our networks of providers in
exchange for premiums paid by the individuals or their employers and, in some instances, a co-payment by the member. We reimburse network providers
according to pre-established fee arrangements and other contractual agreements.

We currently offer the following managed care plans: an HMO product, a PPO product, an EPO product and a POS product.

HMO. Our HMO plan provides members and their dependent family members with all necessary health care for a fixed monthly premium in addition
to applicable member co-payments. Health care services can include emergency care, inpatient hospital and physician care, outpatient medical services and
supplemental services, such as dental, behavioral health and prescription drugs. Under our standard HMO product, members must select a primary care
physician within the network to provide and assist in managing care, including referrals to specialists. We also offer a Direct Connection HMO product,
which offers all the advantages of our standard HMO product, but allows our eligible members to seek care from in-network specialists without a referral.
HMO members do not have access to services on a national account basis through the BlueCard program. We also provide services to Medicare beneficiaries
through our Medicare+Choice product, which covers all Medicare covered services, Medicare deductibles and coinsurance and certain additional services.
HMO members receive all covered medical care through physicians selected from the applicable HMO provider network.
PPO. Similar to an HMO, a PPO managed care plan provides members and their dependent family members with health care coverage in exchange for a
fixed monthly premium. Our PPO provides its members with access to a larger network of providers than our HMO. A PPO does not require a member to
select a primary care
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physician or to obtain a referral to utilize in-network specialists. In contrast to an HMO product, a PPO also provides coverage for members who access
providers outside of the network. Out-of-network benefits are usually subject to a deductible and coinsurance. Our PPO also offers national in-network
coverage to its members through the BlueCard program. For our New York State and New York City accounts we provide a hospital-only network PPO
benefit.

EPO. Our EPO plan is similar to our PPO managed care plan but does not cover out-of-network care. Members may choose any provider from our PPO
network in our New York service area and do not need to select a primary care physician. Outside of our service area in New York State, EPO members may
use the BlueCard program to secure in-network benefits nationally. We currently offer an EPO product only to New York State employers and to national
accounts on a self-funded basis. For national accounts needing coverage in jurisdictions where the EPO product is prohibited, we offer a variation of this
product that requires a 50% coinsurance payment for out-of-network services.

POS. Consistent with our strategy to offer a broad continuum of managed care products in the New York market, we have recently introduced a point of
service, or POS, product to employer groups, focused primarily on local small and middle market customers. The product, Direct POS, provides members
with the ability to utilize services on an in-network basis utilizing our HMO network of providers or on an out-of-network basis. POS members do not have
access to services on a national account basis through the BlueCard program. Our POS product has similar features to our Direct HMO product that permits
members to access in-network specialists without a referral, and also allows members to access out-of-network providers in return for deductibles and/or coinsurance. We believe the POS product will complement our existing managed care product portfolio by offering employers an additional product within our
family of managed care products to meet the needs of their employees.
In addition, we offer dental coverage on a PPO basis and other dental managed care products.

BlueCard
For our members who purchase our PPO, EPO and indemnity products under a Blue Cross Blue Shield plan, we offer the BlueCard program. The
BlueCard program offers these members in-network benefits through the networks of the other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans in other states and regions. In
addition, the BlueCard program offers our PPO, EPO and indemnity members in-network coverage in over 200 countries and territories. We believe that the
national and international coverage provided through this program allows us to compete effectively with large national insurers, without compromising our
focus and concentration in our geographical region. We derive administrative fees from other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans when their members receive
medical care from providers in our service areas. In 2003, approximately 413,000 members of other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans utilized our provider
networks through the BlueCard programs. We also pay other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans administrative fees when our members receive medical care from
providers in those other plans’ service areas.

Other Insurance Products and Services
We provide indemnity health insurance, which generally reimburses the insured for a percentage of actual costs of health care services rendered by
physicians, hospitals and other providers. Persons with indemnity insurance are not restricted to receiving professional medical services from a specified
provider network. Our indemnity products include hospital-only coverage as well as comprehensive hospital and medical coverage.

We also offer a number of individual products, including Child Health Plus, Medicare supplemental, Healthy New York (whether purchased by groups
or by individuals), direct pay hospital-only and the New York State-mandated, direct pay HMO and HMO based POS products. Child Health Plus provides
a managed care product similar to our HMO products to children under the age of nineteen who are ineligible for Medicaid and
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not otherwise insured. Our Medicare supplemental insurance policies, also referred to as Medigap policies, are designed to supplement Medicare by paying
hospital, medical and surgical expenses as well as, in some cases, prescription drug expenses for a portion of those costs not covered by Medicare. Direct pay
hospital-only is a low-cost policy that covers primarily inpatient services on an indemnity basis and Healthy New York is a state-mandated HMO product.
We also serve as fiscal intermediary for the Medicare Part A program and a carrier for the Medicare Part B program, for which we receive reimbursement
of certain costs and expenses at predetermined levels.

Administrative Services Only
In addition to our insured plans, we also offer selected products, including PPO, EPO and indemnity benefit designs, on a self-funded, or ASO, basis
under which we provide claims processing and other administrative services to employers. Employers choosing to purchase our products on an ASO basis
fund their own claims but their employees are able to access our provider network at our negotiated discounted rates. We administer the payment of claims to
the providers but we do not bear any insurance risk in connection with claims costs because we are reimbursed in full by the employer. The administrative fee
charged to self-funded groups is generally based on the size of the group and services provided. Our primary ASO customers are large national accounts and
large local groups (over 1,000 employees).

Marketing and Distribution
Our marketing activities concentrate on promoting our strong brands, quality care, customer service efforts, the size and quality of our provider
networks, our financial strength and the breadth of our product offerings. We distribute our products through several different channels, including our
salaried and commission-based internal sales force, independent brokers and telemarketing staff. We also use our website to market our products.

Branding and Marketing. Our branding and marketing efforts include “brand advertising,” which focuses on the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names
and marks, “acquisition marketing,” which focuses on attracting new customers, and “institutional advertising,” which focuses on our overall corporate
image. We believe that the strongest element of our brand identity is the “Blue Cross and Blue Shield.” We seek to leverage what we believe to be the high name
recognition and comfort level that many existing and potential customers associate with this brand. Also, the BlueCard program is an important component of
our Blue Cross Blue Shield marketing strategy as it enables us to compete for large, multi-state employer groups. Acquisition marketing consists of businessto-business marketing efforts which are used to generate leads for brokers and our sales force as well as direct-to-consumer marketing which is used to add
new customers to our direct pay businesses. Institutional advertising is used to promote key corporate interests and overall company image. We believe these
efforts support and further our competitive brand advantage. Our strategy will be to continue utilizing the Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield brands for all
products and services in our service areas in New York and to continue to establish the WellChoice brand outside of New York.
Distribution. As of January 1, 2004, our sales force consisted of over 100 people. We also utilize the services of approximately 5,670 independent
brokers in New York and approximately 2,000 in New Jersey. We rely on independent brokers to market our products to small and middle market groups. In
addition, we engage 13 general agents to distribute our products in New Jersey, as well as seven general agents to distribute our products to middle market and
large groups in New York. Several account representatives and managers are dedicated exclusively to maintaining our relationships with our national accounts
and labor union customers. Our internal telemarketing division is primarily responsible for marketing our managed health care plans to small groups. Our
sales staff is primarily responsible for marketing our managed health care plans to small and large groups, either directly or working with a broker. We believe
that each of these marketing methods is optimally suited to address the specific health insurance needs of the customer base to which it is assigned.
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We compete for qualified brokers and agents to distribute our products. Strong competition exists among health insurance companies and health benefits
plans for brokers and agents with demonstrated ability to secure new business and maintain existing accounts. The basis of competition for the services of
such brokers and agents are commission structure, support services, reputation and prior relationships, the ability to retain clients and the quality of
products. We believe that our brokers gain significant benefits from our dedicated broker website, which enables them to obtain quotes for our small group
products and perform administrative services for existing accounts. We believe that we have good relationships with our brokers and agents, and that our
products, support services and commission structure are highly competitive in the marketplace.

Customers
The following chart shows our membership by customer group at December 31, 2003:
Membership
(in thousands)

Large group
Small group and middle market
Individuals
National accounts

2,931

Total

4,754

444

269
1,110

Percentage

61.7%
9.3
5.7
23.3
100.0%

We sell products to customers ranging in size from large national institutional accounts to individuals. We continually seek to obtain an optimal and
balanced portfolio of business across all of our customer segments.

Large Groups. This customer base consists of large organizations with operations in our service areas that have more than 500 employees and includes
New York State, New York City and local governmental employers and labor unions. Our large corporate accounts purchase our products on both an insured
and ASO basis. We sell our products to New York State and New York City in their capacity as employers. As of December 31, 2003, our New York State
and New York City accounts covered approximately 20.8% and 17.2%, respectively, of our total membership, and labor unions represented 11.5% of our
total membership. We provide hospital-only coverage to both the New York State and New York City accounts. The pricing of our products provided to New
York State and New York City has historically been renegotiated annually. Effective January 1, 2003, we agreed to new pricing with New York State covering
a three-year period through December 31, 2005, though both parties retain the right to terminate the contract on six months’ notice. For more than two years,
the New York City account has been subject to a competitive bid process in which we have participated, relating to a five-year contract. In October 2003, we
agreed to new rates with the New York City account for the period from July 1, 2003 through June 30, 2004. We expect the New York City account to complete
the competitive bid process for the five-year contract some time in the first half of 2004. The loss of one or both of the New York City and New York State
accounts would result in reduced membership and revenue and require us to reduce, reallocate or absorb administrative expenses associated with these
accounts.
Small Group and Middle Market. This customer base consists of small (two to 50 employees) and mid-sized (51 to 500 employees) companies. Our
small groups have tended to purchase HMO products, while our middle market groups are covered by a mix of our HMO, PPO and EPO products and by
other products, including POS. We intend to continue to grow our small group and middle market customer base. To that end, in 2003, we introduced a POS
product for this market. The product, which utilizes our HMO network of providers, offers members the ability to utilize services on an in- or out-of-network
basis. In-network specialists may be accessed without a referral while members may access out-of-network providers in return for deductibles and/or coinsurance.
Individuals . This customer base consists principally of members who utilize our government-related products including Child Health Plus, Medicare
supplemental, Medicare+Choice, Healthy New York and two New York State-mandated direct pay HMO and HMO based point of service products.
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National Accounts . National accounts consist of large multi-state employers for whom technology, flexibility, access to the BlueCard program and
single-point accountability are important factors. National accounts often engage consultants to work with our in-house sales staff to tailor benefits to their
needs. Substantially all of our national accounts purchase our products on an ASO basis. In order to provide ASO services and access to the BlueCard
program to customers that are headquartered outside of our licensed areas, we are required under our Blue Cross and Blue Shield licenses to obtain the consent
of the Blue Cross Blue Shield plan licensed in the service area in which the customer is headquartered, a process referred to as “ceding.”
Underwriting and Pricing

Disciplined underwriting and appropriate pricing are core strengths of our business and we believe are an important competitive advantage. We
continually review our underwriting and pricing guidelines on a product-by-product and customer group-by-group basis in order to maintain competitive rates
in terms of both price and scope of benefits. As a result of our disciplined approach to underwriting and pricing, we have attained consistent profitability in
our insured book of business.

Our claims database enables us to establish rates based on our own experience and provides us with important insights about the risks in our service
areas. We tightly manage the overall rating process and have processes in place to ensure that underwriting decisions are made by properly qualified personnel.
In addition, we have developed and implemented a process to detect fraudulent groups, employees and providers.

Our rating policies in New York differ by group size product offerings. Our middle market and large group accounts for EPO, PPO and indemnity
products are experience rated. This means that our premium rate for each of these accounts is calculated based upon demographic criteria such as age, gender,
industry and region and experience criteria, referring to the actual cost of providing health care to that group during a period of coverage. For middle market
groups, the rates are set prospectively. This means that we are at risk for negative experience (actual claim costs and other expenses are more than those
expected) and benefit from positive experience (claim costs and other expenses are less than expected). For large groups with PPO, EPO or traditional indemnity
benefit designs, we employ prospective and retrospective ratings. Our New York City and New York State accounts are retrospectively rated. In retrospective
rating, a premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. Once the policy period has ended, the actual experience is reviewed. If the experience
is positive, a refund is credited to the customer. If the experience is negative, then the deficit is recovered from future years’ premiums. If the customer elects to
terminate coverage, deficits cannot be recovered.

Our HMO products sold in New York State, as well as all other insured products purchased by small groups and individuals, are community rated.
The premiums for community rated products are set according to our expected costs of providing medical benefits to the community pool as a whole, rather
than to any customer or sub-group of customers within the community. We cannot factor in other criteria in rating our premiums for these products, other than
Medicare eligibility. We use a variation of community rating in New Jersey for all small group products. All of our community rated products in New Jersey
are determined based on a community pool according to the age, sex and county of residence of the members.
Both the New York and New Jersey community rated products are set prospectively, meaning that a fixed premium rate is determined at the beginning of
the policy period. Unanticipated increases in cost of benefits provided may not be able to be recovered in that current policy year. However, prior experience, in
the aggregate, is considered in determining premium rates for future periods.

With respect to our Medicare+Choice plan, we have a contract with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, to provide HMO
Medicare+Choice coverage to Medicare beneficiaries who choose health care coverage through our HMO program in New York City and Nassau, Suffolk,
Rockland and Westchester counties in New York State. Under this annual contract, CMS pays us a set rate based on membership that is adjusted for
demographic factors. In addition, through 2003, the Medicare product offered by us in Nassau, Suffolk, Rockland
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and Westchester counties required a supplemental premium to be paid by the member. At December 31, 2003, we had approximately 50,000 members enrolled
in Medicare+Choice, or 1.1% of our commercial managed care membership. Medicare+Choice accounted for 11.1% of our commercial managed care premium
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003. Effective January 1, 2004, in addition to benefit changes to our existing Medicare+Choice product, we have
introduced an alternative benefit plan in New York City to respond to market demands that eliminates or decreases certain copayments and eliminates brand
name prescription drug coverage. Based upon the higher level of payments we expect to receive from CMS as a result of the recently enacted Medicare
Prescription Improvement and Modernization Act, subject to CMS approval, we will eliminate the additional premiums required by members of our
Medicare+Choice program in Rockland and Westchester counties, reduce the additional premium required by members in Nassau and Suffolk counties and
increase benefits available to New York City members.

Quality Initiatives and Medical Management
Our approach to quality initiatives and medical management seeks to ensure that high quality care is provided to our members. For purposes of our
quality programs, we segment our membership into four health categories (healthy, acute, chronic and complex) and allocate our resources to facilitate the
delivery of quality health care appropriate for each segment. Our quality initiatives and medical management approach seeks to improve member health, to
avoid health risks and to lower costs. We use sophisticated healthcare information technologies to identify those members who incur a disproportionate amount
of health care costs for treatment and hospitalization. We use this information to work with physicians to develop appropriate programs intended to improve
member health and thereby minimize future claims expenditures.
A small portion of our insured commercial managed care members who have both medical and hospital coverage constitute a significant majority of our
hospital and medical claims expenses. We are focusing on controlling these costs by using innovative technology, including sophisticated databases that can
identify and monitor specific members who have the potential for high costs of benefits provided. Our programs are built upon nationally recognized
guidelines. We use statistical modeling techniques as well as data generated through our claims system to help identify members in high-risk populations.

In addition, our SARA initiative, which is offered to our ASO accounts and some insured groups and provided to HMO members who are at least 50
years of age, serves as an early intervention program with a goal of identifying potential issues in physician-recommended treatments. The SARA program
uses our claims system to generate and analyze medical, laboratory, pharmacy and hospital claims data with the goal of identifying patients at risk of
potentially serious medical conditions and alerting physicians of identified risks, such as adverse drug reactions, skipped preventive screenings and
overlooked tests. These members are also alerted on-line in the secure site in their SARA messaging center.
In addition, we have developed and provide a variety of services and programs for the acute, chronic and complex populations as well as on-line and offline educational materials to help keep members healthy. The services and programs seek to enhance quality by eliminating inappropriate hospitalizations or
services and eliminating possible complications of procedures performed in hospitals. These services and programs include pre-certification and concurrent
review hospital discharge services for acute patients, as well as disease management programs for the chronic care population and nurse case managers for
complex population members.
Effective October 2003, we have consolidated and broadened our disease management programs by contracting with American HealthWays, Inc. to
provide comprehensive disease management services to members with chronic conditions, including the following core conditions: asthma, diabetes,
congestive heart failure, coronary artery disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Some or all of the disease management programs for the core
conditions outsourced to American HealthWays will be included in our insured products while those and others will be offered to self-funded groups. We also
have arrangements with two other disease management companies to provide specialized support services for members with other chronic care conditions,
such as Parkinson’s disease, multiple sclerosis, lupus and kidney failure.
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We have created a pilot program in support of patient safety, in conjunction with IBM, PepsiCo, Inc., Verizon Communications, Inc. and Xerox
Corporation (four of our national accounts). Using what are known as Leapfrog Group standards, this program aims to improve patient safety in hospitals by
giving consumers information to make more informed hospital choices. The Leapfrog Group is sponsored by the Business Roundtable, a national association
of Fortune 500 companies. The goals of our pilot program are to provide a web-based tool that allows easy access and review of the Leapfrog patient safety
data, on a hospital-by-hospital basis, for our employees and for employees of our key customers participating in the pilot.
We also encourage the prescription of formulary and generic drugs, instead of non-formulary equivalent drugs, through member and physician
interactions. In addition, through arrangements with our pharmacy benefit manager, AdvancePCS, we are able to obtain discounts and rebates on certain
medications through bulk purchasing.

We have integrated medical policies, which we derive from CMS and commercial and industry standard sources, into our claims processing systems.
This integration substantially enhances the quality and accuracy of our claims adjudication process.

Information Systems and Telecommunications Infrastructure
The development and enhancement of our information technology systems and integrated voice and data capabilities has been, and continues to be, a
key component of our strategy of operational excellence. We have spent significant time and resources enhancing the capabilities of our customer service
systems. We have consolidated multiple claims systems into two platforms and are in the process of migrating our national accounts claims, which have been
processed by National Accounts Service Company, LLC, or NASCO, a related party, into our other claims platform. In addition, we have implemented
innovative voice and data technologies that link most of our office locations, allowing us to broadcast and communicate in real-time to our employees’
desktops. These initiatives and innovations have allowed us to:

•

increase our “first pass rate” for physician claims from 71.6% in 1998 to 85.5% in the second half of 2003 and, for hospital claims, from 43.8%
in 1998 to 71.0% in the second half of 2003;

•

enable physicians to submit claims via the Internet and to receive claim payment determinations in real-time; and

•

improve the timeliness and ease of financial and other reporting.

We believe that our success in enhancing and consolidating our information systems provides us with a distinct competitive advantage that will allow us
to grow our business organically as well as through potential strategic acquisitions. We believe our experience in this area will allow the integration of other
information technologies and processes into our own in a timely and efficient manner.

Collaborations
In addition to developing technological and managerial capabilities internally, we also collaborate with third parties to develop new systems, technologies
and capabilities. These collaborations allow us to leverage the core strengths of third parties to create better quality of service for our customers as well as to
increase efficiencies of our internal systems and processes. We are currently involved in a major collaboration with the goal of substantially enhancing our
technological capabilities and cost efficiencies.

IBM. Through a technology alliance with IBM, we plan to continue to enhance our information systems and processes as well as to transition our
technology systems to new state-of-the-art platforms and technologies. A key component of our agreement with IBM is to acquire or develop new systems,
which are built on open architectures. Open architectures employ a common set of business rules, programming codes and processes which are developed
using the same standards so that new functionality can be quickly and efficiently built or integrated.
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The IBM agreement became effective in June 2002 and is for a term of ten years. Under the agreement, IBM is responsible for operating our data center,
a portion of our core applications development and technical help desk. In connection with these services, IBM has sublet our data center facility in Staten
Island, New York. In order to maintain the continuity, consistency and quality of our operations after these operations have transitioned to IBM, the agreement
includes mutually developed performance, quality and pricing benchmarks that must be maintained by IBM. We also have the flexibility to adjust our
requirements to respond to dynamic shifts in the industry, such as:

•

reductions in membership for a particular product;

•

customary advances in technology or improvements in the methods of delivering services which modify, reduce or eliminate our need for a
particular service from IBM; or

•

a substantial increase or reduction in our actual usage of a resource provided under the agreement.

Pursuant to the IBM agreement, we will work jointly with IBM to enhance and modernize our systems applications. Some of the systems application
software development will be done overseas from IBM’s offices in Bangalore, India or, in the event this facility becomes unavailable during the life of the
agreement, services will be provided from a replacement facility. These applications include technological enhancements based on the ongoing requirements of
our business and solutions developed based upon our specifications. We will own the software developed by IBM under the agreement, other than the claims
payment system.

We anticipate that the systems applications will be integrated with a new claims payment system being developed by deNovis, a privately-held, start-up
company, in coordination with IBM. The new claims payment system will be licensed to us when it is completed. The development of the system has been
delayed by deNovis and as a result we do not expect the system to be ready for acceptance by us in accordance with its specifications any earlier than the
second half of 2006 – an approximate two-year delay from the original July 2004 date we had agreed upon with IBM in June 2002. We do not believe this delay
will have any material impact on our operations because our existing claims payment system is adequate to meet our needs.

See “Item 1. – Business – Additional Factors that May Affect Future Results of Operations” for a discussion of various risks associated with out
agreement with IBM and “Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital
Resources – IBM Agreement” for a further discussion of our agreement with IBM.

Aware Dental. We have outsourced much of the management of our dental products to Aware Dental Services, LLC of Minnesota. Aware Dental
Services, a joint venture between De Care International and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota, provides dental development, management and
administrative services in connection with dentist networks. Under this arrangement, Aware Dental is responsible for customer service, underwriting and
pricing, provider contracting, claims processing and utilization management. We retain responsibility for membership and billing services, and we share joint
responsibility with respect to the marketing and sales of our products, information technology, product development and design and regulatory filings.
Provider Arrangements
We have the largest HMO and PPO provider networks of any health insurer or HMO in our New York service area. Our relationships with health care
providers, physicians, hospitals, other facilities and ancillary health care providers are guided by state and national standards established by regulatory
authorities for network development, service availability and contract methodologies.
In contrast to some health benefits companies, it is generally our philosophy not to delegate full financial responsibility for health services provided to
our members to our providers in the form of capitation-based reimbursement. As a result, the vast majority of our providers are reimbursed on a discounted
fee-for-service basis. Under these contracts, we aim to provide market-based reimbursement consistent with industry and market
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standards. We seek to ensure that providers in our networks are paid in a timely manner. We seek to maintain broad provider networks to ensure member
choice while implementing effective management programs designed to improve the quality of care received by our members. For some ancillary services, such
as behavioral health services, we have entered into capitation arrangements with entities that offer broad based services through their own contracts with
providers.
To build our provider networks, we compete with other health benefits plans for contracts with hospitals, physicians and other providers. We believe
that physicians and other providers primarily consider member volume, reimbursement rates, timeliness of reimbursement and administrative service
capabilities when deciding whether to contract with a health benefits plan.

Hospitals. We contract with our hospitals to reimburse them for services provided to our members on both a per diem and case rate basis and have
recently seen a trend toward case rate reimbursement. In contrast to per diem rates, case-rate reimbursement provides for the payment of a fixed fee to cover all
hospital services required to treat a particular condition or episode of illness. We have multi-year reimbursement arrangements with over 70% of the hospitals
in our New York network. These agreements are subject to early termination pursuant to notice periods generally ranging from 90 to 180 days.
The hospital industry in New York is well organized, with a significant amount of bargaining power. Our responsive reimbursement methodology,
revised cost and utilization management review process and our open channels of communication are key components of our relationship and credibility with
hospitals.

Physicians . Fee-for-service is our predominant reimbursement methodology for physicians. Our physician rate schedules applicable to services provided
by in-network physicians are pegged to a resource-based relative value system fee schedule and then adjusted for competitive pressures in the market. This
structure is similar to physician reimbursement methodologies developed and used by the federal Medicare system and other major payers.
With respect to Blue Cross and Blue Shield branded products in our New York service areas and counties that are contiguous to these areas, services
are provided to our members through our network providers with whom we contract directly. Members seeking medical treatment outside of these areas are
provided through the networks of the local Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield plan operating in that area through the BlueCard program. With respect to our New
Jersey operations, we contract directly with physicians in our New Jersey service area and provide members outside of New Jersey with coverage through a
third party national provider network.

Provider Portals. We utilize technology to deliver useful and practical information and services to our providers. Through the use of our physician
portal, which we introduced in 2001, our network practitioners are now able to submit their claims via the Internet and receive claim payment determinations
in real-time. In 2003, we introduced a hospital portal to our network hospitals enabling them to perform a variety of functions, including claim management,
member eligibility and benefit confirmations on-line.
Subcontracting . We subcontract for behavioral healthcare and pharmacy services through contracts with third parties. Behavioral health benefits are
provided through Magellan Behavioral Health, Inc. under a capitation-based contract which expires December 31, 2004. Under the agreement, Magellan
arranges services through its network of behavioral health care providers. Its care managers focus on access to appropriate providers and settings for
behavioral health care services. Our contract with Magellan is multi-year and capitation based. In addition, we have a five-year agreement with AdvancePCS
expiring December 31, 2005, pursuant to which AdvancePCS provides pharmacy benefit management services to our members. These services include
member services, retail pharmacy network contracting and management, claims processing, payment of claims to participating pharmacies and drug rebate
negotiations with manufacturers. We retain primary responsibility for formulary management and compliance, utilization management and pharmacy clinical
policies and programs.
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In addition, we have contracts with a number of other ancillary service providers, including laboratory service providers, home health agency providers
and intermediate and long-term care providers, to provide access to a wide range of services. These providers are normally paid on either a fee schedule, fixedper-day or per case basis.

Competition
The health insurance industry is highly competitive, both nationally and in New York and New Jersey. Competition has intensified in recent years due
to more aggressive marketing and pricing, a proliferation of new products and increased quality awareness and price sensitivity among customers.
Industry participants compete for customers based on the ability to provide value which we believe includes quality of service and flexibility of benefit
designs, access to and quality of provider networks, brand recognition and reputation, price and financial stability.

We believe that our competitive strengths, including the size and quality of our provider network, the broad range of our product offerings and our Blue
Cross Blue Shield license position us well to satisfy these competitive requirements.
Competitors in our markets include national health benefits companies and local and regional for-profit and not-for-profit health insurance and managed
care plans. Our markets for managed care products are generally more competitive than our markets for other products, including indemnity products. Our
largest competitors in the New York City metropolitan area include national health benefits companies, such as UnitedHealthcare, Aetna and HealthNet, and
regional local health insurers, such as Oxford Health Plans, Health Insurance Plan of Greater New York, which we refer to as HIP, and Group Health
Incorporated or GHI. We compete in upstate New York with other “Blue” plans, including HealthNow New York Inc., as well as other non-“Blue” plans, such
as Capital District Physicians Health Plan and MVP Health Plan. Our major competitors for national accounts customers include UnitedHealthcare, Cigna
and Aetna as well as other “Blue” plans. In New Jersey, we compete with several national health benefits companies and Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield.

Blue Cross Blue Shield License
We have the exclusive right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks for all of our health benefits products in all ten counties in the New
York City metropolitan area and in six counties in upstate New York and a non-exclusive right to use those names and marks in one upstate New York
county. In addition, we have an exclusive right to use only the Blue Cross names and marks in seven counties in our upstate New York service area and a
non-exclusive right to use only the Blue Cross names and marks in an additional four counties in upstate New York. We refer to these 28 counties in New
York as our Blue Cross Blue Shield licensed territory. We do not have any rights to use the Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield names and marks in New Jersey or
elsewhere to market our products and services. We believe that the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks are valuable identifiers of our products and
services in the marketplace. The license agreements, which have a perpetual term (but which are subject to termination under circumstances described below),
contain reserve requirements, discussed below under “Government Regulation—Capital and Reserve Requirements,” and other requirements and restrictions
regarding our operations and our use of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks.
Upon the occurrence of any event causing termination of the license agreements, we would cease to have the right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield
names and marks in the Blue Cross Blue Shield licensed territory. We also would no longer have access to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association networks
of providers and BlueCard program. We would expect to lose a significant portion of our membership if we lose these licenses. Loss of these licenses could
significantly harm our ability to compete in our markets and could require payment of significant monetary penalties to the Blue Cross Blue Shield
Association. Furthermore, the Blue Cross Blue
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Shield Association would be free to issue a license to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in the counties in New York in which we had
previously used the Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield name and mark to another entity, which would have a material adverse affect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Events which could result in termination of our license agreements include:

•

failure to maintain our total adjusted capital at 200% of authorized control level risk based capital, as defined by the NAIC risk based capital
(RBC) model act;

•

failure to maintain liquidity of greater than one month of underwritten claims and administrative expenses, as defined by the Blue Cross Blue
Shield Association, for two consecutive quarters;

•

failure to satisfy state-mandated statutory net worth requirements;

•

impending financial insolvency; and

•

a change of control not otherwise approved by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association or a violation of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association
ownership limitations on our capital stock.

The Blue Cross Blue Shield Association license agreements and membership standards specifically permit a licensee to operate as a for-profit, publicly
traded stock company, subject to governance and ownership requirements.

Pursuant to the rules and license standards of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, we guarantee our contractual and financial obligations to
respective customers. In addition, pursuant to the rules and license standards of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, we have agreed to indemnify the Blue
Cross Blue Shield Association against any claims asserted against it resulting from our contractual and financial obligations.
Each license requires an annual fee to be paid to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association. The fee is determined based on premiums earned from
products using the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks and from a per-contract charge for self-funded membership. During 2003, 2002, and 2001,
we paid fees to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association in the amount of $2.9 million, $3.2 million, and $3.4 million, respectively. The Blue Cross Blue
Shield Association is a national trade association of Blue Cross Blue Shield licensees, the primary function of which is to promote and preserve the integrity of
the Blue Cross Blue Shield names and marks, as well as to provide certain coordination among the member plans. Each Blue Cross Blue Shield licensee is an
independent legal organization and is not responsible for obligations of other Blue Cross Blue Shield Association member organizations. Subject to the
“ceding” rules discussed below, we have no right to market products and services using the Blue Cross Blue Shield names and marks outside our Blue Cross
Blue Shield licensed territory.

Ceding. The rules and license standards of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association set forth procedures with respect to the provision of insurance or
administrative services to national accounts with employees located in numerous jurisdictions. Blue Cross Blue Shield licensees may offer products on an
ASO basis to accounts with headquarters located outside of their licensed areas, provided the other Blue plan with a service area in which the customer is
headquartered “cedes” its right to the selling Blue Cross Blue Shield licensee. The duration of the ceding arrangement is determined by the two plans. At
December 31, 2003, approximately 38.2% (424,000 members) of our total national account membership, or approximately 8.9% of overall membership, was
attributable to ASO business ceded by other plans to us. Most of these ceding arrangements have a three-year term and are subject to renewal.

BlueCard. Under the rules and license standards of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, other Blue plans must provide health care to members
through the BlueCard program in a manner and scope as consistent as possible to what such member would be entitled to in his or her home region. The Blue
Cross Blue Shield Association requires us to pay administrative fees to any host Blue plan that provides these claims and other
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services to our members who receive care in their service area. Similarly, we are paid administrative fees for providing claims and other services to members of
other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans who receive care in our service area.

Claim Reserves
Medical benefits for claims occurring during any accounting period are paid upon receipt of claim and adjudication. We are required to estimate the
ultimate amount of claims which have not been reported, or which have been received but not yet adjudicated, during any accounting period. These estimates,
referred to as claim reserves, are recorded as liabilities on our balance sheet.

We estimate claim reserves in accordance with Actuarial Standards of Practice promulgated by the Actuarial Standards Board, the committee of the
American Academy of Actuaries that establishes the professional guidelines and standards for actuaries to follow. A degree of judgment is involved in
estimating reserves. We make assumptions regarding the propriety of using existing claims data as the basis for projecting future payments. Factors we
consider include medical cost trends, the mix of products and benefits sold, internal processing changes and the amount of time it took to pay all of the
benefits for claims from prior periods. Differences between actual experience and the assumptions made in establishing the claim reserves may lead to actual
costs of benefits provided to be greater or less than the estimated costs of benefits provided. The change in the claim reserve estimate during the accounting
period is reported as a change in medical expense.

Employees
At January 6, 2004, we employed approximately 5,400 employees in our offices in New York City, Albany, Middletown, Yorktown Heights, Melville,
Syracuse and Bohemia, New York, as well as Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, and several other smaller locations. Approximately 1,450 of our employees are
engaged in administration of our contracts with CMS, under which we act as a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare Part A program and a carrier for the
Medicare Part B program. Twenty-six employees in our internal sales division are subject to a collective bargaining agreement with the Office and Professional
Employees International Union. No other employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements. Overall, we believe that our relations with our employees
are good, and we have not experienced any work stoppages.
Government Regulation
The business operations of our subsidiary health insurance companies and health maintenance organizations are subject to comprehensive and detailed
state regulation in New York and New Jersey, as well as federal regulation. Supervisory agencies, including state health and insurance departments and, in
some instances, the state attorney general, have broad authority to:

•

grant, suspend and revoke licenses to transact business;

•

regulate many aspects of the products and services we offer;

•

assess fines, penalties and/or sanctions;

•

monitor our solvency and adequacy of our financial reserves; and

•

regulate our investment activities on the basis of quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria, within the parameters of a list of permitted
investments set forth in applicable insurance laws and regulations.

Our operations and accounts are subject to examination at regular intervals by these agencies. In addition, the federal and state governments continue to
consider and enact many legislative and regulatory proposals that have impacted, or would materially impact, various aspects of the health care system. Many
of these changes are described below. While certain of these measures could adversely affect us, at this time we cannot predict the extent of this impact.
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The federal government and the governments of the states in which we conduct our health care operations have adopted laws and regulations that govern
our business activities in various ways. These laws and regulations may restrict how we conduct our business and may result in additional burdens and costs
to us. Areas of governmental regulation include:

•

licensure;

•

policy forms, including plan design and disclosures;

•

premium rates and rating methodologies;

•

underwriting rules and procedures;

•

benefit mandates;

•

eligibility requirements;

•

geographic service areas;

•

market conduct;

•

utilization review;

•

payment of claims, including timeliness and accuracy of payment;

•

special rules in contracts to administer government programs;

•

transactions with affiliated entities;

•

limitations on the ability to pay dividends;

•

transactions resulting in a change of control;

•

member rights and responsibilities;

•

sales and marketing activities;

•

quality assurance procedures;

•

privacy of medical and other information and permitted disclosures;

•

rates of payment to providers of care;

•

surcharges on payments to providers;

•

provider contract forms;

•

delegation of financial risk and other financial arrangements in rates paid to providers of care;

•

agent licensing;

•

financial condition (including reserves);

•

corporate governance; and

•

permissible investments.

These laws and regulations are subject to amendments and changing interpretations in each jurisdiction. Failure to comply with existing or future laws
and regulations could materially and adversely affect our operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Company is also subject to federal and state laws, rules and regulations generally applicable to public corporations, including, but not limited to,
those governed by the Commission, the Internal Revenue Service and state corporate and taxation departments. The Company is also subject to the listing
standards of the New York
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Stock Exchange, or NYSE. The federal government, certain states and the NYSE and other self-regulatory organizations have recently passed or proposed
new laws, rules or regulations generally applicable to corporations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that affect or could affect the Company. These
changes will increase the company’s costs and complexity of doing business and may expose the Company to additional potential liability.

State Regulation
Generally. New York state laws and regulations contain requirements relating specifically to, among other things, Empire’s financial condition,
financial reserve requirements, premium rates, contract forms, utilization review procedures and rights to internal and external appeals, and the periodic filing
of reports with the New York Department of Insurance. Empire is also subject to periodic examination by the New York Department of Insurance. WellChoice
Insurance of New Jersey is a credit, life, accident and health insurance company licensed in New Jersey by the New Jersey Department of Banking and
Insurance to operate in its 16-county service area, and is subject to similar regulation and oversight under New Jersey insurance law.
Empire HealthChoice HMO has a certificate of authority issued by the Department of Health to operate as an HMO in its 28-county service area in New
York State. Applicable state statutes and regulations require Empire HealthChoice HMO to file periodic reports with the Department of Health and the
Department of Insurance and contain requirements relating to, among others, operations, premium rates and covered benefits, financial condition and
marketing practices. These state agencies, together or individually, also exercise oversight regarding our provider networks, medical care delivery and quality
assurance programs and reporting requirements, contract forms, including risk-sharing contracts, claims payment standards, compliance with benefit
mandates, utilization review standards, including internal and external appeals, and financial condition. Empire HealthChoice HMO is also subject to periodic
financial and market conduct examinations by the New York Department of Insurance and the New York Department of Health. In New Jersey, Empire
HealthChoice HMO (operating as WellChoice HMO of New Jersey) is licensed as an HMO in its 16-county service area, and is subject to similar oversight by
the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance and Department of Health and Senior Services.

Underwriting and Rating Limitations . Health insurers in New York, and health insurers and HMOs in New Jersey, are required to offer coverage on a
community rated, open enrollment basis to all small groups seeking coverage and may not utilize medical underwriting. HMOs in New York are also required
to offer coverage on a community rated, open enrollment basis to essentially all groups seeking coverage and may not utilize medical underwriting. None of
these may decline to accept individuals within a group based on health-related factors. All HMOs operating in New York are required to make coverage
available to individuals on a non-group basis, without underwriting and on a community rated basis, through two standard policies with broad,
comprehensive coverage. In addition, all HMOs in New York are required to offer a standard product called Healthy New York to individuals and certain
qualifying small groups. These requirements apply exclusively to HMOs, and not to health insurers. Insurers and HMOs in New Jersey may opt to
community rate small group business by class, so that rates may vary based on certain demographic factors, such as age and sex as well as location. In New
Jersey, we have secured an exemption from offering direct pay coverage by paying an assessment to the State, but we do issue the standardized small group
products required under New Jersey law.
New York insurers may experience-rate insurance coverage for large groups (over 50 employees) and may apply medical underwriting rules to large
groups, but the rates applicable to each member of the group cannot vary based on the individual’s medical condition. In New York, Empire HealthChoice
HMO must offer almost all coverage on a community rated basis, although we may distinguish between large groups, small groups and individuals for
purposes of establishing rates. Experience rating is permitted for our large group POS product. New Jersey insurers and HMOs may experience-rate insurance
and HMO coverage for large groups.

Insurers and HMOs cannot terminate coverage of an employer group based on the medical conditions existing within that group. In fact, they can cancel
business for groups or individuals for only a limited number of
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reasons, such as fraud and default in payment of premium. Insurers and HMOs cannot exclude coverage for a pre-existing condition of a new employee of an
existing employer group if that employee had previously satisfied a pre-existing condition waiting period with the prior insurer and if that person maintained
continuous coverage. These limitations mirror the federal requirements established by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or
HIPAA.

Initial rates and rating formulae for all new products in New York require the prior approval of the New York Department of Insurance. Initial rates for
all small group and individual products and large group HMO products in New Jersey require the prior approval of the New Jersey Department of Banking
and Insurance. In New Jersey, large group rates and rating methodologies for large group PPO products are not filed with the New Jersey Department of
Banking and Insurance. Instead, a differential test is filed on a triennial basis, which shows that the value of the in-network and out-of-network benefits
(including copayments and deductibles) cannot differ by more than 30% or, under certain circumstances, 40%.
Rate increases on experience-rated products in either state do not require prior approval, but in New York, must be consistent with the formula filed with
the New York Department of Insurance. Rate increases on community rated products in New York generally can be implemented on a file and use basis that
does not require the prior approval of the New York Department of Insurance. With respect to rate changes for community rated products, the New Jersey
Department of Banking and Insurance has 60 days from the date of receipt of a rate filing to disapprove the filing. Unless the filing is disapproved, the
insurer or HMO may use the form on the effective date specified within the filing.
As part of the plan of conversion, we agreed to several restrictions on premium rate increases relating to three categories of our individual members. A
discussion of these restrictions is described under “Item 1 – Business - The Plan of Conversion—The Legislation and the Plan.”

New York State Hospital Reimbursement . New York hospital rates are governed by the Health Care Reform Act, which was adopted in 1997. The
Health Care Reform Act eliminated New York’s former state rate-setting system and allows hospitals and health insurance companies to negotiate
reimbursement rates. The Act also provides certain funding streams for public goods, including graduate medical expenses and charity care. Graduate medical
education expenses are subsidized through a monthly per covered life assessment on insurers, HMOs and self-funded plans. As part of the 2003 New York
State budget legislation, this surcharge increased 5% effective January 1, 2004. Compensation for hospital bad debts and charity care and certain other
programs are funded by a surcharge on hospital services. We pay the surcharge directly to a State-run pool. As part of the 2003 New York State budget
legislation, this assessment was increased, effective July 1, 2003, from 8.18% to 8.85%.
Market Stabilization and Stop Loss Pools. The New York State Community Rating Law (the “Community Rating Law”) requires insurers and HMOs
writing small employer (groups with less than 50 eligible employees) and direct pay (individual) business to participate in certain market stabilization pools
(“Pools”). Under the Community Rating Law there are two major Pools: a pool for individual and small group contracts excluding Medicare Supplemental
contracts (“non-Med Supp Pool”) and a pool for Medicare Supplemental contracts (“Med Supp Pool”). Both Pools operate on a calendar year basis. These
Pools are described in greater detail under “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and
Capital Resources – Market Stabilization Pools.”
Other Legislation . During the past several years, New Jersey and New York have enacted significant legislation relating to managed care plans. These
recent acts have contained provisions relating to, among other things, consumer disclosure, utilization review, removal of providers from the network, appeals
processes for both providers and members, mandatory benefits and products, state funding pools, and provider contract requirements. New York and New
Jersey also passed legislation governing the prompt payment of claims that require, among other things, that health plans pay claims within certain prescribed
time periods or pay interest and fines. We have not incurred significant fines for prompt pay violations since those laws became effective.
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Other recently adopted state laws, which govern our business and significantly affect our operations include, among others:

•

A law in New York, which became effective on January 1, 2003, mandates that health insurance plans provide or expand coverage for certain
health care services. The law requires that plans provide coverage for primary and preventive obstetrical and gynecological care, more frequent
annual mammogram screenings, cervical cytology screenings, bone density testing and treatment, and contraceptive coverage. We previously
provided many of these benefits to our insured members.

•

A law passed in New Jersey in 2001 which allows members to sue their health insurance plan for injuries caused by negligence, including delay, in
making coverage decisions. Such litigation could be costly to us and could have a significant effect on our results of operations.

•

Legislation in New Jersey giving the State Attorney General the authority to regulate the process by which physicians may jointly negotiate with
health plans over fees and other contractual provisions which was passed into law in January 2002 and will expire in April 2008. The effectiveness
of the law is subject to the issuance of regulations by the Attorney General. We cannot predict the ultimate impact this law will have on our business
and results of operations in future periods.

Foreign Laws and Regulations . We may be subject to the laws of states other than those in which we are licensed with respect to persons we cover who
reside in those states. We may also be subject to scrutiny from regulatory agencies in those states. We do not believe the costs related to compliance with such
laws will have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Insurance and HMO Holding Company Laws
WellChoice is regulated as an insurance holding company system and is subject to the insurance holding company laws and regulations of New York
and New Jersey as well as similar provisions included in the New York Department of Health regulations. These laws and regulations generally require that
insurers or HMOs within an insurance holding company system register with the insurance or health department of each state where they are licensed to do
business and to file with those states reports describing capital structure, ownership, financial condition, certain intercompany transactions and general
business operations. In addition, various notice and reporting requirements generally apply to transactions between insurance companies or HMOs and their
affiliates within an insurance holding company system, depending on the size and nature of the transactions. These laws and regulations also require prior
regulatory approval by domestic regulators or prior notice of certain material intercompany transfers of assets as well as certain transactions between insurance
companies, HMOs, their parent holding companies or affiliates.
Additionally, the holding company laws and regulations of New York and New Jersey and the Department of Health regulations in New York restrict the
ability of any person to acquire control of an insurance company or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Applicable New York statutes and regulations
require the prior approval of the Commissioner of Health for any acquisition of control of Empire HealthChoice HMO, Empire or WellChoice, and the prior
approval of the Superintendent of Insurance for any acquisition of control of Empire or WellChoice. Similarly, New Jersey law requires the prior approval of
the Commissioner of Banking and Insurance for any acquisition of control of WellChoice, Empire, Empire HealthChoice HMO or WellChoice Insurance of
New Jersey. Under those statutes and regulations, without such approval (or an exemption), no person may acquire any voting security of a domestic
insurance company or HMO, or an insurance holding company that controls a domestic insurance company or HMO, or merge with such a holding
company, if as a result of such transaction such person would “control” a domestic insurance company or HMO. “Control” is generally defined by state
insurance laws as the direct or indirect power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person
directly or indirectly owns or controls 10% or more of the voting securities of another person.
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Dividend Restrictions
The amount of dividends paid by insurance companies and HMOs are limited by applicable state law and regulations in both New York and New
Jersey. Any proposed dividend to WellChoice from Empire, which, together with other dividends paid within the preceding twelve month period, exceeds the
lesser of 10% of its surplus to policyholders or 100% of adjusted net investment income will be subject to approval by the New York Department of Insurance.
The New Jersey dividend restriction differs slightly from New York’s in that any proposed dividend to Empire from WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey,
which, together with other dividends paid within the preceding twelve month period, exceeds the greater of 10% of its surplus to policyholders or net income
not including realized capital gains will be subject to approval by the Department of Banking and Insurance. Dividends from both Empire and WellChoice
Insurance of New Jersey must be paid from earned surplus. Dividends from Empire HealthChoice HMO to Empire in excess of 10% of the admitted assets of
Empire HealthChoice HMO will be subject to review and approval by the New York Department of Insurance, the New York Department of Health and the
New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance.

Capital and Reserve Requirements
Empire is subject to capital and surplus requirements under the New York insurance laws and the capital and surplus licensure requirement established
by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association. Each of these standards is based on the NAIC’s RBC Model Act. These capital and surplus requirements are
intended to assess the capital adequacy of life, accident and health insurers and HMOs, taking into account the risk characteristics of an insurer’s
investments and products. The RBC Model Act sets forth the formula for calculating the risk-based capital requirements, which are designed to take into
account insurance risks, interest rate risks and other relevant risks with respect to an individual insurance company’s business. In general, under these laws,
an insurance company must submit a report of its risk-based capital level to the insurance commissioner of its state of domicile as of the end of the previous
calendar year.
The RBC Model Act requires increasing degrees of regulatory oversight and intervention as an insurance company’s risk-based capital declines. The
level of regulatory oversight ranges from requiring the insurance company to inform and obtain approval from the domiciliary insurance commissioner of a
comprehensive financial plan for increasing its risk-based capital to mandatory regulatory intervention requiring an insurance company to be placed under
regulatory control, in a rehabilitation or liquidation proceeding. The RBC Model Act provides for four different levels of regulatory oversight depending on the
ratio of the company’s total adjusted capital (defined as the total of its statutory capital, surplus, asset valuation reserve and dividend liability) to its riskbased capital. The “company action level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 200%, but greater than or equal to 150%, of its riskbased capital. At the company action level, a company must submit a comprehensive plan to the regulatory authority which discusses proposed corrective
actions to improve its capital position. A company whose total adjusted capital is between 250% and 200% of its risk-based capital is subject to a trend test.
The trend test calculates the greater of any decrease in the margin ( i.e., the amount in dollars by which a company’s adjusted capital exceeds its risk-based
capital) between the current year and the prior year and between the current year and the average of the past three years, and assumes that the decrease could
occur again in the coming year. If a similar decrease in margin in the coming year would result in a risk-based capital ratio of less than 190%, then company
action level regulatory action will occur.
The “regulatory action level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 150% but greater than or equal to 100% of its risk-based
capital. At the regulatory action level, the regulatory authority will perform a special examination of the company and issue an order specifying corrective
actions that must be followed. The “authorized control level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 100% but greater than or equal to
70% of its risk-based capital, at which level the regulatory authority may take any action it deems necessary, including placing the company under regulatory
control. The “mandatory control level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 70% of its risk-based capital, at which level the regulatory
authority must place the company under its control. Empire currently exceeds the New York minimum risk-based capital level and meets the Blue Cross Blue
Shield Association risk-based capital level licensure requirement.
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Capital and surplus requirements for Empire HealthChoice HMO, Inc., our HMO subsidiary which is directly owned by Empire, are regulated under a
different method set forth in the New York Department of Health’s HMO regulations. The regulations require that Empire HealthChoice HMO currently
maintain reserves of five percent of its annual New York-based premium income. Empire HealthChoice HMO, with respect to its operations in New York,
meets the financial reserve standards of the New York Department of Health. The Department of Health is expected to publish regulations for adoption in the
first half of 2004 that will increase the required reserves gradually over the next six years to twelve and one half percent of annual premium income. If that
requirement changes it will affect all HMOs and we expect we will meet those revised standards. In November 2002, Empire HealthChoice HMO received a
$50.0 million capital contribution from Empire, which was made in connection with the transfer of our New York HMO business from Empire HealthChoice,
or HealthChoice, to Empire HealthChoice HMO during 2002 in order to ensure compliance with New York capital and surplus requirements. HealthChoice
was our parent company prior to our initial public offering in November 2002. Empire HealthChoice HMO is also licensed in New Jersey and there are
minimum net worth standards established under New Jersey laws and regulations. Empire HealthChoice HMO, with respect to its operations in New Jersey,
meets the minimum net worth standards established under New Jersey law. Empire HealthChoice HMO is also subject to the Blue Cross Blue Shield
Association capital and surplus licensure requirement which is applicable to Empire and satisfies that requirement.
Our New Jersey operations are not subject to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association capital and surplus licensure requirement. At December 31, 2003,
WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey met the minimum capital and surplus requirements of the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance.

Regulation of financial reserves for insurers and HMOs is a frequent topic of legislative and regulatory scrutiny and proposals for change. It is possible
that the method of measuring the adequacy of our financial reserves could change and that could affect our financial condition. However, any such change is
likely to affect all companies in the state.

Guaranty Fund Assessments
New York does not have an insolvency or guaranty association law under which health insurance companies such as Empire or Empire HealthChoice
HMO can be assessed for amounts paid by guaranty funds for member losses incurred when an insurance company or HMO becomes insolvent. New York
does have a law providing that providers of care may not bring collection or litigation actions against consumers for bills unpaid by an insolvent HMO.
However, under Blue Cross Blue Shield Association guidelines, Empire and Empire HealthChoice HMO are required to establish a mechanism which
ensures payment of certain claim liabilities and continuation of coverage in the event of insolvency. Empire and Empire HealthChoice HMO maintain a deposit
agreement with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association for out-of-area services to provide such assurance. The amount of the deposit is approximately 17% of
Empire’s and Empire HealthChoice HMO’s unpaid claim reserves for out-of-area services. At December 31, 2003, the market value and amortized cost of the
investment on deposit were $8.5 million and $8.4 million, respectively.
WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey participates in the New Jersey Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association, under which it may be required to
pay assessments to the State of New Jersey to provide funds to ensure that the liabilities arising under an impaired insurer’s policies or contracts are paid when
due. The assessments are due only in the event another carrier is impaired. Since its inception, WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey has not been assessed any
payments.
Empire HealthChoice HMO is subject to a New Jersey law that requires New Jersey HMOs to contribute over a three-year period to a fund established to
meet unpaid contractual obligations of insolvent New Jersey HMOs. To date, Empire HealthChoice HMO has paid assessments of approximately $190,000 as
required under this law.
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Codification of NAIC Standards
The NAIC adopted the Codification of Statutory Principles, or the Codification, in March 1998. The effective date for the statutory accounting
guidance was January 1, 2001. Our domiciliary states have adopted the Codification with certain modifications, and we have made the necessary changes in
our statutory accounting and reporting required for implementation. The overall impact of applying the new standards in 2001 resulted in an aggregate
reduction in HealthChoice’s statutory surplus of $8.6 million. In 2002, New York State passed legislation modifying the adopted Codification which
permitted us to recognize certain deferred tax assets. The effect of this legislation resulted in an aggregate increase in Empire’s statutory surplus of $17.6
million as of January 1, 2002. Effective January 1, 2003, certain pharmacy rebates receivable were no longer admissible under New York regulations and as a
result, Empire’s statutory surplus decreased by $18.8 million.

Federal Regulation
ERISA. The provision of services to certain employee health benefit plans is subject to ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to
interpretation and enforcement by the federal Department of Labor. ERISA regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who
maintain employee benefit plans subject to ERISA. Some of our administrative services and other activities may also be subject to regulation under ERISA. Of
particular application are the regulations recently adopted by the Department of Labor that revise claims procedures for employee benefit plans governed by
ERISA (insured and self-funded), effective for claims filed on or after July 1, 2002. Given that the state insurance laws in New York and New Jersey, as well
as many other states, already contain stringent claim appeal process requirements, the rules have not significantly impacted our operations. However, we
cannot predict the ultimate impact on its business and results of operations in future periods.
HIPAA. HIPAA required the adoption of regulations accomplishing three things:
•

ensuring the privacy of personally identifiable health information;

•

ensuring the security of personally identifiable health information; and

•

standardizing the way certain health care transactions such as claims are handled when they are conducted electronically, and establishing national
identifiers for providers, health plans and employers.

The federal Department of Health and Human Services adopted final rules on these topics. The HIPAA privacy rules require health plans, clearinghouses and
providers to:

•

comply with a variety of requirements concerning their use and disclosure of individuals’ protected health information;

•

establish rigorous internal procedures to protect health information;

•

enter into business associate contracts with those companies to whom protected health information is disclosed; and

•

establish procedures to allow individuals to access and amend records maintained by Empire, receive an accounting of certain disclosures, and to
establish grievance processes for individuals to make inquiries or complaints regarding the privacy of their records.

We have been in compliance with these privacy requirements since their April 14, 2003 effective date.

In accordance with the final rules standardizing electronic transactions between health plans, providers and clearinghouses, those parties are required to
conform their electronic and data processing systems with HIPAA’s electronic transaction requirements. The compliance date for these rules was delayed until
October 2003 for those plans, including the Company, that filed an extension request by October 2002. Our electronic and data processing systems were fully
capable of conducting all electronic transactions in compliance with the rules by
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the compliance date. However, to address the fact that a significant number of parties, including health care providers, were not ready to conduct transactions
in a HIPAA-compliant format by October 2003, CMS asked commercial health plans like us to adopt a contingency plan to allow our trading partners to
continue to use a non-compliant format for a limited period of time to help ensure a smooth transition. We have cooperated with this request. By the end of this
transition period, which will be determined by CMS, all electronic transactions will be conducted in compliance with these rules. States may adopt more
stringent requirements for health care information privacy and security than the standards set by HIPAA.

The final security standards became effective on February 20, 2003. We must comply with the security standards by April 21, 2005. They require
covered entities to implement a variety of security measures to protect electronic protected health information and include security standards and
implementation specifications grouped under one of three categories: administrative, physical and technical safeguards. While we currently have adequate
safeguards in place to protect health information, we are developing additional processes to enable us to implement security measures to comply with the rules.
We expect to be fully compliant by April 21, 2005.
In addition, provisions of the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act generally require insurers to protect the privacy of consumers’ and customers’ non-public
personal information and authorize state regulators to enact and enforce privacy standards that meet at least the federal minimum requirements. Like HIPAA,
this law sets a “floor” standard, allowing states to adopt more stringent requirements governing privacy protection. In compliance with the Gramm-LeachBliley Act, the New York State Department of Insurance issued privacy and security regulations affording New York consumers and customers privacy
protections and notice rights. New Jersey already had laws regulating the collection, use and disclosure of information that met or exceeded the Gramm-LeachBliley Act requirements, and therefore the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance stated that compliance with state law by insurers transacting
business in New Jersey is deemed to be compliance with the requirements of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act also gives banks and
other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in the insurance and health benefits fields.
Our external costs for HIPAA compliance through 2003 were $6.3 million, inclusive of the $2.2 million spent in 2003. In early 2004, final rules were
adopted under HIPAA that mandate the use of standard national provider identifiers as the standard unique health identifier for health care providers to be used
in filing and processing health care claims and other transactions by May 2007. We cannot predict the ultimate impact HIPAA will have on our business and
results of operations in future periods.

Medicare
Empire HealthChoice HMO operates a Medicare+Choice plan pursuant to a contract with CMS under the federal Department of Health and Human
Services, and that contract is subject to applicable federal laws and regulations. Our Medicare+Choice members receive their Medicare benefits from our HMO
rather than directly from the federal government under the standard Medicare Part A and Part B programs. CMS has the right to audit health plans operating
under Medicare contracts to determine their compliance with CMS’s contracts and regulations and the quality of care being rendered to the health plan’s
Medicare members. The contract to participate in the Medicare+Choice program could, under certain circumstances, be terminated by the federal government

or by us.
In 1997, the federal government passed legislation related to Medicare+Choice that, among other things, provided for a minimum annual premium rate
increase of two percent. The legislation also required us to pay a user fee to reimburse CMS for costs incurred to disseminate enrollment information. The
federal government also announced in 1999 that it planned to begin to phase in risk adjustments to its premium payments that will occur over several years.
Congress subsequently lengthened this timetable to allow the risk-adjusted mechanism to be fully implemented by 2007. These changes have had the effect of
reducing reimbursement to us in our New York service areas, forcing us to adjust the Medicare+Choice package of covered benefits. These changes have
decreased the attractiveness of the product to consumers.
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In December 2003, the President signed into law the Medicare Prescription Improvement and Modernization Act, or MMA, which alters the
Medicare+Choice program. Under the MMA, Medicare+Choice plans will receive increased funding in 2004 and 2005 from CMS, which must be used for
limited purposes such as to increase benefits or decrease premiums. We recently filed a plan with CMS to use the additional funding to reduce or eliminate
additional premiums we receive from Medicare + Choice members in those parts of our service area where the additional premiums apply and to increase
benefits in other regions. The plan is subject to approval by CMS.

The MMA also amends the entire Medicare+Choice program, which starting in 2006 will be known as the Medicare Advantage program and will
include HMOs, regional PPOs that cover entire regions, health savings accounts, or HSAs, and other plans. Payment under this program will be based on the
submission of bids by plans who wish to participate in the program.
A major component of the MMA is the creation of a Medicare Part D program providing beneficiaries with coverage for outpatient prescription drugs
beginning January 1, 2006. Beginning in 2006, all Medicare beneficiaries will have the option of choosing prescription drug coverage as a stand-alone benefit
or by joining a Medicare Advantage HMO, regional PPO, HSA or other permitted health plan. Medicare Advantage HMOs and PPOs will be required to offer
an out-patient prescription benefit to Medicare beneficiaries as either a standard benefit or through an approved alternative coverage with actuarially equivalent
benefits.

The MMA also provides for an interim voluntary prescription drug card beginning in May 2004 through 2005 that will provide enrollees, in exchange
for a small enrollment fee, with access to negotiated discounts for prescription drugs. Low income beneficiaries will not have to pay the annual fee and will
receive an annual credit of $600 as federal assistance that may be applied to drug benefit copayments and deductibles with the balance available to pay for
uncovered drugs or drug costs that exceed a plan’s benefit cap. We will not sponsor a prescription drug card, but intend to co-brand a prescription drug card
with our pharmacy benefit management vendor
MMA also provides for tax-advantaged Health Savings Accounts (HSAs), effective January 1, 2004, to help eligible individuals with high-deductible
health insurance plans pay for qualified medical expenses. HSA contributions are permitted up to the applicable plan deductibles, with a cap of $2,600 for
individuals and $5,150 for families. HSAs may be offered by employers of all sizes and both the employer and employee can contribute. Employer
contributions will not be counted as income and individual contributions will be tax-deductible. HSA balances may be rolled over and accumulated from year
to year.
We also serve as a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare Part A program and a carrier for the Medicare Part B program. Fiscal intermediaries and carriers
for these programs act as agents under contract to the federal government to process and pay claims for one or more designated regions of the United States
under the Medicare Part A program for hospital care and the Medicare Part B program for physician and other care. Our contracts with the federal government
are cost-based which means we receive reimbursement for certain costs and expenditures from the federal government, which is subject to adjustment upon
audit by CMS. The laws and regulations governing fiscal intermediaries and carriers for the Medicare program are complex and subject to interpretation and
can expose an intermediary to penalties for non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries and carriers may be subject to criminal fines, civil penalties or other
sanctions as a result of such audits or reviews. While we believe we are currently in compliance in all material respects with the regulations governing fiscal
intermediaries and carriers, there are ongoing reviews by the federal government of our activities under our Medicare fiscal intermediary and carrier contracts.
The contracts could, under certain circumstances, be terminated either by the federal government or by us.

The Medicare program is annually the subject of legislation in Congress and we cannot predict what additional rules and requirements may be enacted
that will impact our business.
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Other Government Programs
New York State mandates and/or sponsors several health benefit products for persons who might otherwise be uninsured or require assistance in paying
premiums. These include the Child Health Plus, Healthy New York and other state-mandated direct pay products. All HMOs are mandated by law to
participate in the Healthy New York and other state-mandated direct pay products and Empire HealthChoice HMO participates in all of these programs. The
Child Health Plus program has extensive rules regarding participation and the contract to participate could, under certain circumstances, be terminated by the
State government or by us. In New Jersey, insurers are required to offer certain standard products in the small group market. We have obtained an exemption
from the requirement that we offer direct pay (non-group) coverage in New Jersey by virtue of an assessment paid to the State.
In addition, we participate in the Federal Employee Health Benefits Program (FEP) through a contract with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association.
Currently, other FEP contractors are required to comply with federal Cost Accounting Standards. The Blue Cross Blue Shield Association has a waiver from
compliance with these standards which must be renewed annually. Failure to renew this waiver could adversely impact this program, and could result in the
Blue Cross Blue Shield Association’s withdrawal from the program, although regulations are currently being drafted that could make the waiver permanent.

Legislative and Regulatory Initiatives
There has been a continuing trend of increased health care regulation at both the federal and state levels. The federal government and many states,
including New York and New Jersey, are considering additional legislation and regulations related to health care plans, including, among other things:

•

requiring coverage of experimental procedures and drugs and liberalized definitions of medical necessity;

•

limiting utilization review and cost management and cost control initiatives of our managed care subsidiaries;

•

requiring, at the New York State level, that mental health benefits be treated the same as medical benefits in addition to the existing federal law that
imposes requirements relating to parity of mental health benefits;

•

exempting physicians from the antitrust laws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal restraints on competition;

•

regulating premium rates, including prior approval of rate changes by regulatory authorities;

•

changing the government programs for the uninsured or those who need assistance in paying premiums, including potential mandates that all
HMOs or insurers must participate;

•

implementing a state-run single payer system that would partially or largely obviate the current role of private health insurers or HMOs; and

•

restricting or eliminating the use of formularies for prescription drugs.

In 2003, Congress considered, but did not adopt, legislation authorizing association health plans or AHPs to offer health insurance coverage to small
groups without state oversight. Specifically, AHPs would be exempt from state insurance laws and subject to minimal federal rules and oversight. State
regulated health plans would remain subject to state rules and oversight, thus requiring them to compete with largely unregulated entities for business. In his
State of the Union address in January 2004, the President again proposed adoption of legislation authorizing AHPs.
The proposed regulatory and legislative changes described above, if enacted, could increase health care costs and administrative expenses, reduce
Medicare reimbursement rates and otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot predict whether any of the
proposed legislation will be enacted.
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The Plan Of Conversion

Background
On September 26, 1996, HealthChoice announced its intention to restructure to a for-profit company, based on significant changes in both the
regulatory environment and the marketplace affecting the health insurance industry.

In July 1999, HealthChoice filed a proposed plan of restructuring with the New York Department of Insurance, which was revised in November 1999
following public hearings. On December 29, 1999, the Superintendent of Insurance approved the plan with some modification. This plan was never
implemented.

The Legislation and the Plan
In January 2002, the Governor of the State of New York signed into law Chapter One of the New York Laws of 2002, which we refer to as the
Conversion Legislation, providing an express statutory basis for HealthChoice’s right to convert to a for-profit company. Prior to our initial public offering,
HealthChoice was our parent company. The Conversion Legislation, specifically Section 4301(j) and Section 7317 of the New York Insurance Law, clarified
the statutory authority for the Superintendent of Insurance’s review and approval of a conversion plan. Accordingly, on June 18, 2002, HealthChoice filed an
amended plan of conversion seeking the Superintendent’s approval to convert under the terms of the Conversion Legislation. HealthChoice also requested and
obtained approvals from the Superintendent and, where necessary, from the New York Commissioner of Health, the New Jersey Department of Banking and
Insurance, CMS and the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association for certain transactions related to the plan of conversion. On August 6 and 7, 2002, public
hearings took place in New York City and Albany, respectively, with respect to the plan of conversion. HealthChoice further amended and refiled the plan of
conversion on September 26, 2002 in response to various issues raised at the public hearings. On October 8, 2002, the Superintendent issued an Opinion and
Decision approving the plan of conversion and concluding that the conversion is in compliance with the Conversion Legislation and does not violate any
applicable laws or regulations. The approval and conclusions were subject to several conditions, including the approval by the Superintendent, the
Commissioner and CMS of certain of the agreements that we entered into in connection with the conversion, all of which were satisfied.

The plan of conversion, as required by the Conversion Legislation, provided for:

•

safeguards to ensure consumers’ continued or increased access to coverage and consumer outreach;

•

the method for the transfer of contract forms to ensure that current members were not adversely affected by the conversion and had uninterrupted
coverage;

•

the conversion of HealthChoice from a not-for-profit corporation into a for-profit corporation; and

•

the procedures which we were required to take in completing our conversion, including the series of transactions that resulted in The New York
Public Asset Fund, or the Fund, and The New York Charitable Asset Foundation, or the Foundation, initially owning all of our shares. The Fund
and the Foundation were established by New York State under the Conversion Legislation to receive the value of HealthChoice as part of
HealthChoice’s conversion to a for-profit company.

As contemplated by the plan, following HealthChoice’s conversion into a for-profit corporation and prior to the effectiveness of our initial public
offering, the converted HealthChoice transferred 95% and 5% of its capital stock to the Fund and the Foundation, respectively. The Fund and the Foundation
then transferred their shares in the converted HealthChoice to WellChoice Holdings of New York, Inc., or Holdings, a then newly formed wholly owned, forprofit subsidiary and the parent company of our principal insurance operating subsidiaries, in exchange for a corresponding amount of our common stock.
Consequently, immediately prior to the completion of the offering, WellChoice was 95% owned by the Fund and 5% owned by the Foundation. As part of
these transactions, the converted HealthChoice merged with Empire HealthChoice Assurance, Inc., HealthChoice’s

28

Table of Contents

indirect, wholly owned subsidiary and existing for-profit insurer, with HealthChoice surviving as “Empire HealthChoice Assurance, Inc.” That entity then
transferred its administrative and managerial functions to us. In connection with the transactions described in this paragraph, the Fund obtained an exemption
from acquisition of control requirements from the Superintendent and the Commissioner in order to hold 10% or more of the outstanding shares of our
common stock.
As a result of these transactions, WellChoice became an insurance holding company with Holdings owning our insurance operating subsidiaries. As
required by the Conversion Legislation, immediately following the conversion, 95% of the fair market value of HealthChoice, by virtue of the proceeds from
their respective sale of shares and the ownership of their remaining initial shares of WellChoice, was held by the Fund and 5% by the Foundation.
In connection with the conversion, HealthChoice transferred and assigned, and WellChoice received and assumed, certain assets and liabilities,
including leases and contracts associated with the provision of administrative and management services to our insurance/HMO subsidiaries.
WellChoice was incorporated in Delaware in August 2002. Prior to the completion of the conversion and our initial public offering, WellChoice did not
engage in any operations.

As part of the plan of conversion, we agreed to several restrictions on premium rate increases relating to three categories of our individual members. The
first category is a small group of members who currently are covered under a comprehensive individual indemnity policy that is no longer sold by us. This
group of members is eligible for Medicare by reason of disability and would not be eligible to purchase comparable coverage if their policies were terminated.
Current law applicable to us and the Conversion Legislation prohibits us from discontinuing these policies. There are fewer than 300 individuals covered
under these policies and new enrollment is prohibited. We agreed in the plan of conversion that we will not discontinue these policies and that we will not
increase rates on these policies by more than 10% (or such lesser amount as may be required if the current statute is amended to provide a lower maximum for
“file and use” rates) in any 12-month period without the Superintendent’s prior approval, which may only be granted following a public hearing.

The second category relates to members covered by our individual Medicare supplemental policies and the third category relates to our individual direct
pay voluntary indemnity policies. Currently, we offer three standard Medicare supplemental packages, A, B and H, and approximately 108,000 individuals
are covered under these policies and approximately 18,000 members are covered under our individual direct pay voluntary indemnity policies. We agreed that,
with respect to the premium rates applicable to our individual Medicare supplemental policies and our individual direct pay voluntary indemnity policies, we
will comply with certain provisions of the New York Insurance Law in effect on December 31, 1999 relating to premium rate increases for persons covered
under policies issued by Article 43 (not-for-profit) insurers for a period of five years and three years, respectively, following the effective date of the conversion.
Specifically, for rate increases applicable to individual Medicare supplemental policies and individual direct pay voluntary indemnity policies during the fiveyear and three-year periods, respectively:

•

we may utilize the “file and use” rate methodology (filed rates will be deemed approved 30 days after submission) for rate increases of up to 10%
annually, or such lower amount as may be required if the current statute is amended to provide a lower maximum for file and use rates (provided
that the policies do not have a medical loss ratio less than a minimum of 80%); and

•

the Superintendent’s prior approval following a public hearing will be required for increases that exceed 10% annually.

In addition, we agreed that with respect to our Medicare supplemental policies, rate increases during the sixth, seventh and eighth years following
November 7, 2002, the effective date of the conversion, may be implemented upon filing under the “file and use” methodology, provided we have a medical
loss ratio of at least 80% (the ratio otherwise applicable to not-for-profit insurers), in contrast to the 75% minimum that is applicable
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to Medicare supplemental policies issued by for-profit health insurers. During this period, any application for Medicare Supplemental policy rate increases
with a medical loss ratio below 80% will require the prior approval of the Superintendent following a public hearing. At the end of the eighth year following the
effective date of the conversion, the premium rates for these policies will be subject to the rules applicable to all other for-profit health insurers.

Additional Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations
Our inability to address health care costs and implement increases in premium rates could negatively affect our profitability.
Our profitability depends in large part on accurately predicting health care costs and on our ability to manage future health care costs through
underwriting criteria, quality initiatives and medical management, product design and negotiation of favorable provider reimbursement rates. The following
includes factors that are beyond our control and may adversely affect our ability to predict and manage health care costs:
higher than expected utilization of services;

•

changes in healthcare practices;

•

an increase in the number of high-cost cases;

•

•

changes in the population or demographic characteristics of
members served, including aging of the population;

cost of prescription drugs and direct to consumer marketing by
pharmaceutical companies;

•

•

an unexpected increase in provider reimbursement rates due to
unfavorable rate negotiations

the introduction of new medical technology and
pharmaceuticals, and

•

•

medical cost inflation;

the enactment of legislation that requires us to expand the
delivery of required benefits.

•

In addition to the challenge of managing health care costs, we face pressure to contain prices for our products. Our customer contracts may be subject to
renegotiations as customers seek to contain their costs. Alternatively, our customers may move to a competitor to obtain more favorable prices. A limitation on
our ability to increase or maintain our prices could result in reduced revenues and earnings which could have an adverse impact on the trading prices of our
common stock and the value of your investment.

A reduction in enrollment in our products could affect our business and profitability.
A reduction in the number of members in our products could reduce our revenues and profitability. Factors that could contribute to a reduction in
membership include:

•

failure to obtain new customers or retain existing customers;

•

premium increases and benefit changes;

•

failure to successfully implement our growth strategy;

•

failure to provide innovative products that meet the needs of our customers or potential customers;

•

our exit from a specific market;

•

reductions in workforce by existing customers;

•

negative publicity and news coverage; and

•

a general economic downturn that results in business failures.
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Regional concentration of our business may subject us to economic downturns in New York State and, in particular, the New York City
metropolitan area.
We operate in 28 counties in New York State and substantially all of our revenue is derived from group accounts that have an office in our service areas
in New York State or from individual members who reside in the state. This concentration of business in New York exposes us to potential losses resulting
from a downturn in the economy of New York State and, in particular, New York City. The events of September 11, 2001 and the economic recession have
had a negative economic impact on business in New York City as well as New York State. In addition, a nationwide economic downturn could have an
adverse impact on our national accounts business. If economic conditions continue to deteriorate, we may experience a reduction in existing and new business,
which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, as a high profile, diverse and highly populated city, New York City could be the target of future terrorist attacks, including bioterrorism
and other public health threats, which could significantly increase the risks of our business, such as the risk of significant increases in costs of benefits
provided following such an event. For example, a bioterrorism attack could cause increased utilization of healthcare services, including physician and hospital
services, high-cost prescription drugs and other services.

Significant competition from other health care companies could negatively affect our ability to maintain or increase our profitability.
Our business operates in a highly competitive environment, both in the states of New York and New Jersey as well as nationally. Competition in our
industry has intensified in recent years, due to more aggressive marketing and pricing practices by other health care organizations, a customer base which
focuses on quality while still being price-sensitive and the introduction of new products for which health insurance companies must compete for members.
This environment has produced, and will likely continue to produce, significant pressures on the profitability of health insurance companies. Concentration
in our industry also has created an increasingly competitive environment, both for customers and for potential acquisition targets, which may make it difficult
for us to grow our business. Some of our competitors are larger and have greater financial and other resources than we do. We may have difficulty competing
with larger health insurance companies, which can create downward price pressures on provider rates through economies of scale. We may not be able to
compete successfully against current and future competitors. In addition, in recent years, the nature and means by which participants in the health care and
health insurance industries market products and deliver services have changed rapidly. We believe this trend will continue, requiring us to continue to respond
to new and, possibly, unanticipated competitive developments. Competitive pressures faced by us may adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Medicare premiums may not keep up with the cost of health care services we provide under our Medicare+Choice product.
We offer a Medicare+Choice product through our New York HMO operations. Under the Medicare+Choice program, Medicare beneficiaries have the
option of receiving their care through an HMO instead of the traditional Medicare fee-for-service program. At December 31, 2003, we had approximately 50,000
members enrolled in Medicare+Choice, or 1.1% of our commercial managed care membership, which accounted for 11.1% of our commercial managed care
premium revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003.

In connection with this product, we receive a fixed per member per month, or PMPM, capitation payment from CMS, the federal agency that
administers the Medicare program. In some counties in which we offer the Medicare+Choice program, we receive additional premiums from our members. We
bear the risk that the actual cost of covered health services may exceed the amount we receive from CMS and our members. This can happen if the utilization
of health care services increases at a faster rate than we expect or if our hospitals and providers demand larger increases than we anticipated. If the costs of
health care exceed the amount we receive from CMS, we may be required to increase supplemental premiums or decrease the level of benefits offered. These
changes
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may make our product less attractive to Medicare beneficiaries and, as a result, our Medicare+Choice membership could decrease. Our membership could also
decrease as a result of our departure from certain counties that we currently serve.
The recently enacted Medicare Prescription Improvement and Modernization Act, or MMA, also amends the entire Medicare+Choice program. Under the
MMA, Medicare+Choice plans will receive increased funding in 2004 and 2005 from CMS, which must be used for limited purposes such as to increase
benefits or decrease premiums. The increased funding may result in new entrants offering this product as well as other companies expanding their service
areas for this product offering. Under the MMA, starting in 2006, the program will be known as the Medicare Advantage program and will include HMOs,
regional PPOs that cover entire regions, health savings accounts, or HSAs, and other plans. Payment under this program will be based on the submission of
bids. The bidding process could result in reduced levels of payment from CMS under the Medicare Advantage HMO program. In addition, we do not operate
statewide in New York and accordingly may not be able to compete successfully against other statewide PPOs in the Medicare Advantage program once
competitive bidding is initiated in 2006. We may not otherwise be successful in our ability to retain our Medicare+Choice HMO business or to secure
additional business in the Medicare Advantage program.

As a Medicare fiscal intermediary, we are subject to complex regulations. If we fail to comply with these regulations, we may be exposed to
criminal sanctions and significant civil penalties.
Empire is a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare Part A program and a carrier for the Medicare Part B program, which provide hospital and physician
coverage to persons 65 years or older. As a fiscal intermediary, we serve as an administrative agent for the traditional Medicare fee-for-service program and
receive reimbursement for certain costs and expenditures, which are subject to adjustment upon audit by CMS. The laws and regulations governing fiscal
intermediaries for the Medicare program are complex, subject to interpretation and can expose a fiscal intermediary to penalties for non-compliance. Fiscal
intermediaries may be subject to criminal fines, civil penalties or other sanctions as a result of such audits or reviews. However, there can be no assurance that
our compliance program will be adequate or that regulatory changes or other developments which occur in the future will not result in infractions of the CMS
requirements.

We are dependent on the success of our relationship with IBM for a significant portion of our information system resources.
In June 2002, we entered into an agreement with International Business Machines Corporation, or IBM, pursuant to which IBM undertook to assist us
in enhancing and modernizing our information systems. In addition, under this agreement, we have outsourced a portion of our core applications development
and our data center operations to IBM for a period of ten years. Also under this agreement, IBM, through a strategic relationship with deNovis, Inc., a claims
payment systems developer, has agreed to develop a new claims payment system which will be licensed to us in perpetuity. deNovis, Inc. is a privately held
start-up company. We will materially rely on these developments and improvements of our core technology operations on a going-forward basis. Strategic
relationships such as the one we have with IBM can be difficult to implement and maintain, and may not succeed for various reasons including:

•

changes in strategic direction by one or both companies;

•

technical obstacles to developing the technologies;

•

the insolvency, merger or change of control of one of the parties;

•

difficulties in coordinating joint development efforts;

•

difficulties in structuring and maintaining revenue sharing arrangements; and

•

operating differences between the companies and their respective employees.
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As a start-up company, deNovis lacks a steady operating history and has incurred net losses and negative cash flow since its inception in 1999. We are
aware that deNovis has had several changes in management since the inception of our contract with IBM and has failed to meet key developmental goals with a
third party relating to a claims payment system, which has been expected to serve as the base point for the development of our claims payment system. As a
result, IBM has failed to meet key development milestones under the project plan it has with us for the development of our claims payment system. IBM has
recently informed us that the system under development by deNovis is not expected to be ready for acceptance by us in accordance with its specifications any
earlier than the fall of 2006. IBM may be unable to develop our claims engine in accordance with our contract or at all, in which event we would likely
continue to use our existing claims payment system, but would need to invest significant funds to update that system over the mid- to long-term or otherwise
transition to another claims payment system.
If our relationship with IBM is terminated for any reason or if we are unable to successfully develop and implement the technological improvements and
innovations contemplated by the agreement with IBM, we may not be able to find an alternative partner in a timely manner or on acceptable financial terms
with whom we will be able to pursue our strategy. As a result, we may not be able to meet the demands of our customers and, in turn, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be harmed.

In addition, we intend to fund the modernization expenses incurred in connection with this collaboration with IBM in part through the cost savings we
expect to realize as a result of the outsourcing of this project to IBM. Any substantial increase in these expenses, or inability to achieve our anticipated cost
savings, could have an adverse effect on our profitability, financial condition and results of operations. We do not expect to realize significant cost savings
from these improvements in the early years of the project. If we are unsuccessful in implementing these improvements or if these improvements do not meet our
customers’ requirements, we may not be able to recoup these costs and expenses and effectively compete in our industry.

Some of the risks associated with the collaboration with IBM are anticipated and covered through termination rights clauses and indemnification clauses
included under our outsourcing agreement. Nevertheless, we may not be adequately indemnified against all possible losses through the terms and conditions of
the agreement. In addition, some of our termination rights are contingent upon payment of a fee, which may be significant.

A substantial legal liability or a significant regulatory action against us could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
We are, and may in the future be, a party to a variety of legal actions that affect any business, such as employment and employment discriminationrelated suits, employee benefit claims, breach of contract actions, tort claims and intellectual property related litigation. In addition, because of the nature of
our business, we are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory actions relating to our business operations or to our industry, including the design,
management and offering of our products and services.
Recent court decisions and legislative activity may increase our exposure for litigation claims. In some cases, substantial non-economic, treble or
punitive damages may be sought. The loss of even one claim, if it resulted in a significant punitive damages award, could significantly worsen our financial
condition or results of operations. This risk of potential liability may make reasonable settlements of claims more difficult to obtain.

We currently have insurance coverage for some of these potential liabilities. Other potential liabilities may not be recovered by insurance, insurers may
dispute coverage or the amount of insurance may not be enough to cover the damages awarded. In addition, certain types of damages, such as punitive
damages, may not be covered by insurance and insurance coverage for all or certain forms of liability may become unavailable or prohibitively expensive in
the future.
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In September 1999, a group of plaintiffs’ trial lawyers publicly announced that they were targeting the managed care industry by way of class action
litigation. Since that time, two actions, one purporting to be a class action on behalf of providers and the other brought by the Medical Society of the State of
New York, have been commenced against us generally challenging managed care practices, including cost containment mechanisms, disclosure obligations
and payment methodologies. In August 2003, a similar nation-wide federal putative class action was brought against Empire, the Blue Cross Blue Shield
Association and virtually every Blues plan in the country, on behalf of all medical doctors and doctors of osteopathy. This action, known as the Thomas
litigation, like the two pending state actions, generally challenges managed care practices, including cost containment mechanisms, disclosure obligations and
payment methodologies. In October 2003, a substantially similar federal putative class action was brought against Empire, the Blue Cross Blue Shield
Association and virtually every Blues plan in the country, on behalf of ancillary providers, such as podiatrists, psychologists, chiropractors, physical
therapists, optometrists, opticians, social workers, nurse practitioners and acupuncturists. Again, like Thomas, this action, known as the Solomon
litigation, raises similar allegations, except for the added allegation that we subject claims submitted by ancillary providers to stricter scrutiny than claims
submitted by medical doctors and doctors of osteopathy. We intend to defend vigorously all of these cases. We will incur defense costs and we cannot predict
the outcome of these cases. Certain potential liabilities may not be covered by insurance, and a large judgment against us or a settlement could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations

Our profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to maintain our current provider agreements and to enter into other appropriate
agreements.
Our profitability is dependent in part upon our ability to contract on favorable terms with hospitals, physicians and other health benefits providers. Our
agreements with these providers generally have fixed terms which require that we renegotiate them periodically. The failure to maintain or secure new costeffective health care provider contracts may result in a loss in membership or higher costs of benefits provided. In addition, our inability to contract with
providers on favorable terms, or the inability of providers to provide cost-effective care, could adversely affect our business. Large groups of physicians,
hospitals and other providers have in recent years begun to collectively renegotiate their contracts with health insurance companies like us. In addition,
physicians, hospitals and other provider groups continue to consolidate to create hospital networks. This cooperation and/or consolidation among providers
increases their bargaining positions and allows the providers to negotiate for higher reimbursement rates from us. Demands for higher reimbursement rates
may lead to increased premium rates, the loss of beneficial hospitals and physicians and a disruption of service for our members, which in turn could cause a
decrease in existing and new business. If this practice increases or continues for an extended period of time, it could have an adverse affect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, Magellan Behavioral Health, Inc., which arranges for the provision of behavioral health benefits to our members, emerged from Chapter 11
bankruptcy in January 2004 after having undergone a capital restructuring. Magellan may not be able to operate or provide the level of service it provided to us
before it encountered financial difficulties. In addition, our agreement with Magellan is subject to renewal in 2004 and we may not be able to negotiate renewal
terms that are favorable to us. If we are unable to renew our agreement with Magellan, we will need to obtain another network for behavioral health services
outside our service area and we may not be able to secure another network on terms satisfactory to us.

AdvancePCS provides pharmacy benefit management services to our members pursuant to a contract that expires December 31, 2005. Caremark Rx
Inc. recently entered into an agreement to acquire AdvancePCS. If that transaction is consummated, it will result in further consolidation of the pharmacy
benefit manager industry, which already is highly concentrated. Such consolidation could adversely affect our ability to negotiate favorable payment terms
with AdvancePCS or any other pharmacy benefit manager at the end of our current contract with AdvancePCS.
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Our business is heavily regulated and changes in state and federal regulations may adversely affect the profitability of our business, our
financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to extensive regulation and supervision by the New York State Department of Insurance, or Department of Insurance, and the New York
State Department of Health, or Department of Health, with respect to our New York operations, the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance, with
respect to our New Jersey operations, as well as to regulation by federal agencies with respect to our federal programs. These laws and regulations are subject to
amendments and changing interpretations in each jurisdiction.

Our insurance subsidiaries are also subject to insurance laws that establish supervisory agencies with broad administrative powers to grant and revoke
licenses to transact business and otherwise regulate sales, policy forms and rates, financial reporting, solvency requirements, investments and other practices.
Future regulatory action by state insurance authorities could have an adverse effect on the profitability or marketability of our health benefits or managed care
products or on our and our subsidiaries’ business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, because of our participation in governmentsponsored programs, such as Medicare, changes in government regulations or policies with respect to, among other things, reimbursement levels, could also
adversely affect our and our subsidiaries’ business, financial condition and results of operations.
Moreover, state legislatures and the United States Congress continue to focus on health care issues. Congress is considering various forms of Patients’
Bill of Rights legislation which, if adopted, could fundamentally alter the treatment of coverage decisions under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, or ERISA. Additionally, there recently have been legislative attempts to limit ERISA’s preemptive effect on state laws. If adopted, such limitations
could increase our liability exposure and could permit greater state regulation of our operations. Other proposed bills and regulations at state and federal levels
may impact certain aspects of our business, including agent licensing, corporate governance, permissible investments, market conduct, provider contracting,
claims payments and processing and confidentiality of health information. In addition, the New York Governor’s 2004-2005 fiscal budget proposed increases
to assessments imposed on insurers and the transfer of some early intervention services from state sponsored programs to private insurers. While we cannot
predict if any of these initiatives will ultimately become effective or, if enacted, what their terms will be, their enactment could increase our costs, expose us to
expanded liability or require us to revise the ways in which we conduct business.

Acquisitions or investments that we may make could turn out to be unsuccessful.
As part of our growth strategy, we may in the future pursue acquisitions of and/or investments in businesses, products and services. The negotiation of
potential acquisitions or investments as well as the integration of an acquired or jointly developed business, service or product could result in a substantial
diversion of management resources. We could be competing with other firms, many of which have greater financial and other resources, to acquire attractive
companies. Acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence or assumption of debt and contingent liabilities,
amortization of certain identifiable intangible assets, write-offs and other acquisition-related expenses. In addition, we may also fail to successfully integrate
acquired businesses with our operations or successfully realize the intended benefits of any acquisition or investment.
Pending litigation challenging the Conversion Legislation could adversely affect the terms of the plan of conversion and the price of our common
stock.

On August 21, 2002, Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., the New York Statewide Senior Action Council and several other groups and individuals filed a
lawsuit in New York Supreme Court challenging the Conversion Legislation on several constitutional grounds, including that it impairs the plaintiffs’
contractual rights, impairs the plaintiffs’ property rights without due process of law, and constitutes an unreasonable taking of property. In addition, the
lawsuit alleges that HealthChoice has violated Section 510 of the New York Not-For-Profit Corporation Law and that the directors of HealthChoice breached
their fiduciary duties, among other things, in approving the plan of conversion. The complaint seeks a permanent injunction enjoining the conversion or

35

Table of Contents

portions of the conversion. On September 20, 2002, we responded to this complaint by moving to dismiss the plaintiffs’ complaint in its entirety on several
grounds. On November 6, 2002, pursuant to a motion filed by plaintiffs, the New York Supreme Court issued a temporary restraining order temporarily
enjoining and restraining the transfer of the proceeds of the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders in this offering to the Fund or the Foundation or
to the State or any of its agencies or instrumentalities. The court also ordered that such proceeds be deposited with The Comptroller of the State of New York
pending the outcome of this action. The court did not enjoin WellChoice, HealthChoice or the other defendants from completing the conversion or our initial
public offering. A court conference was held on November 26, 2002, at which time the motion to dismiss and the motion to convert the temporary restraining
order into a preliminary injunction were deemed submitted. On March 6, 2003, the court delivered its decision dated February 28, 2003, in which it dismissed
all of the plaintiffs’ claims in the complaint. The decision grants two of the plaintiffs, Consumers Union and one other group, leave to replead the complaint,
which they did on April 1, 2003, to allege that the Conversion Legislation violates the State Constitution on the ground that it applies exclusively to
HealthChoice. On May 28, 2003, the defendants filed motions to dismiss the amended complaint in its entirety, for failure to state a claim. On October 1,
2003, the court dismissed all claims against the individual members of the Board of Directors of HealthChoice, but denied defendants’ motions to dismiss the
amended complaint. In its decision, the court stated that the plaintiffs’ decision to limit their request for preliminary relief to restraining the disposition of the
selling stockholders’ proceeds of the initial public offering, but not to block the offering, may affect such ultimate relief as may be granted in the action.
The parties have agreed to stay the lower court proceedings, pending resolution of defendants’ appeal of the court’s decision and plaintiffs’ earlier appeal
of the court’s dismissal of all claims in the initial complaint to the New York State Appellate Division, First Department. Pending a further order of the court,
the temporary restraining order remains in effect and the plaintiff’s motion for a preliminary injunction is deferred. During October and November 2003, the
parties filed their appeals and thereafter provided written briefs of their arguments on appeal. Oral argument on the appeals was held on January 28, 2004.

If the plaintiffs are successful in this litigation, there could be substantial uncertainty as to the terms and effectiveness of the plan of conversion,
including the conversion of HealthChoice into a for-profit corporation, the issuance of the shares of our common stock in the conversion, or the sale of our
common stock in the initial public offering. In addition, new litigation challenging the Conversion Legislation could also be filed. Such developments could
have an adverse impact on our ability to conduct our business and could have an adverse impact on prevailing market prices of our common stock.
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Item 2. Properties.
We have set forth below a summary of our lease commitments for office space, excluding formerly occupied office space in Staten Island that we have
sublet to IBM to operate a data center under our outsourcing agreement with IBM and that portion of our unoccupied office space in Brooklyn, New York with
respect to which we took an accounting charge in the third quarter of 2003. We believe that these facilities will be sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable
future.
Occupied

Earliest Lease
Termination Date

Location

Type of Space

Nine MetroTech Center

Administrative

287,083

June 2020

11 Corporate Woods
Albany, NY

Administrative; Sales

375,000

January 2010

400 S. Salina St.
Syracuse, NY

Administrative

203,000

December 2010

85 Crystal Run
Middletown, NY

Administrative; Sales

173,000

February 2012

3 Huntington Quadrangle
Melville, NY

Administrative; Sales

110,000

December 2010

11 West 42nd St.
New York, NY

Corporate Headquarters; Sales

107,000

December 2015

11 West 42nd St.
New York, NY

Administrative

19,000

March 2004

2651 Strang Blvd.
Yorktown Heights, NY

Administrative

98,000

January 2005

300 East Park Dr.
Harrisburg, PA

Administrative

75,000

September 2010

25 Orville Dr.
Bohemia, NY

Administrative

34,000

June 2004

800 Second Ave.

Administrative

11,000

June 2009

100 Roscomon Dr.
Middletown, CT

Administrative

7,500

September 2005

1333 Brunswick Ave.
Lawrenceville, NJ

Administrative; Sales

6,000

April 2005

100 Jericho Quadrangle
Jericho, NY

Administrative

5,600

October 2008

10 Bank St.
White Plains, NY

Sales

Square Feet

Brooklyn, NY

New York, NY

4,400
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Consumers Union of the U.S., Inc. et. al. For a discussion of this action, see “Item 1 – Business – Additional Factors that May Affect Future Results
of Operations.”

Medical Society of the State of New York. We and several of our affiliates have been named as defendants in a class action lawsuit brought by five
physicians on behalf of a purported class of all members of the Medical Society of the State of New York. The suit, Cheng v. Empire, was filed on or about
August 16, 2001 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County. The plaintiffs allege that the defendants are engaged in various activities
in violation of statute or contract, including “bundling” for payment separate healthcare services that occurred on the same date, unjustifiably denying
increased levels of reimbursement for complicated medical cases, improperly employing software programs to automatically “downcode” claims for
procedures and use of inappropriate medical necessity guidelines, failure to employ adequate staff so as to frustrate payments, failure to pay interest as
required by law on past due claims and forcing physicians to enter into one-sided managed care physician agreements. The plaintiffs seek an award of
compensatory or actual damages.
A second action was also commenced on or about August 16, 2001, captioned Medical Society of the State of New York v. Empire in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York, New York County. This case makes allegations virtually identical to those in the Cheng case. The Medical Society seeks,
however, a declaration that the challenged practices violate various provisions of state law and a permanent injunction prohibiting HealthChoice from engaging
in the conduct alleged in the complaint.
On December 4, 2001, these cases were removed from state court to the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and
plaintiffs have moved to remand these cases to state court. We are awaiting decisions on these actions.

Thomas, et al. v. Empire, et al. By a summons dated June 5, 2003 and a complaint dated May 22, 2003, and served upon Empire on June 10, 2003,
this putative class action was commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, Miami Division. In addition to Empire, the
other named defendants in Thomas are the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and substantially all of the other Blue plans in the country. The named
plaintiffs, Drs. Thomas and Michael Kutell and the Connecticut State Medical Society, bring this case on their own behalf and also purport to bring it on
behalf of similarly situated physicians and seek damages and injunctive relief to redress their claim of economic losses which they allege is the result of
defendants, on their own and as part of a common scheme, systemically denying, delaying and diminishing claim payments. More specifically, plaintiffs
allege that the defendants deny payment based upon cost or actuarial criteria rather than medical necessity or coverage, improperly downcode and bundle
claims, refuse to recognize modifiers, intentionally delay payment by pending otherwise payable claims and through calculated understaffing, use explanation
of benefits, or EOBs, that fraudulently conceal the true nature of what was processed and paid and, finally, by use of capitation agreements which they allege
are structured to frustrate a provider’s ability to maximize reimbursement under the capitated agreement. The plaintiffs allege that the co-conspirators include
not only the named defendants but also other insurance companies, trade associations and related entities such as Milliman and Robertson (actuarial firm),
McKesson (claims processing software company), National Committee for Quality Assurance, Health Insurance Association of America, the American
Association of Health Plans and the Coalition for Quality Healthcare. In addition to asserting a claim for declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent future
damages, plaintiffs assert several causes of action based upon civil RICO and mail fraud.
On August 13, 2003, plaintiffs served an amended complaint, adding several medical societies as additional plaintiffs and a cause of action based upon
an assignment of benefits. On September 2, 2003, defendants, including Empire, filed a joint motion to dismiss on various grounds, including failure to state
a claim, failure to allege fraud with the requisite particularity, and, with respect to certain plaintiffs, lack of standing.
In October 2003, the action was transferred to District Court Judge Federico Moreno, who also presides over Shane v. Humana, et al., a class-action
lawsuit brought against other insurers and HMOs on behalf of health care providers nationwide. The Thomas case involves allegations similar to those made
in the Shane action.
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On October 20, 2003, Plaintiffs served their Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss. Thereafter, on November 19,
2003, the defendants served their joint reply brief. No date has been set yet for oral argument on the motion.

Solomon, et al. v. Empire, et al. By a summons dated December 4, 2003, and a complaint dated November 4, 2003, and served upon Empire on
December 15, 2003, this putative class action was commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, Miami Division. In
addition to Empire, the other named defendants are the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and substantially all other Blue plans in the country. This case is
similar to the Thomas action, a putative class action brought on behalf of physicians, except that this case is brought on behalf of ancillary providers, such
as podiatrists, psychologists, chiropractors and physical therapists. Like the Thomas plaintiffs, the Solomon plaintiffs allege that the defendants, on their
own and as part of a common scheme, systematically deny, delay and diminish payments to these providers. The plaintiffs’ allegations are similar to those set
forth in Thomas but also include an allegation that defendants have subjected plaintiffs claims for reimbursement to stricter scrutiny than claims submitted
by medical doctors and doctors of osteopathy. Plaintiffs are seeking compensatory and monetary damages and injunctive relief.
Plaintiffs also served a motion seeking to transfer this case to Judge Moreno, the same judge handling the Thomas and other similar litigation, and to
consolidate this case with the others. Empire and the other defendants did not object to the transfer but opposed the consolidation. By an Order dated January
7, 2004, the case was transferred to Judge Moreno, but not consolidated with the other pending actions. The Court, on its own initiative, deemed this action a
“tag along” action to the Shane litigation, and ordered the case closed for statistical purposes and placed the matter in a civil suspense file. Although the
Court’s action appears to be driven, at least in part, by administrative considerations, the full implication of this ruling is being analyzed. The defendants’
time to appear, answer or otherwise move to dismiss the complaint has been extended to March 8, 2004.

Other. We are also party to additional litigation and are, from time to time, named as co-defendants in legal actions brought against governmental
healthcare bodies. At present, we are not party to any additional litigation which, if concluded in a manner adverse to us, would have a material adverse
impact on us or our business.
39

Table of Contents

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
Not applicable.

Executive Officers of the Registrant:
Our executive officers are as follows:
Name

Michael A. Stocker, M.D.
Gloria M. McCarthy
Deborah Loeb Bohren
Jason N. Gorevic
Robert W. Lawrence
John W. Remshard
Linda V. Tiano

Age

61
51
49
32

52
56
46

Position

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Senior Vice President, Communications
SVP, Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer and Acting Head of Sales
Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Services
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Senior Vice President, General Counsel

Michael A. Stocker, M.D. has served as Chief Executive Officer and director of WellChoice since August 2002 and as its President since January 3,
2003. Dr. Stocker has served as Chief Executive Officer and Director of HealthChoice since October 1994 and served as President of HealthChoice from
October 1994 to March 2001. From February 1993 to October 1994, Dr. Stocker was the President of CIGNA Healthplans. Dr. Stocker has also served as
Executive Vice President, General Manager for the Greater New York Market of U.S. Healthcare.

Gloria M. McCarthy has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of WellChoice since April 2003. Prior thereto, she served as
the Senior Vice President, Operations, Managed Care and Medicare Services of WellChoice and of HealthChoice, positions she held from September 2002 and
March 1997, respectively. She has held a variety of other positions at HealthChoice since 1974.

Deborah Loeb Bohren has served as Senior Vice President, Communications of WellChoice since January 2003. Ms. Bohren was Vice President,
Public Affairs of WellChoice from October 2002 to December 2002 and of HealthChoice from October 1998 to October 2002. Prior thereto, Ms. Bohren served
as Assistant Vice President, Media Relations for HealthChoice from February 1997 to October 1998 and as HealthChoice’s Director of Media Relations from
February 1996 to February 1997.

Jason N. Gorevic has served as the Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer of WellChoice since February 2003 and Acting Head of Sales since
July 2003. Prior thereto, Mr. Gorevic served as Acting Chief Marketing Officer of WellChoice from November 2002 to February 2003, and was Vice President,
Local Group Commercial Markets of WellChoice from September 2002 to November 2002 and of HealthChoice from February 2002 to November 2002. From
July 2000 until December 2001, Mr. Gorevic was Chief Executive Officer of LuxuryGems, Inc. d/b/a Gemfinity, an electronic marketplace and purchasing
aggregator. From July 1999 to July 2000, Mr. Gorevic was General Manager of Business Messaging at Mail.com, Inc., a provider of Internet messaging
services, and from April 1998 until June 1999, he served as Mail.com’s Vice President of Operations. Between 1993 and 1998, Mr. Gorevic worked at
Oxford Health Plans, Inc., where he held a variety of positions in marketing, medical management and operations.
Robert W. Lawrence has served as Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Services of WellChoice since September 2002 and of HealthChoice
since June 2002. Mr. Lawrence joined HealthChoice in November 1999 as Vice President, Compensation, Benefits and HRIC. Prior to joining HealthChoice,
he served as Vice President, Human Resources of Philipp Brothers Chemicals, Inc., a recycling company for agricultural and industrial chemicals, from
August to November 1999, and as Director, Human Resources for the Genlyte Thomas Group, LLC, a manufacturer of lighting fixtures and control devices,
from July 1993 to May 1999. Prior thereto, Mr. Lawrence served in various human resources positions for US WEST Financial Services, Inc. and the
American National Can Company.
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John W. Remshard has been the Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of WellChoice since August 2002 and of HealthChoice since March
1996. From July 1995 until March 1996, Mr. Remshard was the Senior Vice President of Auditing of HealthChoice. Prior to joining HealthChoice, from
1978 until 1995, Mr. Remshard was a Vice President in the Finance Division of CIGNA Corporation.
Linda V. Tiano has been the Senior Vice President, General Counsel of WellChoice since August 2002 and of HealthChoice since September 1995. Prior
thereto, from 1992 until 1995, Ms. Tiano served as Vice President for Legal and Government Affairs and General Counsel for MVP Health Plan, an HMO
located in upstate New York. From 1990 until 1992, Ms. Tiano was a stockholder of Epstein Becker and Green, P.C., and for nine years prior thereto, an
associate of that firm, where she specialized in providing legal advice and assistance to a wide variety of healthcare entities, primarily in the managed care
industry.

***
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Michael A. Stocker, M.D., was diagnosed with prostate cancer in late 2002 and was treated for this condition
in 2003. During the course of his treatment, Dr. Stocker performed, and he continues to perform, all of his regular duties.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Since November 8, 2002, the first day of trading following the effectiveness of our initial public offering, the Company’s common stock has been
traded on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “WC.” There is no established market for the one share of Class B Common Stock outstanding.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for the Company’s Common Stock, as reported by The New York Stock Exchange, since
November 8, 2002 for each calendar quarter indicated:
High

Low

Fourth Quarter (commencing November 8, 2002)

$28.50

$ 22.15

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$ 24.00
$ 30.40
$ 33.20
$ 36.40

$ 17.65
$ 20.80
$ 26.80
$29.95

First Quarter (through February 2, 2004)

$ 38.88

$ 34.30

2002:
2003:

2004:

On February 2, 2004, the Company had 108 holders of record of its Common Stock, which did not include beneficial owners of shares registered in
nominee or street name, and one holder of its Class B Common Stock.
No cash dividends have been declared on the Common Stock or Class B Common Stock. We do not expect to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable
future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance operations and the expansion of our business.

Our ability to pay dividends is dependent on cash dividends from our subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries are subject to regulatory surplus requirements and
additional regulatory requirements, which may restrict their ability to declare and pay dividends or distributions to us. See “Government Regulation –
Dividend Restrictions.”
The following table provides additional information on the Company’s equity-based compensation plans as of December 31, 2003:

Number of securities
to be issued upon
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price per
share of outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Plan Category

(a)

(b)

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders

790,981

Total

790,981

exercise of

1.

$

0

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity
compensation plans
excluding amounts
set forth in column
(a)

31.05

8,245,974 (1)

0

$

31.05

0

8,245,974 (1)

Includes 5,245,974 shares available for issuance under the WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan and 3,000,000 shares of common stock
available for issuance under the WellChoice, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The following table sets forth selected financial data and other operating information of WellChoice, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The selected financial data
in the table are derived from the consolidated financial statements of WellChoice, Inc. The data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements, related notes, and other financial information included herein.
Year ended December 31,

2003

2001

2002

2000

1999

$ 3,876.9
264.9
65.5
22.1

$ 3,362.3
238.9
58.7

($ in millions except share and per share data)

Revenue:
Premiums earned
Administrative service fees
Investment income, net
Net realized investment gains (losses)
Other (expense) income, net

$ 4,875.4
445.8
51.2
11.8
(1.7)

$ 4,628.0
396.2
64.8
2.6

$ 4,246.2

14.0

6.1

4.3

0.2
4.8

Total revenue

5,382.5

5,105.6

4,631.2

4,233.7

3,664.9

Expenses:
Cost of benefits provided
Administrative expenses
Conversion and IPO expenses

4,162.2
876.7
—

3,947.4
833.1
15.4

3,738.8
742.8
2.0

3,426.4
686.2
0.6

2,944.6
587.3

Total expenses

5,038.9

4,795.9

4,483.6

4,113.2

3,535.6

343.6

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (1)

142.5

Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

201.1
—

322.0

69.3
(12.4)

309.7
(67.9)

147.6

377.6

147.5
(16.5)

0.1

(1.1)

3.7

120.5
(74.5)

129.3
9.1

195.0

120.2
—

(4.6)

Net income

$

201.1

$

376.5

$

131.0

$

190.4

$

120.2

Per share data (2)
Basic and diluted earnings per share

$

2.41

$

4.51

$

1.57

$

2.28

$

1.44

Additional Data – For the Year Ended:
Medical loss ratio (3)
Medical loss ratio, excluding New York City and New York State
PPO (4)
Administrative expense ratio (5)(6)
Members (000’s at end of period) (7)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and investments
Premium related receivables
Total assets
Unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense
Obligations under capital lease
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity (8)

(1)

85.4%

85.3%

88.1%

88.4%

87.6%

82.2%
16.5%
4,754

81.8%
16.9%
4,608

86.0%
16.3%

85.9%
16.6%
4,135

85.1%
16.4%
4,161

$ 2,059.3
378.2
3,043.0

609.5
48.3

1,610.7
1,432.3

$ 1,783.0
358.8
2,777.5
559.9
47.7
1,541.2
1,236.3

4,383

$ 1,604.3
403.5

2,449.6
634.1
50.1
1,620.3
829.3

$ 1,400.6
447.5
2,252.5
672.4
52.0
1,577.8
674.7

$ 1,330.2
404.7

1,987.4
591.0
53.5
1,484.7
502.7

Our deferred tax asset allowance at December 31, 2001 was approximately $195.7 million. At December 31, 2002, we eliminated the valuation
allowance on our deferred tax assets, based on approval of the conversion and continued, current and projected positive taxable income. As a result of the
conversion, WellChoice is a for-profit entity and is subject to state and local taxes as well as federal income taxes at the statutory rate of
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(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

35% for the year ended December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2000, we reduced our valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets by $71.9 million
based on continued, current and projected positive taxable income.
The weighted-average shares outstanding of 83,490,478 and the effect of dilutive securities for the period January 1 through December 31, 2003 was
used to calculate 2003 basic and diluted earnings per share amounts. There were no shares or dilutive securities outstanding prior to November 7, 2002
(date of conversion and initial public offering). Accordingly, amounts prior to 2003 represent pro forma earnings per share. For comparative pro forma
earnings per share presentation, shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 of 83,490,478 was used to calculate pro forma earnings per share for all
periods prior to 2003. Net loss and basic and diluted net loss per common share based on the weighted average shares outstanding for the period from
November 7, 2002 (date of initial public offering) to December 31, 2002 were $38.5 million and $0.46, respectively.
Medical loss ratio represents cost of benefits provided as a percentage of premiums earned.
We present our medical loss ratio, excluding New York City and New York State PPO because these accounts differ from our standard PPO product in
that they are hospital-only accounts which have lower premiums than accounts with full medical and hospital coverage and are retrospectively rated with
a guaranteed administrative service fee. The lower premiums and the size of these accounts distort our performance when the total medical loss ratios are
presented.
Administrative expense ratio represents administrative and conversion and IPO expenses as a percentage of premiums earned and administrative service
fees.
As presented, our administrative expense ratio does not take into account a significant portion of our activity generated by self-funded, or ASO,
business, which represents approximately 36.5% of our total members. Therefore, in the following table, we provide the information needed to calculate
the administrative expense ratio on a “premium equivalent” basis because that ratio measures administrative expenses relative to the entire volume of
insured and self-funded business serviced by us and is commonly used in the health insurance industry to compare operating efficiency among
companies. Administrative expense ratio on a premium equivalent basis is calculated by dividing administrative and conversion and IPO expenses by
“premium equivalents” for the relevant periods. Premium equivalents is the sum of premium earned, administrative service fees and the amount of paid
claims attributable to our self-funded business pursuant to which we provide a range of customer services, including claims administration and billing
and membership services. Claims paid for our self-funded health business is not our revenue. The premium equivalents for the years indicated were as
follows:
Year ended December 31,

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

$ 3,362.3
238.9
1,046.4
$ 4,647.6

($ in millions)

Revenue:
Premiums earned
Administrative service fees
Claims paid for our self-funded health business

$ 4,875.4
445.8
2,955.3

$ 4,628.0
396.2
2,347.9

$ 4,246.2
1,791.9

$ 3,876.9
264.9
1,328.4

Premium equivalents

$ 8,276.5

$ 7,372.1

$ 6,360.1

$ 5,470.2

(7)

(8)

322.0

Enrollment as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 includes 177,000 and 175,000 New York State PPO account members who reside in New York State but
outside of our service areas. Prior to January 1, 2002, these members were enrolled in the New York Blue Cross Blue Shield plan licensed in the area
where the members resided and, accordingly, the membership was reported by these plans and not by us. Starting in 2002, in accordance with a change
to the contract with New York State under which we administer the entire plan, we began including those members enrolled outside of our service area,
and all members were therefore enrolled in, and reported by, HealthChoice. New York State PPO account members who reside in New York State but
outside of our service areas are excluded from enrollment totals for all other periods presented.
Prior to the conversion, this line item was captioned “Total reserves for policyholders’ protection.”
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis presents a review of WellChoice, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “we” or the “Company”) for the
three-year period ended December 31, 2003. This review should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and other data
presented herein.
The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those set forth in “Item 1. – Business – Company Overview,” “—Our
Strategy,” “—Customers,” “—Information Systems and Telecommunications Infrastructure,” “—Collaborations,” “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report include forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, or the PSLRA. When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in future filings by the Company with the
Commission, in our press releases, presentations to securities analysts or investors, and in oral statements made by or with the approval of one of our
executive officers, the words or phrases “believes,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “will likely result,” “estimates,” “projects” or similar expressions are intended to
identify such forward-looking statements. Any of these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.

The discussion of risks described below and in “Item 1. – Business” of this report and the following discussion contain certain cautionary statements
regarding our business that investors and others should consider. These discussions are intended to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of the
PSLRA. Except to the extent otherwise required by federal securities laws, in making these cautionary statements, we are not undertaking to address or update
each factor in future filings or communications regarding our business or operating results, and are not undertaking to address how any of these factors may
have caused results to differ from discussions or information contained in previous filings or communications. In addition, any of the matters discussed
below may have affected our past, as well as current, forward-looking statements about future results. Any or all forward-looking statements in this report and
in any other public statements we make may turn out to be wrong. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown
risks and uncertainties. Many factors discussed below will be important in determining future results. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be
guaranteed. Actual future results may vary materially from those expressed in our communications.

Overview
We are the largest health insurance company in the State of New York based on total preferred provider organization, or PPO, and health maintenance
organization, or HMO, membership, which includes members under our insured and administrative services only, or ASO, plans. We offer managed care and
traditional indemnity products to approximately 4.8 million members. We have licenses with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association which entitle us to the
exclusive use of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in ten counties in the New York City metropolitan area and in six counties in upstate New
York, the non-exclusive right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in one upstate New York county, the exclusive right to only the Blue
Cross name and mark in seven upstate New York counties and the non-exclusive right to only the Blue Cross name in four upstate New York counties. We
market our products and services using these names and marks in our New York service areas. We also market our managed care products in 16 counties in
New Jersey under the WellChoice brand.

We offer our products and services to a broad range of customers, including large groups of more than 500 employees; middle market groups, ranging
from 51 to 500 employees; small groups, ranging from two to 50 employees and individuals. Over one million of our members are covered through our
national accounts, generally large, multi-state companies, including many Fortune 500 companies.
Our revenue primarily consists of premiums earned and administrative service fees derived from the sale of managed care and traditional indemnity
health benefits products to employer groups and individuals. Premiums are derived from insured contracts and administrative service fees are derived from
self-funded contracts, under
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which we provide a range of customer services, including claims administration and billing and membership services. Revenue also includes administrative
service fees earned under the BlueCard program for providing members covered by other Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans with access to our network
providers, reimbursements under our government contracts with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, to act as a fiscal intermediary for
Medicare Part A program beneficiaries and a carrier for Medicare Part B program beneficiaries, and investment income.

Our cost of benefits provided expense consists primarily of claims paid and claims in process and pending to physicians, hospitals and other healthcare
providers and includes an estimate of amounts incurred but not yet reported. Administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation expenses,
commission payments to brokers and other overhead business expenses.
We report our operating results as two business segments: commercial managed care and other insurance products and services. Our commercial
managed care segment accounted for 86.4% of our membership as of December 31, 2003. Our commercial managed care segment includes group PPO, HMO
(including Medicare+Choice), EPO, and other products (principally dental-only coverage as well as POS) as well as our PPO business under our accounts
with New York City and New York State. Our other insurance products and services segment consists of our indemnity and individual products. Our
indemnity products include traditional indemnity products and government contracts with CMS to act as a fiscal intermediary and carrier. Our individual
products include Medicare supplemental, state sponsored plans, government mandated individual plans and individual hospital-only. We allocate
administrative expenses, investment income and other income, but not assets, to our segments. Except when otherwise specifically stated or where the context
requires, all references in this document to our membership include both our insured and ASO membership. Our New York City and New York State account
members are covered under insured plans.
Based upon the higher level of payments we expect to receive from CMS as a result of the recently enacted Medicare Prescription Improvement and
Modernization Act, subject to CMS approval, we will eliminate the additional premiums required by members of our Medicare+Choice program in Rockland
and Westchester counties, reduce the additional premium required by members in Nassau and Suffolk counties and increase benefits available to New York
City members. This increase in payments from CMS will not have a material impact on operations, as they will either be utilized to provide additional benefits
or as a reduction in premiums required by members.

Our future results of operations will depend in part on our ability to predict and control health care costs through underwriting criteria, utilization
management, product design and negotiation of favorable provider and hospital contracts. Our ability to contain such costs may be adversely affected by
changes in utilization rates, demographic characteristics, the regulatory environment, health care practices, inflation, new technologies, clusters of high-cost
cases, continued consolidation of physician, hospital and other provider groups, acts of terrorism and bioterrorism or other catastrophes, including war, and
numerous other factors. Our inability to mitigate any or all of the above-listed or other factors may adversely affect our future profitability.

The Conversion
The conversion has been accounted for as a reorganization using the historical carrying values of HealthChoice’s assets and liabilities. Immediately
following the conversion, HealthChoice’s unassigned reserves were reclassified to par value of common stock and additional paid-capital. Concurrently,
HealthChoice became a wholly owned subsidiary of WellChoice. The costs of the conversion were recognized as an expense when incurred. We started
incurring conversion-related expenses in 1998 when HealthChoice first began paying fees and expenses of advisors to the New York State Superintendent of
Insurance, or Superintendent, in connection with the New York State Department of Insurance’s consideration of our original draft plan of conversion. From
inception of the conversion process through the completion of our initial public offering in 2002, we incurred conversion and offering expenses of $24.0
million.
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We have benefited from certain favorable tax attributes over the years. HealthChoice has reported its income for tax purposes using certain beneficial
rules afforded Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans under Section 833 of the Internal Revenue Code, or the Code. Among other provisions of the Code, these
plans were granted a special deduction, the 833(b) deduction, for regular tax calculation purposes. As a result of this deduction, HealthChoice incurred no
regular tax liability but, in profitable years, paid taxes at the alternative minimum tax rate of 20%. The 833(b) deduction is calculated as the excess of 25% of
the incurred claim and claim adjustment expenses for the tax year over adjusted surplus, as defined, but limited to taxable income. The amount of 833(b)
deductions utilized in each tax year is accumulated in an adjusted surplus balance. Once the cumulative adjusted surplus balance exceeds the 833(b) deduction
for the current taxable year, the deduction is eliminated.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we reevaluated our tax position for financial statement purposes related to HealthChoice’s ability to utilize the Section
833(b) deduction and determined that when HealthChoice converted to a for-profit entity, its ability to utilize the Section 833(b) deduction was uncertain. No
authority directly addresses whether a conversion transaction will render the 833(b) deduction unavailable. We are aware, however, that the Internal Revenue
Service has taken the position related to other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans that a conversion could result in the inability of a Blue Cross Blue Shield plan to
utilize the 833(b) deduction. In light of the absence of governing authority, while we intend to continue to take the deduction on our tax returns for periods after
the conversion, we will assume, for financial statement reporting purposes, that the deduction will be disallowed. Accordingly, we have utilized $77.0 million
of regular operating loss carryforwards for financial statement purposes in excess of those utilized for tax purposes.

We have substantial tax loss and credit carryovers. At December 31, 2003, for income tax purposes, our regular tax loss carryforwards, which expire
between 2004 and 2023, were approximately $259.0 million and our alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards, which have no expiration, was
approximately $191.0 million. In early 2003, we received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that our conversion was not viewed as a change in control
and therefore did not result in limitations in the use of our net regular tax operating loss carryforwards and alternative minimum tax credits. However,
subsequent sales of shares of our common stock, including sales by the Fund and/or Foundation, could result in such a limitation, which would have an
impact on our cash flow.

Additional State and Local Taxes
As a result of the conversion, we became a for-profit entity and are subject to New York state and local taxes that we were not previously required to pay.
These include premium taxes on most non-HMO insured business and sales and use taxes (which are recorded as administrative expenses), as well as state
and local income taxes.

As a result of the New York State Budget Legislation enacted in May 2003, which eliminated the net income portion of the New York State franchise tax
applicable to our New York accident and health insurance subsidiary, we expect to incur federal, state and local income taxes at the rate of approximately 39%
of pre-tax net income.

Discontinued Operations
In February 2002, we discontinued the operations of NexxtHealth, Inc., a development stage subsidiary formed in March 2000 to develop Internet portal
software to market to other health benefit companies. We discontinued these operations as part of our overall strategy to outsource certain technology functions.

Capitated Provider Arrangements
Our cost of benefits provided under capitated arrangements is not significant. Payments under capitated arrangements totaled $102.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, representing 2.5% of total cost of benefits provided.
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We currently maintain a single global capitation arrangement to provide hospital and medical benefits for approximately 1,000 members enrolled in our
Medicare+Choice product. Payments made under this arrangement totaled $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, respectively. The premiums
earned in excess of costs of benefits provided under this arrangement was approximately $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Other capitated arrangements are in place to manage and assume risk for certain benefits covered under specific products. The following sets forth the
membership and respective benefits under these capitated arrangements at December 31, 2003:
Membership

Benefit

(in thousands)

1,601
425

Mental health
Laboratory services
Vision
Hearing
Dental

349

119
84

We also have capitated arrangements with service providers for certain disease management programs. At December 31, 2003, we had approximately
79,000 members under capitated disease management programs.
Approximately 34.0% of our membership is provided one or more benefits under a capitated program.
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Selected Membership Data and Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected membership data as of the dates set forth below:
December 31,
(members in thousands)

Products and services:
Commercial managed care:
Group PPO, HMO, EPO and other(1)(2)
New York City and New York State PPO(3)

Total commercial managed care
Other insurance products and services:
Indemnity
Individual

Total other insurance products and services

Overall total

2003

2002

2001

2,301
1,805

2,019
1,786

1,752
1,563

4,106

3,805

3,315

428
220

567
236

264

648

803

1,068

4,754

4,608

4,383

2,931

2,903

804

Customers:
Small group and middle market
Individuals
National accounts

444

394

2,695
366

269
1,110

290
1,021

999

Overall total

4,754

4,608

4,383

Funding type:
Commercial managed care:
Insured(3)
Self-funded

2,620
1,486

2,597
1,208

2,441
874

Total commercial managed care

4,106

3,805

3,315

398
250

463

691

340

377

648

803

1,068

4,754

4,608

4,383

Large group(3)

Other insurance products and services:
Insured
Self-funded

Total other insurance products and services

Overall total

(1)
(2)
(3)

323

Our HMO product includes Medicare+Choice. As of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, we had approximately 50,000, 55,000 and 59,000 members,
respectively, enrolled in Medicare+Choice.
“Other” principally consists of our members enrolled in dental only coverage and includes POS members.
Enrollment as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 includes 177,000 and 175,000 New York State PPO account members who reside in New York State but
outside of our service areas. Prior to January 1, 2002, these members were enrolled in the New York Blue Cross Blue Shield plan licensed in the area
where the members resided and, accordingly, the membership was reported by these plans and not by us. Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance
with a change to the contract with New York State under which we administer the entire plan, we began including those members enrolled outside of our
service area, and all members were therefore enrolled in, and reported by, us. New York State PPO account members who reside in New York State but
outside of our service areas are excluded from enrollment totals for all other periods presented.
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The following table sets forth results of operations for each of our segments for the periods set forth below:
Year ended December 31,
($ in millions)

2003

2002

2001

$ 4,425.0
$ 292.6

$ 4,000.6
$ 253.4

$ 3,448.3
$ 121.1

Commercial Managed Care:
Total revenue
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Medical loss ratio:
Commercial managed care total
Commercial managed care, excluding New York City and New York State PPO(1)
Administrative expense ratio (2)
Other Insurance Products and Services:
Total revenue
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Medical loss ratio
Administrative expense ratio (2)

(1)

(2)

85.9%
82.1%

88.6%
85.8%

14.0%

86.0%
81.6%
13.9%

$ 957.5
$ 51.0
82.7%
28.0%

$1,105.0
$ 56.3
82.4%
27.8%

$1,182.9
$ 26.5
86.2%
25.0%

13.0%

We present commercial managed care medical loss ratio, excluding New York City and New York State PPO, because these accounts differ from our
standard PPO product in that they are hospital-only accounts which have lower premiums than accounts with full medical and hospital coverage and are
retrospectively rated with a guaranteed administrative service fee. The lower premiums and the size of these accounts distort our performance when the
total medical loss ratios are presented.
As presented, our administrative expense ratio does not take into account a significant portion of our activity generated by self-funded, or ASO,
business, which represents approximately 36.2% and 38.6% of our managed care and other insurance products and services members, respectively.
Therefore, in the following table, we provide the information needed to calculate the administrative expense ratio on a “premium equivalent” basis
because that ratio measures administrative expenses relative to the entire volume of insured and self-funded business serviced by us and is commonly
used in the health insurance industry to compare operating efficiency among companies. Administrative expense ratio on a premium equivalent basis is
calculated by dividing administrative and conversion and IPO expenses by “premium equivalents” for the relevant periods. Premium equivalents is the
sum of premium earned, administrative service fees and the amount of paid claims attributable to our self-funded business pursuant to which we
provide a range of customer services, including claims administration and billing and membership services. Claims paid for our self-funded health
business is not our revenue. The premium equivalents for the years indicated were as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2003

2002

2001

Premiums earned
Administrative service fees
Claims paid for our self-funded health business

$ 4,099.5
274.1
2,408.0

$ 3,723.0
212.2
1,696.8

$ 3,247.8
$ 154.1
$ 1,102.5

Premium Equivalent
Other Insurance Products and Services:
Premiums earned
Administrative service fees
Claims paid for our self-funded health business

$6,781.6

$ 5,632.0

$ 4,504.4

$ 775.9
171.7
547.3

$

$

651.1

998.4
167.9
689.4

Premium Equivalent

$ 1,494.9

$ 1,740.1

$1,855.7

($ in millions)

Commercial Managed Care:
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Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002
As of December 31, 2003, total enrollment was 4.8 million members, a 3.2% increase from December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2003. The increase in
enrollment was driven by a 7.9% increase in commercial managed care enrollment. Our commercial managed care enrollment at December 31, 2003 was 4.1
million and represents 86.4% of our total enrollment. The increase in commercial managed care enrollment was the result of the following:

•

Enrollment growth of 13.6%, or 240,000 members, in group PPO, EPO and other due primarily to a combination of new national account
customers in our PPO and EPO products and the migration of members enrolled in our indemnity products to our commercial managed care
products; and

•

Enrollment growth of 16.7%, or 42,000 members, in group HMO primarily related to new small group and middle market customers.

The increase in commercial managed care enrollment was offset by a 19.3% decline in other insurance product and services enrollment. This decrease of
approximately 155,000 members was due, in part, to the continued migration of members to commercial managed care products discussed above.
Our self-funded enrollment increased 12.1% in 2003 and at December 31, 2003 represented approximately 36.5% of our total enrollment; 36.2% of
commercial managed care enrollment; and 38.6% of other insurance product and services enrollment. The migration of fully-insured business to self-funded
arrangements as well as new self-funded enrollment resulted in the increase in self-funded enrollment. The migration to self-funded enrollment was most
noticeable in insured large group PPO and indemnity products. New self-funded national account enrollment accounted for 149,000 new members. We expect
self-funded enrollment to continue to increase in 2004 through the continued migration of fully-insured business to self-funded arrangements and new selffunded accounts. Although the trend to self-funded business will reduce our insured premium and claim volume, we do not expect the trend to materially
impact net income.

As of December 31, 2003, our New York State account covered approximately 989,000 members, or 20.8% of our total membership and 24.1% of our
commercial managed care membership, and our New York City account covered approximately 816,000 members, or 17.2% of our total membership and
19.9% of our commercial managed care membership. We provide hospital-only coverage under both of these accounts. The pricing of our products provided
to New York State and New York City has historically been renegotiated annually. With respect to the New York State account, effective January 1, 2003, we
agreed to new pricing covering a three-year period through December 31, 2005, though both parties retain the right to terminate the contract on six months’
notice. With respect to the New York City account, for approximately two years, the New York City account has been subject to a competitive bid process in
which we have participated, relating to a five-year contract. In October 2003, we agreed to new rates with the New York City account for the period from July
1, 2003 through June 30, 2004. We expect the New York City account to complete the competitive bid process regarding the five-year contract, sometime in the
first half of 2004. The loss of one or both of the New York State and New York City accounts would result in reduced membership and revenue and require
us to reduce, reallocate or absorb administrative expenses associated with these accounts.

Total revenue increased 5.4%, or $276.9 million, to $5,382.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $5,105.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 primarily due to an increase in premium and administrative service fee revenue, offset by decreases in investment and other income.
Premium revenue increased $247.4 million, or 5.3%, to $4,875.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $4,628.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The increase in premium revenue was primarily due to growth in our commercial managed care segment. Commercial managed care
premium revenue was $4,099.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, a 10.1% increase compared to the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase
in commercial managed care premium revenue was primarily attributable to increased cost of benefits provided and retention on our retrospectively rated
contracts of approximately $209.0 million. The remaining increase was due to rate increases and membership growth.
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The premium growth in commercial managed care was partially offset by the anticipated decline in our other insurance products premium. The decrease
in other insurance products premium was the result of the migration of insured indemnity contracts to self-funded contracts and premium refunds for prior
years related to our Medicare Supplemental product.

On a PMPM basis, premium for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased 10.0%, to $137.17, from $124.65 for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Commercial managed care PMPM premium increased to $133.01 for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $120.90 for the year ended December 31, 2002
due to premium rate and retention increases. Excluding the New York City and New York State PPO, commercial managed care PMPM premium increased to
$277.21 for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to $250.72 for the year ended December 31, 2002 due to premium rate increases. Other insurance
products and services PMPM premium increased to $164.30 for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $142.89 for the year ended December 31, 2002, due
primarily to declining membership in unprofitable experienced rated products.

Administrative service fee revenue increased 12.5%, or $49.6 million, to $445.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $396.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase was primarily due to growth in self-funded commercial managed care membership and increased
BlueCard fees, reduced in part by lower administrative service fees attributable to our CMS contracts for the Medicare Part A and Part B programs.
Approximately $49.1 million of the increase was a result of 149,000 new national account customers and the migration of approximately 50,000 insured large
group PPO and indemnity contracts to self-funded contracts. Total BlueCard fees increased 14.6% or $6.5 million, to $51.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, from $44.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 due to an increase in transaction volume. Administrative service fees
attributable to our CMS contracts for the Medicare Part A and Part B programs decreased $6.0 million or 4.7% to $121.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2003 from $127.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease was attributable to lower expenses attributable to administration of the CMS
contract.
Investment income, net of investment expenses, which consists predominantly of interest and dividend income, decreased 21.0%, or $13.6 million, to
$51.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $64.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 due to lower interest rates. Net realized gains
of $11.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 were primarily the result of net gains on corporate bond sales and a net increase in the market value of
warrants classified in our balance sheet as other long-term equity investments. Net realized gains of $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 were
primarily the result of net gains on government and corporate bond sales and the sale of common stock.
Other expenses, net of $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, decreased $15.7 million from other income, net of $14.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, due to non–recurring transactions during 2002. Specifically, the year ended December 31, 2002 included a gain of $8.0 million
relating to insurance settlements for property and equipment lost at our World Trade Center headquarters, a $5.4 million gain related to the recovery of
amounts previously recorded against net income, interest earned on advances to hospitals of $2.5 million, interest received on outstanding hospital advances
previously considered uncollectible of $1.9 million and late payment fee income of $0.7 million.

Total cost of benefits provided increased 5.4%, or $214.8 million, to $4,162.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $3,947.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002. This reflects a 10.1% increase in costs of benefits provided on a PMPM basis, offset by a 4.3% decline in member
months due to the migration of membership from fully-insured to self-funded contracts. Total cost of benefits provided on a PMPM basis for the year ended
December 31, 2003 increased to $117.10 from $106.32 for the year ended December 31, 2002. Commercial managed care cost of benefits provided on PMPM
basis expense increased 9.9% to $114.23 for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $103.97 for the year ended December 31, 2002. Excluding the New
York City and New York State PPO accounts, the commercial managed care cost of benefits provided on a PMPM basis expense increased 11.2% to $227.58
for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $204.67 for the year
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ended December 31, 2002. Costs of benefits provided in our other insurance products and services segment for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased
15.4%, on a PMPM basis, to $135.85 from $117.72 for the year ended December 31, 2002.

The total medical loss ratio increased to 85.4% for the year ended December 31, 2003, from 85.3% for the year ended December 31, 2002, resulting from
a 10.1% increase in PMPM cost of benefits provided, offset by a 10.0% increase in average premium yield, which is the change in PMPM premium revenue.
Cost of benefits provided for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 included $57.0 million and $47.8 million, respectively, of favorable prior period
reserve development on prospectively rated contracts. The prior period development during 2003 included $34.9 million for the New York State Market
Stabilization Pool. The medical loss ratio in our commercial managed care segment decreased to 85.9% for the year ended December 31, 2003, from 86.0% for
the year ended December 31, 2002. Excluding the New York City and New York State PPO accounts (see note 1 to the table on page 50 of this report), the
medical loss ratio in our commercial managed care segment increased to 82.1% for the year ended December 31, 2003, from 81.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2002 due to increases in the ratio for our commercial products offset, in part, by a decrease in the ratio for our Medicare+Choice product. The
medical loss ratio for other insurance products and services increased to 82.7% for the year ended December 31, 2003, from 82.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase was due to higher loss ratios for the indemnity and direct pay products, offset by net recoveries from the New York State
Market Stabilization Pool which impacted premiums and claims in 2003.

Administrative expenses increased 5.2%, or $43.6 million, to $876.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $833.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002 due to the following:

•

Premium sales and use taxes, included as a component of administrative expense, increased $61.3 million, to $70.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, from $9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, substantially due to increased premium taxes. As a result of our forprofit conversion, all of our health insurance premiums (other than HMO premiums) became subject to premium tax in November 2002. Therefore,
the volume of premiums subject to premium taxes significantly increased in 2003 compared to 2002. In addition, as a result of the New York State
budget legislation enacted in May 2003, the premium tax rate for accident and health insurers increased to 1.75% from 1.0%, retroactive to January
1, 2003.

•

Salary and benefit expense decreased $76.2 million due to the reduction of staffing levels and a reduction in restructuring expenses. The reduction
in staffing levels is as a result of the IBM outsourcing agreement and our efforts to streamline operations.

•

Professional service fees increased $14.0 million as a result of the IBM outsourcing agreement. The outsourcing commenced on July 1, 2002;
therefore 2003 reflects a full year of professional fees related to the agreement whereas 2002 reflects six months of professional fees.

•

Corporate insurance expense increased $9.4 million. As a result of our for-profit conversion, the cost of our directors and officers liability insurance
significantly increased effective November 2002.

•

Increased occupancy costs of $7.7 million relating to the transition from several leased properties, which temporarily replaced our World Trade
Center office, to a long-term leased facility in Brooklyn, New York.

•

Unoccupied leased office space resulted in a $13.4 million charge in 2003. We concluded that certain unoccupied leased office space would not be
utilized in the future. As a result, in accordance with SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”,
administrative expenses include a charge of $13.4 million, representing the difference between the market value of potential sublease rental income
and the remaining lease obligations for the three floors.

•

Administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 reflected a gain of $19.3 million resulting from the settlement of our business
property protection and blanket earnings and extra expense insurance claim related to the loss of our headquarters located at the World Trade Center.
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Income from continuing operations before income taxes increased 10.9%, or $33.9 million, to $343.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
from $309.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This improvement was primarily driven by increased self-funded commercial managed care
membership and improved underwriting performance. The income tax expense of $142.5 million reduced income from continuing operations and net income
to $201.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The income tax benefit of $67.9 million (as described in note 6 to the financial statements) increased
income from continuing operations to $377.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Taking into account our loss from discontinued operations during
2002, our net income for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $376.5 million.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001
As of December 31, 2002, total enrollment was 4.6 million members and commercial managed care enrollment was 3.8 million members (82.6% of total
enrollment). If we add to the December 31, 2001 enrollment the 167,000 New York State PPO account members who reside in New York State but outside of
our service areas, total enrollment and commercial managed care enrollment increased 1.3% and 9.3%, respectively, from December 31, 2001 to December 31,
2002. Enrollment in our group PPO, HMO, EPO and other products increased 15.2%, or 267,000 members. This growth was attributable to the migration of
members enrolled in our indemnity products to our commercial managed care products, new large group and national accounts business in our PPO and EPO
products and increased enrollment by small group and middle market customers in our HMO and EPO products. The enrollment growth in self-funded
products of 23.7% was the result of both new membership and the migration from insured business, most noticeably in the large group PPO and national EPO
membership. Enrollment in other insurance products and services declined 24.8% to approximately 0.8 million members due, in part, to the continued
migration of members to commercial managed care products.

As of December 31, 2002, our New York State account covered approximately 985,000 members, or 21.4% of our total membership and 25.9% of our
commercial managed care membership, and our New York City account covered approximately 801,000 members, or 17.4% of our total membership and
21.1% of our commercial managed care membership.

Total revenue increased 10.2%, or $474.4 million, to $5,105.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $4,631.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 primarily due to an increase in premium and administrative service fee revenue.

Premium revenue increased $381.8 million, or 9.0%, to $4,628.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $4,246.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. The increase in premium revenue was primarily due to growth in our commercial managed care segment. Commercial managed care
premium revenue was $3,723.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, a 14.6% increase compared to the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase
in commercial managed care premium revenue was attributable to enrollment growth and premium rate increases, particularly in our HMO and PPO products.
Premium revenue growth was partially offset by the anticipated decline in our other insurance products and services enrollment, the cancellation of
unprofitable EPO contracts and the migration of insured EPO national and large group indemnity contracts to self-funded contracts. On a per member per
month, or PMPM basis, premium for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased 7.2%, to $124.65, from $116.29 for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Commercial managed care PMPM premium increased to $120.90 for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $115.22 for the year ended December 30, 2001.
Excluding the New York City and New York State PPO, commercial managed care PMPM premium increased to $250.72 for the year ended December 31.
2002, compared to $226.59 for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Administrative service fee revenue increased 23.0%, or $74.2 million, to $396.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $322.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase was primarily due to growth in self-funded group PPO, HMO, EPO and other membership, expanded volume
of services provided under our CMS contract is for Medicare Part A and Part B programs and increased BlueCard fees. Approximately $52.7 million of the
increase was driven by the migration of approximately 45,000 members from
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insured EPO national account contracts and approximately 137,000 members from insured large group indemnity contracts to self-funded contracts and
approximately 69,000 members from new national and large group customers. Administrative service fee revenue from our CMS contracts increased 10.6%,
or $12.2 million to $127.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $115.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Total BlueCard fees
increased 26.3%, or $9.3 million, to $44.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $35.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 due to an
increase in transaction volume.

Investment income, net of investment expenses, decreased 6.5%, or $4.5 million, to $64.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $69.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2001 due to lower interest rates. Net realized gains of $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 was
primarily the result of net gains on government and corporate bond sales and the sale of common stock. The net realized loss of $12.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to a $10.5 million impairment loss recorded on our holdings of WebMD Corp. common stock.
Other income, net of $14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 consisted primarily of a gain of $8.0 million resulting from insurance
settlements in excess of estimated recoveries recorded as of December 31, 2001 for property and equipment lost at our World Trade Center headquarters, $5.4
million related to the recovery of amounts previously recorded against net income, interest received on outstanding hospital advances of $1.9 million and late
payment fee income of $0.7 million. Other income, net of $6.1 million for the year ended December 30, 2001 primarily consisted of a gain of $6.8 million
resulting from insurance recovery estimates in excess of book values for property and equipment lost at our World Trade Center headquarters, proceeds of
$1.6 million from the demutualization of MetLife, Inc., the life insurance carrier for our employees, late payment fee income of $0.6 million and interest
income earned on advances to hospitals of $1.2 million, offset in part by a charge of $3.7 million due to the restructuring of an outstanding provider note
receivable and other miscellaneous expenses of $0.4 million.

Total cost of benefits provided increased 5.6%, or $208.6 million, to $3,947.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $3,738.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001, reflecting a 1.7% increase in member months and a 3.8% increase in PMPM benefit costs. The increase in benefit costs
was due to increases in unit costs, offset in part by decreases in utilization. Cost of benefits provided for the year ended December 31, 2002 included a $3.3
million premium deficiency reserve charge related to our New Jersey PPO business, offset in part by net litigation reserve related activity of $13.7 million.
Overall, benefit expense on a PMPM basis for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased to $106.32, from $102.39 for the year ended December 31, 2001.
The total medical loss ratio decreased to 85.3% for the year ended December 31, 2002, from 88.1% for the year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease
was attributable to, in part, $40.1 million of prior period reserve development on the prospectively rated book of business. Excluding prior period development
and the litigation reserve release, the total medical loss ratio for the year ended December 31, 2002, was 86.3%. The medical loss ratio in our commercial
managed care segment decreased to 86.0% for the year ended December 31, 2002, from 88.6% for the year ended December 31, 2001. Excluding New York
City and New York State PPO, the medical loss ratio in our commercial managed care segment decreased to 81.6% for the year ended December 31, 2002,
from 85.8% for the year ended December 31, 2001 due to better than anticipated claim experience. The medical loss ratio for other insurance products and
services decreased to 82.4% for the year ended December 31, 2002, from 86.2% for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Administrative expenses increased 12.2%, or $90.3 million, to $833.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $742.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. This increase was attributable to increased broker commissions of $18.8 million due to premium revenue growth in small group
and middle market customers, increased employee benefit expense of $15.6 million, increased professional services related to our technology outsourcing
strategy of $23.1 million, increased premium taxes of $6.2 million, employee-related transition costs of $9.5 million incurred as part of our outsourcing
agreement with IBM in June 2002,
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restructuring charges of $13.7 million related to our plan to streamline operations and other miscellaneous expenses. This increase was offset in part by a gain
of $19.3 million resulting from the settlement of our business property protection and blanket earnings and extra expense insurance claim related to the loss of
our headquarters located at the World Trade Center. Conversion and IPO expenses increased $13.4 million to $15.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 due to the increased conversion and IPO related activities as we reached the effective date of the
conversion and completed our initial public offering.

Income from continuing operations before income taxes increased 109.8%, or $162.1 million, to $309.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
from $147.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This improvement was primarily driven by increased commercial managed care membership and
improved underwriting performance. The tax benefit of $67.9 million increased income from continuing operations to $377.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002. The tax expense of $0.1 million reduced income from continuing operations to $147.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Taking into account our loss from discontinued operations, our net income for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $376.5 million and for year ended
December 31, 2001 was $131.0 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
WellChoice is a holding company and depends on its subsidiaries for cash and working capital to pay expenses. WellChoice receives cash from its
subsidiaries from administrative and management service fees, as well as tax sharing payments and dividends. On January 22, 2004, the New York State
Superintendent of Insurance, or Superintendent, approved the payment of a dividend to WellChoice from Empire in the amount of $120.0 million, which will
be paid during the first quarter of 2004. On June 17, 2003, the Superintendent approved the payment of a dividend to WellChoice from Empire in the amount
of $140.0 million, which was paid on June 30, 2003. Dividends paid to WellChoice from its subsidiaries in 2002 totaled $225.0 million. These dividends
have been accounted for as an equity transfer from a subsidiary to the parent of a consolidated group. In 2002, we received net proceeds of approximately
$28.0 million, after deducting the underwriting discount, from the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in our initial public offering. We used
these proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option to pay offering and conversion expenses and for general corporate purposes.
At December 31, 2003, total investments and cash and cash equivalents at WellChoice (the parent holding company) was $363.2 million. A stand-alone
condensed balance sheet of WellChoice, Inc. is presented in Schedule II of the supplemental schedules to our financial statements. See page F-36.

Our subsidiaries’ primary source of cash is from premiums and fees received and investment income. The primary uses of cash include healthcare
benefit expenses, brokers’ and agents’ commissions and administrative expenses. We generally receive premium revenues in advance of anticipated claims for
related healthcare services.
Our investment policies are designed to provide liquidity to meet anticipated payment obligations and to preserve principal. We believe the composition of
our marketable investment portfolio is conservative, consisting primarily of high-rated, fixed income securities with the objective of producing a consistently
growing income stream and maximizing risk-adjusted total return. Our fixed income portfolio is comprised of U.S. government securities, corporate bonds,
asset-backed bonds and mortgage-related securities. The average credit rating of our fixed income portfolio as of December 31, 2003 was “AA+.” A portion of
the fixed income portfolio is designated as short-term and is intended to cover near-term cash flow needs. Our marketable equity portfolio as of December 31,
2003 consisted of an investment in a mutual fund indexed to the S&P 500, our common stock investment in WebMD, our investment in non-redeemable
preferred stock of several companies and equity investments held in our nonqualified deferred compensation plans. As of December 31, 2003 our marketable
equity portfolio was 4.5% of the total marketable investment portfolio.
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In October 2003, we renewed our existing credit and guaranty agreement with The Bank of New York, as Issuing Bank and Administrative Agent, and
several other financial institutions as agents and lenders, which provides us with a credit facility. We are able to borrow under the credit facility, subject to
customary conditions, for general working capital purposes. The total outstanding amounts under the credit facility cannot exceed $100.0 million. The facility
has a term of 364 days with a current maturity date of October 15, 2004, subject to extension for additional periods of 364 days with the consent of the
lenders. Borrowings under the facility will bear interest, at our option, at The Bank of New York’s prime commercial rate (or, if greater, 0.50% plus the
federal funds rate) as in effect from time to time plus a margin of between zero and 1.0%, or LIBOR plus a margin of between 1.125% and 2.250%, with the
applicable margin to be determined based on our financial strength rating. As of December 31, 2003, there were no funds drawn against this line of credit.

The credit facility contains covenants that limit our ability to issue any equity interest which is not issued on a perpetual basis or in respect of which we
shall become liable to purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire any such interest, including any class of redeemable preferred stock. However, the credit
facility does not restrict us from paying dividends on our common stock or repurchasing or redeeming shares of our common stock. Covenants under the
credit facility also impose limitations on the incurrence of secured debt, creation of liens, mergers, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and material
amendments of material agreements, as defined in the credit facility without the consent of the lenders. In addition, the credit facility contains certain financial
covenants. Failure to comply with any of these covenants will result in an event of default, which could result in the termination of the credit facility.
We believe that cash flow from our operations and our cash and investment balances, including the proceeds of the dividends mentioned above, will be
sufficient to fund continuing operations and capital expenditures for the foreseeable future based on current assets and projected future cash flows.

Year ended December 31, 2003 compared to year ended December 31, 2002
Cash from operating activities increased $112.4 million to $295.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $182.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The increase in operating cash flow was primarily due to the following:

•

Increased premiums and administrative fees collected resulting from increases in membership and rates partially offset by an increase in cost of
benefits paid contributed approximately $153.8 million in additional cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2003 when compared to December
31, 2002.

•

We made premium tax payments of $69.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to premium tax payments of $1.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase is attributed to the Company’s for-profit conversion and an increase in the premium tax rate.

•

Income tax payments for the year ended December 31, 2003 were $79.9 million compared to $90.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.
The decrease is attributable to a federal tax payment made in 2002 of approximately $22.0 million relating to 2001 partially offset by a $15.4
million increase in state income tax payment in 2003 compared to 2002. The increase in state income tax payments is related to the Company’s forprofit conversion.

•

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we returned advanced premium relating to our New York State account of $36.3 million compared to $75.8
million returned for the year ended December 31, 2002. The reduction in the amount returned is due to the fact that we were holding a smaller
amount of advanced premium, which is available to be returned to the state.

•

In 2002, operating cash flow reflects $46.5 million in World Trade Center insurance proceeds, net of recovery expense.

•

Our managed cash overdraft liability (outstanding check liability) increased to $198.0 million at December 31, 2003 from $170.3 million at
December 31, 2002.
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•

In 2003, we received approximately $44.1 million in Market Stabilization Pool recoveries. The increase is attributable to distributions for prior
years. The distributions were offset by approximately $19.7 in premium refunds related to the distribution received.

•

In 2003, we made payments totaling $20.5 million relating to outsourcing and restructuring initiatives undertaken in 2002, compared to $2.2
million paid in 2002. These payments were primarily severance and stay bonus related.

•

Group and other contract liabilities resulted in approximately $0.7 million in operating cash outflow in 2003 compared to an inflow of $16.3 million
in 2002. This decrease is primarily attributable to activity related to our New York City account.

Cash used in investing activities decreased $43.9 million to $85.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, from $129.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002. This decrease is primarily due to agency bonds in our investment portfolio being called due to declining interest rates. Cash received
for these bonds were reinvested in cash equivalents. Fixed asset purchases for the year ended December 31, 2003 were $43.5 million, of which $26.9 million
was spent on leasehold improvements and capital expenditures to prepare our facility in Brooklyn, New York, for occupancy beginning September 2003.
Fixed asset purchases for the year ended December 31, 2002 were $33.7 million, of which $2.0 million was spent on capital expenditures to prepare Metrotech
for occupancy.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, represents new capital leases related to office
equipment, offset in part by payments for existing capital lease obligations. Net cash provided by financing activities of $25.6 million includes net proceeds
from the sale of common stock in the initial public offering of $28.0 million and payments made on capital lease obligations of $2.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Year ended December 31, 2002 compared to year ended December 31, 2001
Cash from operating activities decreased $31.6 million to $182.7 million as of December 31, 2002, from $214.3 million as of December 31, 2001. The
decrease in cash from operating activities is principally due to a $75.8 million return of advanced premium held related to our New York State account
compared to an increase of premium held of approximately $24.4 million in 2001 and an increase of $74.0 million in taxes paid. This decrease was partially
offset by $46.5 million in World Trade Center insurance proceeds, net of recovery expense, and positive operating results net of non-cash items. Some of the
non-cash items impacting net income include the net deferred income tax benefit of $151.4 million, litigation reserve releases of $15.4 million related to the
settlement of a large case and prior year “at risk” claim reserve adjustments, offset in part by depreciation and amortization expense of $34.5 million and
accrued restructuring expenses of $20.9 million.

Net cash used in investing activities of $129.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, was consistent with cash used in investing activities of
$129.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $25.6 million includes net proceeds from the sale of common stock in the initial public offering of $28.0
million and payments made on capital lease obligations of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Cash used in financing activities of $1.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2001 reflects payments for capital lease obligations.

Market Stabilization Pools
The New York State Community Rating Law requires insurers and HMOs writing small employer (groups with less than 50 eligible employees) and
individual (non-group) business to participate in certain market stabilization pools. Under the Community Rating Law there are two major Pools: a pool for
direct pay and small group contracts excluding Medicare Supplemental contracts (“non-Med Supp Pool”) and a pool for Medicare Supplemental contracts
(“Med Supp Pool”). Both Pools operate on a calendar year basis.
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For Pool years prior to 1996, payments to and from the Pools were based on demographic data submitted by insurers. The non-Med Supp Pool also
contained a component that reimbursed insurers for a portion of claim costs related to certain specified medical conditions. Effective January 1, 1996, the
Community Rating Law was amended. The Community Rating Law, as amended, changed the pooling mechanism from one based on demographics and
specified medical conditions to a method based on the experience for approximately fifty medical markers on medical conditions.
The revised Community Rating Law required that the demographic and specified medical conditions approach be phased out over a four-year period.
The revised methodology is complex and, as a result, implementing regulations were not issued until 2002. During this period, an interim method to distribute
the portion of the Pools based on the new methodology for non-Med Supp Pool funds was developed for Pool years 1996 through 1998. Also during this time,
the New York State Insurance Department determined that the demographic approach was permissible under the 1996 law and would continue to be the
method used for the Med Supp Pool.

Distributions from the non-Med Supp Pool have been made through 1998 and distributions for the Med Supp Pool have been made for years through
1996 and for the years 2000 through 2003. In 2002, we received a distribution for non-Med Supp Pool year 1998 of $1.7 million. In 2003, we received a
distribution from the Pool for Med Supp Pool years 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 of $12.6 million, $12.8 million, $12.8 million and $5.9 million,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2003, we had not established a receivable or payable for non-Med Supp Pool years 1999 through 2003 and Med Supp Pool years
1997 through 1999, due to the general uncertainty surrounding the ultimate disposition of payments to or receipts from the Pools and the lack of data
necessary to appropriately estimate such amounts. Our ultimate payment to or receipts from these Pools may have a material impact to our financial
statements.
As result of the Med Supp Pool distributions received in 2003 for Med Supp Pool years 2000, 2001 and 2002, our Medicare Supplemental product loss
ratio fell below the minimum medical loss ratio allowed under New York insurance regulations. As a result, we were required to issue premium refunds
totaling $19.7 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003 that had or could have a material impact to our financial
statements.

Contractual Obligations
We are contractually obligated to make future minimum payments as follows:

Lease commitments:
Operating leases
Capital leases
IBM agreement
Other purchase obligations
Projected other postretirement benefits (1)

(1)

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Thereafter

$ 35.6
12.4
99.7
11.5
7.9

$ 30.5
12.7
102.1
7.8

$ 31.8
12.9
84.7
7.5
8.8

$ 31.4
13.1
72.0
7.2
9.2

$ 31.5

$275.8
23.8
206.0
1.8

8.4

13.4

66.4
6.7
9.2

Projected benefit payments in the “Thereafter” column reflect projected payments from 2009-2013.

Operating and Capital Leases
Our lease terms generally range from one to 27 years with certain early termination or renewal provisions. The schedule above includes rent
commitments for our Staten Island facility. However, as part of the
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information technology outsourcing agreement with IBM, we entered into a sublease agreement with IBM for this property. The Company expects to receive net
sublease income of approximately $1.4 million per year until 2012.

IBM Agreement
In June 2002, we entered into a ten-year agreement with IBM to enhance and modernize our systems applications and operate our data center and
technical help desk. Our payments to IBM for operating our data center and technical help desk will be based upon actual utilization of services billed at the
rates established in the agreement. We estimate that our payments to IBM for operating our data center and technical help desk and providing certain core
applications software development will total approximately $586.1 million over the remaining term of the agreement, which we anticipate to be less than the
costs which we would have otherwise incurred had we continued to operate the data center and technical help desk ourselves.

Pursuant to the IBM agreement, we have undertaken to work jointly with IBM to enhance and modernize our systems applications. Some of the systems
application software development will be performed overseas from IBM’s offices in Bangalore, India or, in the event this facility becomes unavailable during
the life of the agreement, services will be provided from a replacement facility. These applications include technological enhancements based on the ongoing
requirements of our business and solutions developed based upon our specifications. We will own the software developed by IBM under the agreement, other
than the claims payment system described below.

We anticipate that the systems applications will be integrated with a new claims payment system being developed by deNovis, a privately-held, start-up
company, in coordination with IBM. The new claims payment system will be licensed to us when it is completed. The development of the system has been
delayed by deNovis and as a result we do not expect the system to be ready for acceptance by us in accordance with its specifications any earlier than 2006 –
an approximate two-year delay from the original July 2004 date we had agreed upon with IBM in June 2002. We do not believe this delay will have any material
impact on our operations because our existing claims payment system is adequate to meet our needs.

Subject to the successful completion and acceptance of the claims payment system, we will pay $50.0 million for a perpetual license granted by IBM,
which includes custom development fees. Under the agreement with IBM, we are scheduled to pay $25.0 million of this fee in four equal installments upon the
achievement of the following milestones: (1) receipt of the production ready claims payment system; (2) installation of the production ready claims payment
system; (3) completion of testing of the production ready claims payment system; and (4) our acceptance of the production ready claims payment system.
None of these milestones have been completed and we do not expect any of them to be achieved before 2006. The remaining $25.0 million will be paid one year
following the date we accept the claims payment system. Following the expiration of the one-year warranty period that begins upon the payment of the final
installment, we will pay IBM an annual fee of $10.0 million for maintenance and support services.
We had agreed to purchase $65.0 million in modernization and other additional services from IBM (including integration services provided by IBM in
connection with the claims payment system) over a five-year period beginning in 2002, with annual target purchase rates through 2006. In September 2003,
IBM and we agreed to reduce our commitment by $10.0 million to $55.0 million and to spread out the annual target purchase rate over a seven-year period
ending in 2008. In addition, we accelerated the repayment of $7.3 million of price concessions granted under the original contract.
We may defer the purchase of services beyond the target date, provided that to the extent we delay purchases more than one year beyond the target year,
the aggregate purchase commitment will be increased by an amount equal to 10% per annum of purchases so delayed. The amount that we will actually spend
for these additional services could be less or greater than the annual target purchase rate. We expect that our spending on
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modernization and additional IBM services will continue to be at levels consistent with our overall expectations of administrative expenses as a percentage of
premiums earned and administrative service fees.

Our outsourcing agreement with IBM contains standard indemnification clauses which reduce the risks associated with a variety of claims and actions,
including certain failures of IBM to perform under the agreement. We have the right to terminate certain services if IBM fails to meet our quality and
performance benchmarks and we may terminate our relationship with IBM in its entirety upon the occurrence of material breaches under the agreement, IBM’s
entrance into the health insurance business, changes of control and certain other events which are damaging to us. We can terminate the outsourcing agreement
without cause after June 1, 2004, or at any time within twelve months following a change of control of WellChoice, provided that we pay IBM a termination
fee. The termination fee includes a lump sum payment which decreases over the life of the agreement. For any WellChoice termination without cause, the lump
sum decreases from $25.0 million beginning in June 2004 to $0.9 million in January 2012. We have the right to pay only a portion of this lump sum payment
if we choose not to terminate the entire agreement but only certain discrete portions of IBM’s services. Any termination following a change of control of
WellChoice requires a similar lump sum payment which decreases over the life of the agreement and which is approximately 80% of the payment described in
the previous sentence, although we do not have the similar right to terminate only portions of IBM’s services, as allowed with a termination without cause. In
addition, upon termination we must reimburse certain of IBM’s costs, subject to reduction to the extent we purchase equipment, assume licenses and leases
and hire employees used by IBM to provide the services. We also have the right to terminate the agreement at no cost within six months following a change of
control of IBM.
Under the terms of the agreement we cannot perform or engage a third party to perform any of the data center or technical help desk services, or more
than 20% of the core applications software development services, outsourced to IBM without the written consent of IBM. For purposes of completing the
contractual commitments table on page 59 of this report, we have included an estimate of all services relating to the data center, technical help desk and core
applications software development as well as our purchase commitment related to modernization and other additional services.

Other Purchase Obligations
Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on us and that specify all significant
terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.
Purchase obligations exclude agreements that are cancelable without penalty.

Regulatory and Other Developments
Empire is subject to capital and surplus requirements under the New York insurance laws and the capital and surplus licensure requirements
established by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association. Each of these standards is based on the NAIC’s RBC Model Act, which provides for four different
levels of regulatory attention depending on the ratio of a company’s total adjusted capital (defined as the total of its statutory capital, surplus, asset valuation
reserve and dividend liability) to its risk-based capital. The capital and surplus level required to meet the minimum requirements under the New York
insurance laws and Blue Cross Blue Shield Association licensure requirements applicable to Empire is 200% of Risk-Based Capital Authorized Control Level.
Empire exceeds the New York minimum capital and surplus requirements and the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association capital and surplus licensure
requirements.
Capital and surplus requirements for Empire HealthChoice HMO, Inc., our HMO subsidiary which is directly owned by Empire, are regulated under a
different method set forth in the New York Department of Health’s HMO regulations. The regulations require that Empire HealthChoice HMO currently
maintain reserves of five percent of its annual premium income. Empire HealthChoice HMO, with respect to its operations in New York, meets the financial
reserve standards of the New York Department of Health. The Department of Health is
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currently redrafting its regulations and proposes to increase the required reserves gradually over the next six years to twelve and one half percent of annual
premium income. If that requirement changes it will affect all HMOs and we expect we will meet those revised standards. In November 2002, Empire
HealthChoice HMO received a $50.0 million capital contribution from Empire, which was made in connection with the transfer of our New York HMO
business from HealthChoice to Empire HealthChoice HMO during 2002 in order to ensure compliance with New York capital and surplus requirements.
Empire HealthChoice HMO is also licensed in New Jersey and there are minimum net worth standards established under New Jersey laws and regulations.
Empire HealthChoice HMO, with respect to its operations in New Jersey, meets the minimum net worth standards established under New Jersey law. Empire
HealthChoice HMO is also subject to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association capital and surplus licensure requirement which is applicable to Empire and
satisfies that requirement.

Our New Jersey operations are not subject to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association capital and surplus licensure requirement. At December 31, 2003,
WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey met the minimum capital and surplus requirements of the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance.

Regulation of financial reserves for insurers and HMOs is a frequent topic of legislative and regulatory scrutiny and proposals for change. It is possible
that the method of measuring the adequacy of our financial reserves could change and that could affect our financial condition. However, any such change is
likely to affect all companies in the state.

The ability of our insurance and HMO subsidiaries to pay dividends to us is subject to regulatory requirements, including state insurance laws and
health department regulations and regulatory surplus or admitted asset requirements, respectively. These laws and regulations require the approval of the
applicable state insurance department or health regulators in order to pay any proposed dividend over a certain amount. For example, any proposed dividend to
WellChoice from Empire, which, together with other dividends paid within the preceding twelve-month period, exceeds the lesser of 10% of its surplus to
policyholders or 100% of adjusted net investment income will be subject to approval by the New York Department of Insurance. The provisions of our Blue
Cross and Blue Shield licenses also may limit our ability to obtain dividends or other cash payments from our subsidiaries as they require our licensed
subsidiaries to retain certain levels of minimum surplus and liquidity.

Critical Accounting Estimates
The following is an explanation of our accounting policies considered most significant by management. These accounting policies require us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates and assumptions could
change in the future as more information is known. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Our membership contracts generally have one year terms and are subject to cancellation upon 60 days written notice. Premiums are generally due
monthly and are recognized as revenue during the period in which we are obligated to provide services to our members. We record premiums received prior to
such periods as unearned premiums. We record premiums earned net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Premiums recorded for groups with
retrospectively rated arrangements are based upon the actual and estimated claims experience of these groups. Future adjustments to the claims experience of
these groups will result in changes in premium revenue. Our estimated claim experience is based on a number of factors, including prior claims experience. We
continually review theses estimates and adjust them based on actual claims experience. Any changes in these estimates are included in current period results.
Funds received from these groups in excess of premiums recorded are reflected as liabilities on our balance sheet.
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We recognize administrative service fees during the period in which the related services are performed. Administrative service fees consist of revenues
from the performance of administrative services for self-funded contracts, reimbursements from our contracts with CMS under which we serve as an
intermediary for the Medicare Part A program and a carrier for the Medicare Part B program, and fees earned under the BlueCard program. We record the
revenue earned under our contracts with CMS net of an allowance for an estimate of disallowed expenses.

Cost of Benefits Provided
Cost of benefits provided includes claims paid, claims in process and pending, and an estimate for unreported claims for charges for healthcare services
for enrolled members during the period. These costs include payments to primary care physicians, specialists, hospitals, pharmacies, outpatient care facilities
and the costs associated with administering such care. Costs of benefits are recorded net of pharmacy rebates, coordination of benefits and pool recoveries.
We are required to estimate the total amount of claims that have not been reported or that have been received, but not yet adjudicated, during any
accounting period. These estimates, referred to as unpaid claims on our balance sheet, are recorded as liabilities.

We estimate claim reserves in accordance with Actuarial Standards of Practice promulgated by the Actuarial Standards Board, the committee of the
American Academy of Actuaries that establishes the professional guidelines and standards for actuaries to follow. A considerable degree of judgment is
involved in estimating reserves. We make assumptions regarding the propriety of using existing claims data as the basis for projecting future payments.
Factors we consider include medical cost trends, the mix of products and benefits sold, internal processing changes and the amount of time it took to pay all of
the benefits for claims from prior periods. To the extent the actual amount of these claims is greater than the estimated amount based on our underlying
assumptions, these differences would be recorded as additional cost of benefits provided in subsequent accounting periods and our future earnings would be
adversely affected. To the extent the claims experience is less than estimated based on our underlying assumptions, these differences would be recorded as a
reduction in cost of benefits provided in subsequent accounting periods.

The Unpaid Claims and Claims Adjustment Expense shown in our balance sheet as of December 31, 2003 consisted of the following components ($ in
millions):

$ 571.2
18.9
19.4

Pending and incurred but not yet reported, or IBNR, claims
Claim adjustment expense reserve
Other claim related reserves

609.5

Total

As reflected in this table, approximately 94% of the liability for Unpaid Claims and Claims Adjustment Expense is for pending and IBNR claims. Of
the estimate for pending and IBNR claims, approximately 79% is for claims incurred in the most recent three months. Estimates of these three months’ claims
are based on projected per member per month, or PMPM, costs and the actual member counts during this period. The following table presents the impact on
Unpaid Claims and Claims Adjustment Expense of changes in the annualized cost trend underlying the projected PMPM costs for the most recent three
months.
Increase/(Decrease) in

Increase/(Decrease) in

Claim Cost Trend

Unpaid Claim Estimate

(3)%
(2)%
(1)%

$

1%
2%
3%
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(27.3)
(18.2)
(9.1)
9.1
18.3
27.4
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Estimates of the remaining pending and IBNR claims for those claims incurred more than three months prior to the reporting date were based on claims
actually paid during this period and completion factors developed from historical payment lag patterns. A completion factor is the ratio of the claims for a
given month that are paid to date as of the reporting date to the ultimate amount expected to be paid for that month. The following shows the impact on Unpaid
Claims and Claims Adjustment Expense of changes in the completion factors used in projecting the ultimate cost for claims incurred over three months prior to
the reporting date.
Increase/(Decrease) in

Increase/(Decrease) in

Completion Factor

Unpaid Claim Estimate

(0.3)%
(0.2)%
(0.1)%
0.1%
0.2%
0.3%

$

($ in millions)

40.9
27.2
13.6
(10.3)
(17.0)

(22.6)

It should be noted that the dollar amounts shown in the tables above would not necessarily flow directly to income from continuing operations. In
prospectively rated business, we are at risk for negative experience – where actual claim costs and other expenses are greater than those expected—and benefit
from positive experience – where claim costs and other expenses are less than those expected. By contrast, in retrospectively rated business, the customer is at
risk. Generally speaking only the portion of the reserve change which affects prospectively rated business impacts income from continuing operations. At
December 31, 2003, approximately 48.0% of the $571.2 million of reserve for Pending and IBNR claims were held for prospectively rated business.
We believe that the recorded unpaid claim liability is adequate to cover our ultimate liability for unpaid claims as of December 31, 2003. Actual claim
payments and other items may differ from our estimates. Assuming a hypothetical 1% difference between our December 31, 2003 estimates of unpaid claims
and actual claims payable for our prospectively rated business, net income from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2003, would increase
or decrease by approximately $1.7 million and earnings per share would increase or decrease by approximately $0.02 per share.

As shown in Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement, there was $82.1 million of favorable reserve development in 2003 for claims
incurred in 2002 and prior years. Our revised estimate of the liability on 2002 and prior years’ claims was lower than our original estimate at December 31,
2002. This favorable development was the result of:

•

$34.9 million related to amounts we received with respect to the New York State Medicare Supplemental Stabilization Pool for years 2000, 2001 and
2002;

•

$44.3 million favorable development of general claim liability; and

•

$2.9 million amortization of premium deficiency reserve in one of our subsidiaries.

Of the $44.3 million favorable development of general claim liability, $23.8 million relates to 2002, $14.8 million to 2001, and $5.7 million to 2000 and
prior. As a result of the $34.9 million net Pool receipts, we distributed approximately $19.7 million of premium refunds to Medicare Supplemental contract
holders during the fourth quarter of 2003.

Taxes
We account for income taxes using the liability method. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to the difference between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax
asset to the amount we
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believe is more likely than not to be realized. This determination, which requires considerable judgment, is based on a number of assumptions including an
estimate of future taxable income. If future taxable income or other factors are not consistent with our expectations, an adjustment to our deferred tax asset may
be required in the future. Any such adjustment would be charged or credited to income in the period such determination was made.

Retirement Benefits
Pension Benefits
We sponsor defined benefit cash-balance pension plans for our employees. As discussed in Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, we account for these plans in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions (“FAS 87”). FAS
87 requires us to make significant assumptions including estimating the expected return on pension plan assets and the discount rate used to determine the
current pension obligation. Changes to these assumptions will affect pension expense.
One important factor in determining our pension expense is the assumption for expected return on plan assets. As of December 31, 2003, our expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets was 7.50% (which was reduced from 8.00% for our 2002 expense recognition). The expected rate of return assumption is
determined by taking into account our expectations regarding future rates of return for the investment portfolio, with consideration given to the distribution of
investments by asset class and historical rates of return for each class. A 0.5% decrease (increase) in the expected return on plan assets would increase
(decrease) pension expense by approximately $2.3 million.

We apply this assumed long-term rate of return on assets to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in
a systematic manner over five years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that we include as a component of pension expense. Each year, the gain
or loss from asset performance, which is measured as the difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets for that year, is deferred
and recognized in the market related value of assets as 20% increments for each of the five years following the gain or loss. The net deferral of past asset gains
and losses affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension expense.
Our pension plans have $59.9 million of cumulative unrecognized losses as of the December 31, 2003 measurement date. Generally, these losses are
amortized into expense each year on a straight-line basis over the remaining expected future-working lifetime of active participants (currently approximately 12
years), to the extent that such losses exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation and the market related value of assets. The estimated impact to
the 2004 pension expense as a result of the amortization of these losses is approximately $1.3 million.
The discount rate reflects the current rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled at the end of the year based on our measurement date.
At our last measurement date (December 31, 2003), we lowered our discount rate to 6.0% (from 6.5% as of December 31, 2002 and 7.0% as of December 31,
2001). Changes in the discount rates over the past three years have resulted in an increase to pension expense from what it otherwise would have been. The net
effect on liabilities attributable to changes in the discount rate, as well as the net effect of other changes in actuarial assumptions and experience, have been
deferred and amortized as a component of pension expense in accordance with FAS 87.

At December 31, 2003, our prepaid benefit cost for the qualified and supplemental pension plans combined was $53.5 million compared to $45.2
million at December 31, 2002. The prepaid benefits cost represents the end of period excess of the fair value of plan assets over the benefit obligation plus or
minus amounts not yet recognized. Net pension income included as a component of administrative expense was $7.4 million, $6.0 million and $8.7 million
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we did not contribute any funding into our cash
balance pension plans and based on the current funded status, do not anticipate any contributions during 2004.
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Other Postretirement Benefits
We provide most employees certain life, medical, vision and dental benefits upon retirement. As discussed in Note 2 to the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements we account for these plans in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions (“FAS 106”). In accordance with FAS 106, we use various actuarial assumptions including the discount rate and the expected
trend in health care costs to estimate the costs and benefit obligations for our retiree health plan.
At December 31, 2003, we lowered our discount rate to 6.0% (from 6.5% for our 2003 expense recognition). The assumed health care cost trend rate used
in measuring the other benefit obligations was 10% in 2003 for all participants under age 65, 30.7% for participants in Medicare HMOs and 9.0% for
participants age 65 and over in indemnity plans, decreasing gradually each year until ultimately leveling out at 4.5% in 2009.

At December 31, 2003, our liability for postretirement benefits other than pensions was $142.7 million compared to $143.7 million at December 31,
2002. Expected future benefit payments with respect to liabilities under these plans can be found in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of this
report.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standard Board issued SFAS No. 132 (Revised 2003), Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Postretirement Benefits. This Statement amends Statements No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions , No. 88, Employers’ Accounting for
Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits , and No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions . However, the Statement does not change the recognition and measurement requirements of those Statements. This Statement
retains the disclosure requirements contained in SFAS No. 132, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits , which it
replaces and requires additional disclosure. Additional new disclosure includes actual mix of plan assets by category, a description of investment strategies
and policies used, a narrative description of the basis for determining the overall expected long-term rate of return on asset assumption and aggregate expected
contributions.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, or MMA, was signed into law. The MMA
introduced a voluntary Medicare part D prescription drug benefit and created a new 28% federal subsidy for the sponsors of the postretirement prescription
drug benefits that are at least actuarially equivalent to the new Medicare Part D benefit. Under SFAS No. 106-1, Accounting for Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions, sponsors must consider the two new features in measuring the Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation (“APBO”) and net
periodic postretirement benefit cost. In accordance with SFAS No. 106-1, the Company made a one-time election to defer recognition of the impact on SFAS
No. 106 accounting. Any measures of APBO and net periodic postretirement benefit cost in the financial statements and the related footnotes for the year ended
December 31, 2003 do not reflect the effects of the MMA. Currently, specific authoritative guidance on accounting for the federal subsidy is pending and that
guidance when issued could require the Company to change previously reported information. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS
106-1 will materially affect the financial statements.

Investments
We classify all of our fixed maturity and marketable equity investments as available for sale and, accordingly, they are carried at fair value. The fair
value of investments in fixed maturities and marketable equity securities are based on quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses are reported as a
separate component of other comprehensive income, net of deferred income taxes. The factors used to determine whether unrealized losses are considered other
than temporary are the length of time the security has been in an unrealized loss position, the market to book value ratio and other relevant qualitative
considerations. The amortized cost of fixed
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maturities, including certain trust preferred securities, is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity, which is included in
investment income. Amortization of premiums and discounts on collateralized mortgage obligations are adjusted for prepayment patterns using the retrospective
method. Investment income is shown net of investment expenses. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. When the fair value
of an investment is lower than its cost and such a decline is determined to be other than temporary, the cost of the investment is written down to fair value and
the amount of the write down is charged to net income as a realized loss.

Short-term investments are carried at fair value, and consist principally of U.S. treasury bills, commercial paper and money market investments. We
consider securities with maturities greater than three months and less than one year at the date of purchase as short-term investments. The fair value of shortterm investments is based on quoted market prices.
Other long-term equity investments include joint ventures and warrants. Joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method. Our warrants are
considered derivatives and are carried at fair value. Our warrants are not classified as hedging instruments. Fair values of warrants are determined using the
Black Scholes Options Valuation Model. Changes in the fair values of warrants are recorded as realized gains or losses.

We are subject to state laws and regulations that require diversification of our investment portfolios and limit the amount our insurance company
subsidiaries may invest in certain investment categories, such as below-investment-grade fixed income securities, mortgage loans, real estate and equity
investments. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations might cause investments exceeding regulatory limitations to be treated as non-admitted assets
for purposes of measuring statutory surplus and risk-based capital and, in some instances, require the sale of those investments.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Our fixed maturity and marketable equity securities are subject to the risk of potential losses from adverse market conditions. To manage the potential
for economic losses, we regularly evaluate certain risks, as well as the appropriateness of the investments, to ensure the portfolio is managed within its risk
guidelines. The result is a portfolio that is well diversified. Our primary risk exposures are changes in market interest rates, credit quality and changes in
equity prices. The market value of our investments varies from time to time depending on economic and market conditions. Our investment portfolio is not
significantly concentrated in any particular industry or geographic region.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is defined as the potential for economic losses on fixed-rate securities due to an adverse change in market interest rates. Our fixed
maturity portfolio consists exclusively of U.S. dollar-denominated assets, invested primarily in U.S. government securities, corporate bonds, asset-backed
bonds and mortgage-related securities, all of which represent an exposure to changes in the level of market interest rates. We manage interest rate risk by
maintaining a duration commensurate with our insurance liabilities and policyholders’ surplus. Further, we do not engage in the use of derivatives to manage
interest rate risk. A hypothetical increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would result in an estimated decrease in the fair value of the fixed income portfolio
at December 31, 2003 of approximately $44.8 million.

Credit Quality Risk
Credit quality risk is defined as the risk of a credit downgrade to an individual fixed income security and the potential loss attributable to that
downgrade. We manage this risk through our investment policy, which establishes credit quality limitations on the overall portfolio as well as dollar limits for
individual issuers. The result is a well-diversified portfolio of fixed income securities, with an average credit rating of approximately “AA+.”
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Fixed Maturity Securities Quality Distribution
The following chart shows the quality distribution of our fixed maturity securities portfolio as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 (at fair
value):
December 31,
2003

Percent
of Total

December 31,
2002

Percent
of Total

(dollars in millions)

Total fixed maturity
Aaa
Aa
A
Baa
Total fixed maturity
Total fixed maturity corporate securities:
Industrial
Finance
Utility
Asset-backed securities
Other

$ 995.3
72.7
193.1
8.6

5.7
15.2

$1,269.7

100.0%

$

Total fixed maturity corporate securities
Total mortgage-related securities:
Mortgage pass through certificates
Collateralized mortgage obligations

$

892.3
70.7
251.3
8.5

72.9%
5.8
20.6

$ 1,222.8

100.0%

$

0.7

6.7%
80.8

37.2
251.3

1.2

20.4

0.7

3.1

30.0

10.1%
68.2
5.5
8.2

8.2

29.5

8.0

$

430.2

100.0%

$

368.4

100.0%

$

6.3
203.6

3.0%

$

97.0

12.0
162.6

6.9%
93.1

209.9

100.0%

$

174.6

100.0%

$

Total mortgage-related securities

28.8
347.5
5.3
13.5
35.1

78.4%

Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk for stocks is defined as the potential for economic losses due to an adverse change in equity prices. Equity risk exposure is managed
through our investment in an indexed mutual fund. Specifically, we are invested in the ML S&P 500 Index LLC, which is an S&P 500 index mutual fund,
resulting in a well-diversified and liquid portfolio that replicates the risk and performance of the broad U.S. stock market. We also hold a direct common
stock investment in WebMD and investments in non-redeemable preferred stock of several companies. Our investment in non-redeemable preferred stock is
managed in conjunction with our fixed maturity portfolio. We estimate our equity price risk from a hypothetical 10% decline in the S&P 500 and the relative
effect of that decline in the value of our marketable equity portfolio at December 31, 2003 to be a decrease in fair value of $5.0 million.

Fixed Income Securities
Our fixed income strategy is to construct and manage a high quality, diversified portfolio of securities. Additionally, our investment policy establishes
minimum quality and diversification requirements resulting in an average credit rating of approximately “AA+.” The average duration of our portfolio as of
December 31, 2003 was 3.1 years.

68

Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplemental Schedules on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
(a) We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our filings under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the periods specified in the rules and forms of the Commission.
Such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
recognizes that any set of controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives.

(b) As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective at the “reasonable assurance” level.

(c) There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors, which could significantly affect the internal controls subsequent to
the date of their evaluation in connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

69

Table of Contents

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
The information required by Item 10, as to (a) directors of the registrant and (b) compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
is incorporated by reference from the information under the headings “Nominees for the Board of Directors” and “Section 16A Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.
Certain information regarding the registrant’s executive officers is included in Part I immediately following Item 4 above.

We have adopted a Corporate Code of Ethics and Business Conduct applicable to all employees and Board members. The Corporate Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct includes a Supplementary Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals which is applicable to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Controller and all other persons performing similar functions. The Corporate Code and Supplemental Code are posted on our website,
www.wellchoice.com. In order to access this portion of our website, click on the “Investors” tab, then on the “Corporate Governance” caption. Any
amendments to, or waivers of, the Corporate Code of Ethics and Business Conduct which specifically relate to any Financial Professional will be disclosed on
our website promptly following the date of such amendment or waiver. A copy of the Corporate Code may be obtained upon request, without charge, by
contacting our Investor Relations Department at 212-476-7800 or by writing to us at WellChoice, Inc., 11 West 42 nd St., New York, NY 10036, Attn: Senior
Vice President, Communications.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the information under the headings “Compensation of Directors,” “Executive
Compensation,” and “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the information under the headings “Questions and Answers - Does any
stockholder own more than 5% of WellChoice’s Common Stock,” and “Stock Ownership of Management” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the information under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the information under the heading “Proposals On Which You May Vote
—Ratification of the Reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Independent Auditors for 2004” in the Proxy Statement.
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Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.
(a)

(1) and (2) Financial Statements and Supplemental Schedules
The consolidated financial statements and Supplemental Schedules of the registrant listed in the “Index of Consolidated Financial Statements and
Supplemental Schedules” on page F-1 together with the report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, are filed as part of this report.
(3) Exhibits:

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report (other than exhibits 32.1 and 32.2, which are being furnished with this report):
Number

Description

2.1

New York State Superintendent of Insurance’s Opinion and Decision approving Plan Of Conversion, dated October 8, 2002 (1)

2.2

Form of Transfer and Exchange Agreement between the Fund and WellChoice, Inc. (1)

2.3

Form of Transfer and Exchange Agreement between the Foundation and WellChoice, Inc. (1)

2.4

Form of Transfer Agreement between WellChoice, Inc. as transferee, and Empire HealthChoice, Inc., as transferor (1)

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of WellChoice, Inc. (2)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of WellChoice, Inc., as amended as of July 23, 2003 (5)

4.1

Specimen Common Stock certificate (1)

4.2

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of November 7, 2002, by and among WellChoice, Inc., The New York Public Asset Fund and The
New York Charitable Asset Foundation (2)

9.1

Voting Trust and Divestiture Agreement dated as of November 7, 2002, by and among WellChoice Inc., The New York Public Asset Fund and
The Bank of New York, as trustee (2)

10.1*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc. Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan—2000 Plan Description (1)

10.2*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc. Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan—2001 Plan Description (1)

10.3*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc. Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan—2002 Plan Description (1)

10.4*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc. Executive Savings Plan, as Amended and Restated effective January 1, 1999 (1)
(a)

First Amendment to the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan Trust +

(b)

Second Amendment to the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan, as Amended and Restated as of January 1,
2001 +

(c)

Third Amendment to the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan, As Amended and Restated as of January 1,
2001 +

10.5*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc., 1998-2000 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (1)

10.6*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc., 1999-2001 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (1)

10.7*

Empire HealthChoice, Inc., 2000-2002 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (1)

10.8*

WellChoice, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (1)
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Description

10.10

Form of Blue Cross License Agreement (1)

10.11

Form of Blue Shield License Agreement (1)

10.12†

Master Services Agreement, dated June 1, 2002, between Empire HealthChoice, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation (1)

10.13

Software License and Support Agreement, dated June 1, 2002, between Empire HealthChoice, Inc. and International Business Machines
Corporation (1)

10.14

Agreement of Lease, dated January 17, 2002, between Forest City Myrtle Associates, LLC as Landlord and Empire HealthChoice, Inc. d/b/a/
Blue Cross Blue Shield as Tenant (1)

10.15

Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2002 (1)

10.16

Form of Empire Blue Cross Blue Shield License Addendum to Blue Cross and Blue Shield License Agreements (1)

10.17

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement (1)

10.18*

Change in Control Retention Agreement, dated December 18, 2002, between WellChoice, Inc. and Michael A. Stocker, M.D. (3)

10.20*

Change in Control Retention Agreement, dated December 23, 2002, between WellChoice, Inc. and John Remshard (3)

10.22*

WellChoice, Inc. Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan – 2003 Plan Description (4)

10.24*

WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended+

10.25*

WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (5)

10.26

Second Amendment dated October 16, 2003 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement (6)

10.27*

Change in Control Retention Agreement dated April 30, 2003 between WellChoice, Inc. and Gloria McCarthy (6)

10.28*

Change in Control Retention Agreement dated December 23, 2002, between WellChoice, Inc. and Linda V. Tiano+

10.29*

Change in Control Retention Agreement dated December 23, 2002, between WellChoice, Inc. and Jason Gorevic+

10.30*

WellChoice, Inc. Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan – 2004 Plan Description.+

10.31*

WellChoice, Inc. Directors Deferred Cash Compensation Plan+

10.32*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement and Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award relating to Restricted Stock Unit Awards issued to
Non-Management Directors+

21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant+

23

Consent of Independent Auditors+

24

Power of Attorney (see signature page) to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein+

31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002+

31.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002+

32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002+

32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002+
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+

†
*
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)
(b)

Filed herewith.
Omits information for which confidential treatment has been granted.
Management contracts, compensatory plans or arrangements.
Previously filed as the same numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-99051) and incorporated herein by
reference thereto.
Previously filed as the same numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference thereto.
Previously filed as the same numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 21, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference thereto.
Previously filed as the same numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 7, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference thereto.
Previously filed as the same numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed July 24, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference
thereto.
Previously filed as the same numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed October 24, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference thereto.

Reports on Form 8-K:
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, the registrant filed the following report on Form 8-K:

On October 24, 2003, we filed with the Commission a Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 24, 2003, disclosing under Items 9 and 12 our
earnings for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and certain non-GAAP financial information.
(c)

Refer to Item 15(a)(3) of this report.

(d)

Refer to Item 15 (a)(2) of this report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WELLCHOICE, INC.

Date: February 12, 2004

(Registrant)
By:

/s/ MICHAEL A. S TOCKER, M.D.
Michael A. Stocker, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer and President

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Michael A. Stocker,
M.D., John W. Remshard and Linda V. Tiano, and any of them, his or her attorneys-in-fact, for such person in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this report and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that any of said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on dates indicated.
Date

Signature and Title

/s/ MICHAEL A. S TOCKER, M.D.
February 12, 2004
Michael A. Stocker, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ JOHN W. REMSHARD
February 12, 2004
John W. Remshard
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ PHILIP BRIGGS
February 12, 2004
Philip Briggs
Chairman of the Board of Directors

/s/ HERMES L. A MES III
February 12, 2004
Hermes L. Ames, III
Director

/s/ JOHN R. GUNN
February 12, 2004
John R. Gunn

Director

/s/ PETER HUTCHINGS
February 12, 2004
Peter Hutchings
Director

/s/ SUSAN L. MALLEY, PH.D.
February 10, 2004
Susan L. Malley, Ph.D.

Director
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Date

Signature and Title

/s/ EDWARD J. MALLOY
February 10, 2004
Edward J. Malloy
Director

/s/ JOHN F. MC GILLICUDDY
February 12, 2004
John F. McGillicuddy

Director

/s/ ROBERT R. MC MILLAN
February 10, 2004
Robert R. McMillan
Director

/s/ STEPHEN S. SCHEIDT, M.D.
February 10, 2004
Stephen S. Scheidt, M.D.

Director

/s/ FREDERICK O. TERRELL
February 11, 2004
Frederick O. Terrell

Director

/s/ LOUIS R. TOMSON
February 10, 2004
Louis R. Tomson
Director

/s/ FAYE WATTLETON
February 10, 2004
Faye Wattleton
Director

/s/ JOHN E. ZUCCOTTI
February 10, 2004
John E. Zuccotti
Director
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Report of Independent Auditors
To the Board of Directors of
WellChoice, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WellChoice, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of WellChoice, Inc.
and subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

New York, New York
February 2, 2004
F-2
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31

2003

2002

(In thousands, except
share and per
share data)

Assets
Investments:

Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost: $1,036,747 and $846,617)
Marketable equity securities, at fair value (cost: $52,890 and $47,022)
Short-term investments
Other long-term equity investments

$ 1,037,255
60,414
232,474
31,686

$

863,290
44,548
359,490
28,220

Total investments
Cash and cash equivalents

1,361,829
697,518

1,295,548

Total investments and cash and cash equivalents

2,059,347

1,782,979

92,399
285,773
107,062

111,082
247,729

Receivables:
Billed premiums, net

Accrued premiums
Other amounts due from customers, net

487,431

94,475
12,059
124
9,829

12,410
10,788
9,613
51,333

Notes receivable, net
Advances to hospitals, net
Accrued investment income
Miscellaneous, net

Total receivables
Property, equipment and information systems, net of accumulated depreciation
Prepaid pension expense
Deferred taxes, net
Other
Total assets

70,644

569,378

545,942

113,526
53,515

100,790

216,534
30,693

45,209
268,948
33,587

$ 3,042,993

$ 2,777,455

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Liabilities:
Unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense
Unearned premium income
Managed cash overdrafts
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Advance deposits
Group and other contract liabilities

$

Postretirement benefits other than pensions
Obligations under capital lease
Other

Total liabilities

609,491
134,174
197,995
104,526
113,843
112,204
142,743

$

559,924
127,503
170,270

111,842
137,762
112,870

48,345

143,736
47,700

147,315

129,586

1,610,636

1,541,193

Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, $0.01 per share value, 225,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding: 2003—83,676,446; 2002—83,490,477
Class B common stock, $0.01 per share value, one share authorized; one share issued and outstanding
Preferred stock, $0.01 per share value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings (deficit)
Unearned restricted stock compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income

—
—
1,262,222
162,584

12,741

18,403

Total stockholders’ equity

1,432,357

1,236,262

$ 3,042,993

$ 2,777,455

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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835
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—
1,255,566
(38,542)
—
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
Year ended December 31

2003

2001

2002
(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

Revenue:

$ 4,875,380

Premiums earned
Administrative service fees
Investment income, net
Net realized investment gains (losses)
Other (loss) income, net

445,865

51,235
11,799
(1,724)

$ 4,628,035
396,203
64,806
2,604
14,012

$4,246,168
321,984
69,356
(12,403)

6,101

Total revenue

5,382,555

5,105,660

4,631,206

Expenses:
Cost of benefits provided
Administrative expenses
Conversion and IPO expenses

4,162,246
876,687

3,947,382
833,160
15,350

3,738,821
742,777

Total expenses

5,038,933

4,795,892

4,483,641

343,622

309,768
67,847

147,565
(135)

377,615
(1,056)

(16,452)

—

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit

(142,496)

201,126

Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes of $0

—

Net income

$

201,126

Basic net income per common share
Diluted net income per common share
Shares used to compute basic earnings per share based on weighted average shares
outstanding.
Shares used to compute diluted earnings per share based on weighted average shares
outstanding.
Net loss for the period from November 7, 2002 (date of conversion and initial public
offering) to December 31, 2002
Basic and diluted net loss per common share for the period from November 7, 2002 (date of
conversion and initial public offering) to December 31, 2002
Shares used to compute earnings per share, based on weighted average shares outstanding
November 7, 2002 (date of conversion and initial public offering) to December 31, 2002

$
$

2.41
2.41

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 376,559

83,490,478

83,518,167

$

(38,542)

$

(0.46)

83,333,244

2,043

147,430

$

130,978
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Common Stock

Number

Par

of Shares

Value

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Retained

Unassigned
Reserves

Balance at January 1, 2001
Net income
Other comprehensive income

$

(Deficit)

Earnings

Unearned
Restricted
Stock
Compensation

682,332

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

(7,654)

130,978

23,589

83,490,478

$ 835

$

813,310
(1,228,411)
415,101

1,255,566

Comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock for stock incentive plan
Balance at December 31, 2003

(1)

674,678
130,978

23,589

15,935

829,245

2,468

27,990
376,559
2,468

$ (38,542)

379,027

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2002
Net income
Other comprehensive loss

$

154,567

Comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2001
Initial public offering of common stock
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income

Total
Stockholders’
Equity (1)

83,490,478

835

1,255,566

—

(38,542)
201,126

18,403

(5,662)

185,969

2

83,676,447

$ 837

6,656
$

1,262,222

$

—

$ 162,584

In 2001, Reserve for Policyholders’ Protection prior to for profit conversion

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

(6,027)

$

(6,027)

1,236,262
201,126
(5,662)
195,464
631

$

12,741

$ 1,432,357
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31

2003

2001

2002
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Net realized (gain) loss on sales of investments
Provision (credit) for doubtful accounts
Accretion of discount, net
Equity in (earnings) loss of other long-term equity investments
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Insurance recovery gain
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Billed and accrued premiums receivable
Other customer receivable
Notes receivable
Advances to hospitals
Accrued investment income
Insurance proceeds receivable
Miscellaneous receivables
Other assets
Unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses
Unearned premium income
Managed cash overdrafts
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Advance deposits
Group and other contract liabilities
Postretirement benefits other than pensions
Other liabilities

$ 201,126

$

55,806

—
(8,306)

(17,854)
(14,431)
(352)

217
—
3,087
2,894
49,567
6,670

27,725
(8,854)

(23,919)
(666)

(993)

1,261
295,076

Net cash used in investing activities

26,741
12,403
(1,702)

(5,005)
571
(34,828)
8,943
(8,428)

(24,956)
(1,610)
1,757
(383)
13,716
(8,212)
(6,207)
(74,205)
7,321
(4,332)
(9,608)
(73,494)
16,315
5,530
47,584

42,328
2,787
(3,102)
3,920
3,523
(13,716)
10,390
(5,976)
(38,289)
14,441
8,686
34,350
24,427
(8,971)
1,888
7,938

182,690

214,297

43,372

(10,666)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, equipment and information systems
Proceeds from sale of property, equipment and information systems
Purchases of available for sale investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available for sale investments

$ 130,978

34,502
(2,604)
1,284
(2,733)
229
(151,372)
—
(5,763)

39,453
(11,799)
937
5,537
(1,364)

Net cash provided by operating activities

376,559

(43,519)
1,803
(1,568,589 )
1,524,670

(33,691)
1,349
(1,757,657)
1,660,541

(33,822)

—
(818,465)
722,951

(85,635)

(129,458)

(129,336)

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in capital lease obligations
Net proceeds from common stock issued in the initial public offering

—

(2,379)
27,990

(1,933)
—

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

646

25,611

(1,933)

210,087
487,431

78,843
408,588

83,028
325,560

$ 408,588

646

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$ 697,518

$

487,431

Supplemental disclosure:
Income taxes paid

$

$

90,473

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

79,901

$

13,349
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
December 31, 2003
1. Organization and For-Profit Conversion
WellChoice, Inc. (“WellChoice”) was formed in August 2002 as a Delaware Corporation to be the for-profit parent holding company for Empire
HealthChoice, Inc. (“EHC”) following the conversion. WellChoice owns a Health Maintenance Organization (“HMO”) and two health insurance companies
through its investment in WellChoice Holdings of New York, Inc. (“WellChoice Holdings”).

On November 7, 2002, EHC converted from a not-for-profit health service corporation to a for-profit accident and health insurer under the New York
State insurance laws and the converted EHC issued all its authorized capital stock to the New York Public Asset Fund (the “Fund”) and The New York
Charitable Asset Foundation (the “Foundation”). The Fund and the Foundation then received their respective shares of WellChoice common stock in exchange
for the transfer of all the outstanding shares of EHC to WellChoice Holdings. Pursuant to the plan of conversion, WellChoice issued 82,300,000 shares to the
Fund and the Foundation and completed an initial public offering of 19,199,000 shares of common stock, consisting of 18,008,523 shares that were sold by
the Fund and Foundation and 1,190,477 newly issued shares of common stock sold by WellChoice. After deducting the underwriting discount, net proceeds
to WellChoice were approximately $27,990.

WellChoice Holdings is a non-insurance holding company which wholly-owns Empire HealthChoice Assurance Inc. (“EHCA”) d/b/a, Empire Blue
Cross Blue Shield. In connection with EHC’s conversion to a for-profit entity, EHC merged with EHCA. EHCA wholly-owns Empire HealthChoice HMO,
Inc. (“EHC HMO”) and WellChoice Insurance of New Jersey, Inc. (“WCINJ”). EHC HMO is an HMO licensed under Article 44 of the New York Public
Health Law and is also licensed to operate an HMO in the State of New Jersey. WCINJ is a credit, life, accident and health insurance company licensed in
eleven states, which currently writes business only in New Jersey. Prior to its dissolution in February 2002, NexxtHealth, Inc. was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of EHC primarily engaged in the development of software to link health care systems to the Internet.

EHCA and its subsidiaries offer a comprehensive array of insurance products to employer groups and individuals. Products include traditional
comprehensive indemnity health coverage and managed care products and services offered through an HMO, preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and
exclusive provider organization (“EPO”). EHCA and its subsidiaries also process claims for self-insured employers and government programs. EHCA and
EHC HMO are members of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (“BCBSA”) which provides EHCA and EHC HMO the ability to participate with other
Blue Cross Blue Shield plans in BCBSA sponsored programs and entitles it to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in the New York City
metropolitan area and one or both of these names and marks in select upstate New York counties.

WellChoice also has, through a subsidiary investment, a 24.97% interest in National Accounts Service Company, LLC (“NASCO”), a limited liability
company, which processes national account claims for the Company and other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans. See footnote 9.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WellChoice and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”). All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated.
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates and assumptions could change in the future as more information becomes known, which could impact
the amounts reported and disclosed herein.

Conversion
The conversion was accounted for as a reorganization using the historical carrying values of EHC and its subsidiaries assets and liabilities. Immediately
following the conversion, EHC’s unassigned reserves were reclassified to par value of common stock and additional paid-in capital. The costs of the
conversion were recognized as an expense.

Investments-Fixed Maturities and Marketable Equity Securities
The Company has classified all of its fixed maturity and marketable equity security investments as available for sale and, accordingly, they are carried
at fair value. The fair value of investments in fixed maturities and marketable equity securities are based on quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses
are reported as a separate component of other comprehensive income, net of deferred income taxes. The amortized cost of fixed maturities, including certain
trust preferred securities, is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity, which is included in investment income.
Amortization of premiums and discounts on collateralized mortgage obligations are adjusted for prepayment patterns using the retrospective method.
Investment income is shown net of investment expenses. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. When the fair value of an
investment is lower than its cost and such a decline is determined to be other than temporary, the cost of the investment is written down to fair value and the
amount of the write down is charged to net income as a realized loss.

Short-Term Investments
Short-term investments are carried at fair value, and consist principally of U.S. treasury bills, commercial paper and money market investments. The
Company considers securities with maturities greater than three months and less than one year at the date of purchase as short-term investments. The fair
value of short-term investments is based on quoted market prices.

Other Long-Term Equity Investments
Other long-term equity investments include joint ventures and warrants. Joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method. The Company’s
warrants are considered derivatives and are carried at fair value. The warrants are not classified as hedging instruments. Fair values of warrants are
determined using the Black Scholes options valuation model. Changes in the fair values of warrants are recorded as realized gains or losses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all bank deposits, highly liquid securities and certificates of deposit with maturities of three months or less at the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. These cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value.
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Pharmaceutical Rebate Sharing Program
The Company participates in pharmaceutical rebate sharing programs with drug manufacturers through a third party pharmacy benefit manager.
Rebates for fully insured groups are recorded as a reduction to the cost of benefits provided. Rebates for self-funded groups are recorded as administrative
service fee revenue. The Company records an estimate for pharmacy rebates earned but not yet received. These estimates are adjusted as new information
becomes known and such adjustments are included in current period operations. Pharmacy rebates included in miscellaneous receivables were $15,813 and
$19,004 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Market Stabilization and Stop Loss Pools
The Company is required to participate in Market Stabilization and Stop Loss Pools (“Pools”) as established by the State of New York. Contributions
and recoveries under the Pools are estimated based on interpretations of applicable regulations and are recorded as an addition or a reduction to cost of benefits
provided. These estimates are adjusted as new information becomes known and such adjustments are included in current period operations. In 2003, the
Company received a distribution from the Pool for Medicare Supplemental Pool years 2000 through 2002 and 2003 of $34,882 and $5,972, respectively. The
distribution was recorded as a reduction to cost of benefits provided. The Company was required to issue premium refunds of approximately $19,663 related
to the distribution received for years 2000 through 2003. Pool recoverables included in miscellaneous receivables were $23,877 and $18,390 at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Receivables
Receivables are reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $14,661 and $13,724 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The allowance
for doubtful accounts calculation is based upon historical experience, which takes into consideration the length of time the receivable has been outstanding.

Property, Equipment and Information Systems
Property, equipment and information systems are reported at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are not greater than twenty-one years for property and improvements and three to ten years for equipment
and furniture. Purchased software is capitalized and depreciated for a period not to exceed three years. The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred during
the application development stage related to developing internal use software. These capitalized costs are amortized over a three-year period beginning when the
software is placed into production. Computer software costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stages and post-implementation/operation stages, are
expensed as incurred.

Unpaid Claims and Claims Adjustment Expenses
The cost of unpaid claims, both for reported claims and claims incurred but not yet reported to the Company, is calculated based upon claim history,
claim inventory, number of claims received, changes in product mix, number of contracts in force, recent trend experience, unit costs and the regulatory
environment. The estimated expense of processing these claims is also included in the consolidated financial statements as a component of administrative
expense. These estimates are subject to the effects of medical claim trends and other
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WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
uncertainties. Although considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, management believes that the reserves for claims and claims adjustment expenses
are adequate. The estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted as experience develops or new information becomes known. Such adjustments are included
in current period operations.

Advance Deposits
Under certain funding arrangements, customers are contractually obligated to remit funds on a paid claims basis. Funds received prior to payment of
claims are classified as advance deposits.

Retirement Benefits
Retirement benefits represent outstanding obligations for certain retiree health care and life insurance benefits and any unfunded liabilities related to
defined benefit pension plans. Unfunded liabilities for pension benefits are accrued in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions .
Medical and life insurance benefits for retirees are accrued in accordance with SFAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other

Than Pensions .
Revenue
Membership contracts are generally for a period of one year and are subject to cancellation by the employer group upon 60 days written notice.
Premiums are normally due monthly and are recognized as revenue during the period in which the Company is obligated to provide services to members.
Premiums received prior to such periods are recorded as unearned premiums. Premiums on retrospectively rated group contracts are accrued by making
estimates based on past claims experience on such contracts. Premiums collected on retrospectively rated group contracts in excess of premiums earned are
classified as group and other contract liabilities.
Administrative service fees are recognized in the period the related services are performed. All benefit payments under these programs are excluded from
revenue and cost of benefits provided.

Cost of Benefits Provided
Cost of benefits provided includes claims paid, claims in process and pending, and an estimate of unreported claims for healthcare service provided to
enrolled members during benefits and pool recoveries. Costs of benefits are reported net of pharmacy rebates, coordination of benefits and pool recoveries.

Acquisition Costs
Marketing and other costs associated with the acquisition of membership contracts are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to the difference between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Premium Deficiency
A premium deficiency reserve is established when expected claim payments or incurred costs, claim adjustment expenses and administrative costs
exceed the premiums to be collected for the remainder of a contract period. For purposes of determining if a premium deficiency reserve exists, contracts are
grouped in a manner consistent with how policies are marketed, serviced and measured. Anticipated investment income is not utilized in the premium
deficiency reserve calculation. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, a premium deficiency reserve of $402 and $3,300, respectively, is included in group and other
contract liabilities.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has an incentive stock plan that provides for stock-based compensation, including stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted
stock units and an employee stock purchase plan. Stock options are granted for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the
shares at the date of the grant. Restricted stock awards and restricted stock units are valued at the fair value of the stock on the grant date, with no cost to the
grantee. The employee stock purchase plan, in accordance with the Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code, allows for a purchase price per share to be 85%
of the lower of the fair value of a share of common stock on (i) the first trading day of the offering period, or (ii) the last trading day of the offering period. The
Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and, accordingly, if the exercise price is equal to the fair market value of the shares at the date of the grant, the Company recognizes no
compensation expense related to stock options. For grants of restricted stock and restricted stock units, unearned compensation, equivalent to the fair value of
the shares at the date of grant, is recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and subsequently amortized to compensation expense over the
vesting period. The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , as amended.

Earnings Per Share
For 2003, earnings per share amounts, on a basic and diluted basis, have been calculated based upon the weighted-average common shares outstanding
for the year. For 2002, earnings per share amounts, on a basic and diluted basis, have been calculated based upon the weighted-average common shares
outstanding for the period from November 7, 2002, the date of the for-profit conversion and initial public offering, to December 31, 2002.
Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive effect of all stock options, and restricted stock awards, using the
treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, the exercise of stock options and restricted stock unit awards is assumed, with the proceeds used to
purchase common stock at the average market price for the period. The difference between the number of shares assumed issued and number of shares
assumed purchased represents the dilutive shares.

F-11

Table of Contents

WellChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Pro Forma Disclosure
The pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share has been determined as if the Company accounted for its stock-based
compensation using the fair value method. The fair value for the stock options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the following weighted-average assumptions:
2003

Risk-free interest rate
Volatility factor
Dividend Yield
Excepted life

3.47%
42%

—
5 years

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are
fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility.
Because the Company’s stock option grants have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single
measure of the fair value of its stock option grants.
For purposes of pro forma disclosures, compensation expense is increased for the estimated fair value of the options amortized over the options’ vesting
periods and for the difference between the market price of the stock and discounted purchase price of the shares on the purchase date for the employee stock
purchases. The Company’s pro forma information is as follows:
Year ended December 31

2003

2002

2001

Reported net income
Total stock-based employee compensation determined under fair value
based method for stock options, net of tax

$201,126

$376,559

$ 130,978

Pro forma net income

$ 200,871

Earnings per share:
Basic net income per common share
Diluted net income per common share
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the year
Weighted-average fair value of restricted stock awards granted during the year.
Weighted-average fair value of restricted stock unit awards granted during the year
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(255)

—
$376,559

—
$ 130,978

2003
As Reported

2003
Pro Forma

$
$

$ 2.41
$ 2.41
$ 12.92
$ 31.03
$ 31.03

2.41
2.41
—
$ 31.03
$ 31.03
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands except share and per share data)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standard Board issued SFAS No. 132 (Revised 2003), Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Postretirement Benefits. This Statement amends Statements No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions , No. 88, Employers’ Accounting for
Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits , and No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions . However, the Statement does not change the recognition and measurement requirements of those Statements. This Statement
retains the disclosure requirements contained in SFAS No. 132, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits, which it
replaces and requires additional disclosure. Additional new disclosure includes actual mix of plan assets by category, a description of investment strategies
and policies used, a narrative description of the basis for determining the overall expected long-term rate of return on asset assumption and aggregate expected
contributions.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“Modernization Act”) was signed into law. The
Modernization Act introduced a voluntary Medicare part D prescription drug benefit and created a new 28% federal subsidy for the sponsors of the
postretirement prescription drug benefits that are at least actuarially equivalent to the new Medicare Part D benefit. Under SFAS No. 106-1, Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, sponsors must consider the two new features in measuring the Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation
(“APBO”) and net periodic postretirement benefit cost. In accordance with SFAS No. 106-1, the Company made a one-time election to defer recognition of the
impact on SFAS No. 106 accounting. Any measures of APBO and net periodic postretirement benefit cost in the financial statements and the related footnotes
for the year ended December 31, 2003 do not reflect the effects of the Modernization Act. Currently, specific authoritative guidance on accounting for the federal
subsidy is pending and that guidance when issued could require the Company to change previously reported information. The Company does not anticipate
that the adoption of SFAS 106-1 will materially affect the financial statements.

3. Investments
Available-for-sale investments are as follows:
Cost or
Amortized
Cost

Gross

Gross

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized

$

$

Fair
Value

Losses

At December 31, 2003
Fixed maturities:

$

U.S. Treasury Notes

94,032
457,514
84,812
5,361
395,028

518
987

(54)

$

94,496

7,299

(6,197)
(797)
(26)
(1,464)

452,304
84,257
5,335
400,863

1,036,747

9,046

(8,538)

1,037,255

Marketable equity securities:
Common stock
Non-redeemable preferred stock

42,834
10,056

7,354
342

(172)
—

50,016
10,398

Total marketable equity securities

52,890

7,696

(172)

60,414

$ 1,089,637

$ 16,742

$ (8,710)

$ 1,097,669

U.S. Government Agency obligations
U.S. Government Agency mortgage-backed securities
Public utility bonds
Corporate securities
Total fixed maturities

Total fixed maturities and marketable equity securities investments
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
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3. Investments (continued)
Cost or
Amortized
Cost

Gross

Gross

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized

Fair
Value

Losses

At December 31, 2002
Fixed maturities:

$ 76,042

U.S. Treasury Notes

386,753

$ 2,081
2,011
1,299
368
13,059

846,617

18,818

(2,145)

863,290

31,966
15,056

—
250

(2,724)
—

29,242
15,306

47,022

250

(2,724)

44,548

$ 893,639

$19,068

$(4,869)

$ 907,838

U.S. Government Agency obligations
U.S. Government Agency mortgage-backed securities
Public utility bonds
Corporate securities

234,300

129,522
20,000

Total fixed maturities

Marketable equity securities:
Common stock
Non-redeemable preferred stock

Total marketable equity securities

Total fixed maturities and marketable equity securities investments

$

—
(156)
(127)
(4)
(1,858)

$ 78,123
236,155
130,694
20,364
397,954

The following table shows our investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual
securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2003:
12 Months or More

Less Than 12 Months

Description of Securities

U.S. treasury notes and U.S. Government
Agency obligations
U.S. Government Agency mortgage-backed
securities
Public utility bonds
Corporate securities

Fair
Value

Losses

$ 213,595

$(6,251)

57,764
5,335
108,603

(797)
(26)
(1,130)

Total fixed maturities

385,297

(8,204)

Common stock

522

(172)

$ 385,819

$ (8,376)

Total temporarily impaired securities

Fair
Value

Unrealized

$

—

Total

Fair
Value

Unrealized

Losses

Unrealized

Losses

$ —

$ 213,595

$(6,251)

—
—
11,444

—
—

57,764
5,335

(334)

120,047

(797)
(26)
(1,464)

11,444

(334)

396,741

8,538

—
$ 11,444

—
$ (334)

522

(172)

$ 397,263

$ (8,710)

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities, by contractual maturity, are shown below:
December 31, 2003

Fair
Value

Amortized
Cost

Due in 1 year or less
Due after 1 year through 5 years
Due after 5 years through 10 years
Due after 10 years

$

634,775

261,377
70,895
631,839

Total

$ 1,036,747

$ 1,037,255

72,347
259,288
70,337
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3. Investments (continued)
Mortgage-backed securities do not have a single maturity date and have been included in the above table based on the year of final maturity. Expected
maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment
penalties.

Proceeds from sales of available for sale securities for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $268,062, $231,840 and $154,137,
respectively. The Company’s investment portfolio is not significantly concentrated in any particular industry or geographic region.
Investment income, net is summarized as follows:
Year ended December 31

Fixed maturities
Marketable equity securities
Short-term investments and cash equivalents
Other long-term equity investments

2003

2002

2001

$ 41,759
23

$57,507
1,081
7,775
117

$ 61,690
1,200
15,583
—

51,119

66,480

78,473

1,100
8,237

Interest and dividend income

Equity in earnings (losses) of joint ventures

1,364

Less investment expenses including interest on advance deposits

(1,248)

$51,235

Investment income, net

(229)

(571)

(1,445)

(8,546)

$ 64,806

$69,356

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments were as follows:
Year ended December 31

Realized gains:
Fixed maturities
Equity securities
Short-term investments and cash equivalents

2003

2002

2001

$ 9,480
4

$ 4,447
375
6

$ 2,351
—
3,994

12,086

4,828

6,345

—
—

(1,747)
(476)
(1)

(2,402)
(10,816)
(5,530)

(287)
11,799

(2,224)
2,604

(18,748)
(12,403)

(16,236)
7,300
(119)

6,305
(2,531)

23,249
11,193
(9)

2,602

Total realized gains
Realized losses:
Fixed maturities
Equity securities
Short-term investments and cash equivalents

(287)

Total realized losses
Net realized gains (losses)

Changes in unrealized (losses) gains:
Fixed maturities
Equity securities
Short-term investments

(9,055)

Net unrealized (losses) gains

$ 2,744

Total realized and unrealized gains (losses)
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3. Investments (continued)
In 2001, the Company recorded a loss of $10,521 due to management’s determination that the decline in value of a common stock investment was other
than temporary.
The components of other comprehensive (loss) income are as follows:
Year ended December 31

2003

2002

2001

Unrealized gains from investments, net of taxes of $(118), $(2,186), and $(6,503)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net income, net of taxes of
$3,511, $857 and $(4,341)

$ 857

$ 4,059

$15,527

Other comprehensive (loss) income

$(5,662)

(6,519)

(1,591)

8,062

$ 2,468

$ 23,589

In 2003, the Company participated in a security lending program, whereby certain securities from its portfolio are loaned to qualified brokers in
exchange for cash collateral, equal to at least 102% of the market value of the securities loaned. The securities lending agent indemnified the Company against
loss in the event of default by the borrower. Income generated by the securities lending program is reported as a component of net investment income. As of
December 31, 2003, fixed maturity securities of $191,958 were loaned under the program.

The Company is required by BCBSA to maintain a deposit for the benefit and security of out-of-state policyholders. At December 31, 2003, the fair
value and amortized cost of the investment on deposit were $8,530 and $8,404, respectively. The Company also maintains a deposit to satisfy the
requirements of its workers’ compensation insurance carrier. At December 31, 2003, the fair value and amortized cost of the investment on deposit were

$1,855 and $1,846, respectively.
4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, including capitalized lease arrangements, are as follows:
December 31

2003

2002

Buildings and improvements
Equipment and furniture
Software systems

$ 126,466
68,719
66,777

$ 102,600
52,575
57,807

Total property and equipment

261,962

212,982

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

148,436

112,192

$ 113,526

$ 100,790

Net property and equipment

All property and equipment is used by the Company for its operations and includes two facilities and certain equipment leased under agreements, which
are accounted for as capital leases. Depreciation expense, including depreciation on assets held under capital leases totaled $38,870, $34,168 and $27,332 for
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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4. Property and Equipment (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2003, the cost and accumulated depreciation of assets retired were $5,639 and $3,480, respectively. Of these
retirements, cost and accumulated depreciation of $1,681 and $638, respectively, was for information system equipment and personal computers.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the cost and accumulated depreciation of assets retired were $2,278 and $1,077, respectively. Of these
retirements, cost and accumulated depreciation of $2,213 and $1,036, respectively, was for information system equipment and personal computers.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, the cost and accumulated depreciation of assets retired were $16,463 and $6,770, respectively. Of these, the
cost and accumulated depreciation of the World Trade Center assets that were written-off were $14,703 and $5,761, respectively. The cost and accumulated
depreciation of all other assets retired, all of which was for information systems equipment and personal computers, was $1,760 and $1,009, respectively.

5. Claim Reserves
Activity in unpaid claims and certain claim adjustment expenses is summarized as follows:
Year ended December 31

2003

$ 563,224

Balance as of January 1
Incurred related to:
Current period
Prior periods

2001

2002

$

634,130

$ 672,419

4,244,356
(82,110)

3,993,607
(46,225)

3,792,241

Total incurred

4,162,246

3,947,382

3,738,821

Paid related to:
Current period
Prior periods

3,693,619
421,958

3,493,244
525,044

3,257,090
520,020

Total paid

4,115,577

4,018,288

3,777,110

$ 609,893*

$ 563,224*

Balance at end of periods

(53,420)

$

634,130

* Includes $402 and $3,300 of premium deficiency reserve in WCINJ included in group and other contract liabilities as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.
The provision for claims and claim adjustment expenses attributable to prior year incurrals had a favorable development of $82,110, $46,225, and
$53,420 in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively, due to health care trends being lower than anticipated when the reserves were established. Moreover, actual claim
payment lags were shorter than assumed in determining the reserves, due to continued improvement in the claim adjudication process. The favorable
development in 2003 included $34,882 of recoveries from the New York Market Stabilization Pools for Medicare Supplemental policies for Pool Years 2000,
2001 and 2002, and $2,898 of amortization of the premium deficiency reserve in WCINJ. Additionally, the development of the prior years’ claim liability
impacts premiums for retrospectively rated contracts. Accordingly, the Company’s favorable (unfavorable) development of $25,118, ($1,532) and $46,416
in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively, on such contracts, was largely offset by decreases (increases) in premiums.
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6. Income Taxes
The significant components of the provision for income tax (expense) benefit are as follows:
Year ended December 31

2003

2002

2001

Current tax expense
Deferred tax (expense) benefit

$ (86,690)
(55,806)

$ (83,526)
151,373

$ (34,963)
34,828

Income tax (expense) benefit

$(142,496)

$ 67,847

$

(135)

A reconciliation of income tax computed at the federal statutory tax rate of 35% to total income tax is as follows:
Year ended December 31

2003

Income tax at prevailing corporate tax rate applied to pre-tax income
Increase (decrease):
Change in valuation allowance
IRC Sec. 833(b) special deduction
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Other

$(120,268)
—
—
(8,933)
(13,295)

$ (142,496)

Income tax (expense) benefit

2001

2002

$ (108,049)

$(45,890)

195,698
—
(5,077)
(14,725)

1,147
54,249

$ 67,847

(88)
(9,553)

$

(135)

WellChoice and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return. WellChoice currently has a tax sharing agreement in place with all of its
subsidiaries. In accordance with the Company’s tax sharing agreement, the Company’s subsidiaries pay federal income taxes to WellChoice based on a
separate company calculation.

Prior to 2002, EHC maintained a valuation allowance on its regular tax net operating loss carryforwards and certain other temporary differences due to
uncertainty in its ability to utilize these assets within an appropriate period. The use of these assets was largely dependent on the conversion and future positive
taxable income. Because the approval of EHC’s plan of conversion by the New York State Insurance Department (the “Department”), removed the uncertainty
of the conversion, the Company concluded in the third quarter of 2002 that the valuation allowance related to these assets was no longer necessary.
Accordingly, the income tax benefit for 2002 includes the reversal of the valuation allowance of $174,977 related to the Company’s regular tax operating loss
carryforwards.

As a result of the conversion to a for-profit accident and health insurance company in 2002, the Company adjusted its deferred tax assets for temporary
differences related to Empire HealthChoice Assurance, Inc.’s liability for state and local taxes which resulted in the recognition of a $5,374 deferred tax asset.
In May 2003, the New York State Legislature enacted budget legislation that eliminates the net income portion of the New York State franchise tax applicable to
every insurance company other than life insurance companies effective January 1, 2003. As a result, the Company’s tax provision for 2003 was increased by
$5,374, reflecting the reversal of the previously recorded deferred tax asset.
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6. Income Taxes (continued)

Prior to January 1, 1987, EHC was exempt from federal income taxes. With the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, EHC, and all other Blue
Cross and Blue Shield plans, became subject to federal income tax. Among other provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, these plans were granted a special
deduction (the “833(b) deduction”) for regular tax calculation purposes. As a result of the 833(b) deduction, EHC has incurred no regular tax liability but in
profitable years, has paid taxes at the alternative minimum tax rate of 20%.
The 833(b) deduction is calculated as the excess of 25% of the incurred claim and claim adjustment expenses for the tax year over adjusted surplus, as
defined, limited to taxable income. The amount of 833(b) deductions utilized in each tax year is accumulated in an adjusted surplus balance. Once the
cumulative adjusted surplus balance exceeds the 833(b) deduction for the current taxable year, the deduction is eliminated.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company reevaluated its tax position for financial statement purposes related to EHC’s ability to utilize the
Section 833(b) deduction and determined that when EHC converted to a for-profit entity, its ability to utilize the Section 833(b) deduction was uncertain. No
authority directly addresses whether a conversion transaction will render the 833(b) deduction unavailable. The Company is aware, however, that the IRS has
taken the position related to other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans that a conversion could result in the inability of a Blue Cross Blue Shield plan to utilize the
833(b) deduction. In light of the absence of governing authority, while the Company intends to continue to take the deduction on its tax returns after the
conversion, the Company has assumed, for financial statement reporting purposes, that the deduction will be disallowed. Accordingly, the Company has
utilized $77,000 of regular operating loss carryforwards for financial statement purposes in excess of those utilized for tax purposes.

The Company’s position with gross deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31

2003

Deferred tax assets:
Regular tax operating loss carryforwards
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward
Fixed assets
Loss reserve discounting
Post-retirement benefits other than pensions
Post-employment benefits
Bad debts
Deferred compensation
Unpaid expense accruals
Other temporary differences

$

—

49,960

3,834
5,523
6,003
14,339
5,739

3,901
5,621
6,250
10,858
21,366

246,568

299,701

8,705

20,352
977

12,339
17,264
1,150

30,034

30,753

$ 216,534

$268,948

7,387
3,982

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on investments
Pension income adjustment

Bonds and bond discount
Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets
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134,064
4,807
4,933
50,308

149,801

Total deferred tax assets
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6. Income Taxes (continued)

The Company’s regular tax loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of $259,000 expire between the years 2004 and 2023. The Company’s
alternative minimum tax credit carryforward for income tax purposes of $191,000 has no expiration date.

The Company completed a study of the intangible assets, which existed at January 1, 1987 and has filed amended returns for 1989 and 1990 and
1996 claiming a refund for taxes paid. The Company is aware that the IRS and other Blue Cross Blue Shield plans are currently in litigation to determine
whether intangible assets that existed at January 1, 1987 are entitled to tax basis and therefore are deductible in future years’ tax returns. If the Company
prevails, these potential future tax benefits of up to $100,000 will be available to the Company. As of December 31, 2003 the Company has not recognized this
potential benefit in its financial statements.
The Company paid federal income taxes of $58,000, $84,000 and $13,349 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
7. Information Technology Outsourcing
In June 2002, the Company entered into a ten-year outsourcing agreement with International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”). Under the terms
of the contract, IBM is responsible for operating the Company’s data center, a portion of the core applications development and technical help desk. IBM has
entered into a separate agreement to sublease the Company’s data center. IBM’s charges under the contract include personnel, calculated as a function of IBM’s
cost for personnel dedicated to the outsourcing; computer equipment, based on equipment usage rates; space, based on actual usage rates; and certain other
costs.
IBM is expected to invoice the Company approximately $586,100 over the remaining term of the agreement for operating the Company’s data center and
technical help desk as follows:
2004

$ 84,900

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

88,000
74,800

67,200
65,200
62,900
60,400

58,600
24,100

$586,100
The agreement provides for IBM to assist the Company in developing new IT systems. The original agreement required the Company to purchase
$65,000 of enhancement and modernization services and equipment from IBM over a five-year term. Effective September 2003, the agreement was amended
and the Company’s purchase obligation was reduced to $55,000 and the term extended to seven years with a remaining target purchase rate as follows:
2004

$14,826

2005
2006
2007
2008

14,100

Total

$ 44,826

9,900
4,800
1,200
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7. Information Technology Outsourcing (continued)

The Company may defer the purchase of services beyond the target date, provided that to the extent purchases are delayed more than one year beyond the
target year, the Company shall pay a premium to IBM of 10% per annum of purchases so delayed.

In addition, the Company accelerated the repayment of price concessions of $7,339 granted under the original contract. The refunding of the price
concessions had no impact on the income statement. At December 31, 2003 and 2002 other liabilities include $10,000 and $11,143, respectively of cash flow
concessions the Company has taken on monthly invoices from IBM. In accordance with the terms of the IBM contract the Company is required to repay these
amounts in the future.

Additionally, IBM, in coordination with deNovis, Inc. (“deNovis”), has agreed to develop a new claims payment software system and to license it to the
Company. Subject to the successful completion and acceptance of the claims payment system, the Company will pay a development and license fee of
$50,000. Under the terms of the contract with IBM, the Company will pay $25,000 of this fee in four equal installments upon the achievement of specified
milestones, the last of which is the Company’s acceptance of the claims payment system. The achievement of these milestones is anticipated to occur in 2006.
The remaining $25,000 will be paid one year following the date the Company accepts the claims payment system. Following the expiration of the one-year
warranty period that begins upon the payment of the final installment, the Company will pay IBM an annual fee of $10,000 for maintenance and support
services. Under the terms of the contract, the Company is entitled to 2% of IBM’s gross revenues from licensing the claims payment system to third parties for
the term of the IBM outsourcing contract, including any extensions. The Company will have no obligation to pay the development and license fee and the
annual fee if the successful completion and delivery of the claims payment system does not occur.
The Company will own all software developed by IBM under the agreement, other than the claims payment system. All such software in which the
Company will have all rights, title and interest will be accounted for in accordance with SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”.

During 2002, in connection with the agreement, the Company sold computer equipment with a net book value of $1,736 to IBM. No gain or loss on the
sale of the computer equipment was recognized. Also in connection with the agreement, the Company licensed to IBM its Internet portal technology for an
upfront initial license fee of $2,000. In accordance with SOP 98-1, the Company applied the proceeds from the license of the Internet portal technology to the
book value of the assets and no gain or loss was recorded. Under the agreement, IBM has the right to sublicense the Internet portal technology to third parties
and the Company will receive 4% of IBM’s gross revenues from its licensing for fifteen years. The Company received no licensing revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002.
The outsourcing agreement can be terminated by either the Company or IBM in certain circumstances for cause without penalty. The Company can
terminate the contract without cause after two years or if it experiences a change in control and, in such instances, would be obligated to pay certain termination
costs, which vary based on the duration of the contract but are significant in the early years, to IBM. During the term of the agreement, the Company may not
perform the outsourced services itself or through a third party without the consent of IBM.
During the second quarter of 2002, in connection with the IBM outsourcing, the Company began the implementation of a restructuring plan relating to
its information technology personnel. Certain employees were involuntarily terminated in accordance with a plan of termination, certain employees were
retained by the
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7. Information Technology Outsourcing (continued)

Company and certain employees were transitioned to IBM. Severance and other costs accrued at June 30, 2002 relating to the plan of termination were $5,351.
Payments related to these costs of approximately $4,889 were made through December 31, 2003. To help retain its employees and to help IBM retain its newly
transitioned employees, the Company offered stay bonuses for these individuals. The estimated maximum cost of these bonuses assuming all individuals
remain with the Company or IBM through the required dates, which range from 2003 to 2004, is approximately $8,518. The Company recognizes the cost of
these stay bonuses as these employees provide service. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, approximately $4,571 and $3,889, respectively,
was expensed for these bonuses. Through December 31, 2003, payments of $3,993 were made.

8. Restructuring
In November 2002, as part of the Company’s continuing focus on increasing overall productivity, and in part as a result of the implementation of the
technology outsourcing strategy, the Company continued streamlining certain operations and adopted a plan to terminate approximately 500 employees across
all segments of its business. Severance and other costs of $13,472 were accrued relating to the plan for the year ended December 31, 2002. Through December
31, 2003, payments related to these costs of $13,180 were made. In an effort to facilitate the restructuring plan certain employees were offered stay bonuses.
The Company recognizes the cost of these stay bonuses as these employees provide service. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, approximately
$788 and $243, respectively, was expensed for these bonuses. Through December 31, 2003, payments of $501 were made.

9. Statutory Information
Insurance companies, including HMOs are subject to certain Risk-Based Capital (“RBC”) requirements as specified by the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners (the “NAIC”). Under those requirements, the amount of capital and statutory-basis surplus maintained by an insurance company
is to be determined based on the various risk factors related to it. At December 31, 2003, EHCA and each of its wholly-owned insurance subsidiaries met the
RBC requirements.

EHCA and its subsidiaries are subject to minimum capital requirements under the state insurance laws. Combined statutory-basis surplus of EHCA
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002 of $935,995 and $819,756, respectively, exceeded their respective requirements. Combined statutorybasis net income of EHCA and its subsidiaries was $259,340, $316,936 and $114,462, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
In accordance with the rules of the Department, the maximum amount of dividends which can be paid by the Company’s subsidiaries without approval
of the Department is subject to restrictions relating to statutory surplus and adjusted net income or adjusted net investment income.
On June 30, 2003 and November 8, 2002 WellChoice received a dividend payment from its subsidiary, EHCA, in the amount of $140,000 and
$225,000 respectively. The dividend payments were approved by the Department. No dividends were received or paid during the year ended December 31,
2001.

EHCA made cash contributions to its HMO and insurance subsidiaries of approximately, $65,000 and $10,000 during 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The capital contributions were made to ensure that each subsidiary had sufficient surplus under applicable BCBSA and state licensing requirements. There
were no cash contributions made during 2003.
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9. Statutory Information (continued)
In 2003, WellChoice began the process of dissolving ENASCO. In connection with the dissolution, WellChoice transferred the investment interest in
NASCO to EHCA in the form of a capital contribution. EHCA immediately transferred the NASCO investment interest to WCINJ in the form of a capital
contribution.
10. Contingencies

The Company is subject to a number of lawsuits, investigations and claims, some of which are class actions arising out of the conduct of its business.
The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses in all of these matters and intends to vigorously defend its respective positions. The outcome of these
matters is not currently predictable and the damages, if any, are also uncertain. The Company is also involved in and is subject to numerous claims,
contractual disputes and uncertainties in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the ultimate
disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
In June 2002, the Company settled a class action lawsuit for an estimated $23,000 in claims and legal fees. During the period from June 2002 to
September 2002, the members of the class were informed of their right to receive payment, were required to respond, and the payments due to respondents were
determined. Based on the number of respondents to the class action mailing through August 24, 2002 and the Company’s estimate of the number of late
respondents to the mailing, the Company revised its best estimate of the ultimate liability for this action to $14,600. This change in estimate has been recorded
in the consolidated financial statements for year ended December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003 unpaid claims and claims adjustments expense included
$150 related to this estimate.

In October 2003, the Company renewed its existing credit and guaranty agreement with The Bank of New York, as Issuing Bank and Administrative
Agent, and several other financial institutions as agents and lenders, which provides the Company with a credit facility. The Company is able to borrow
under the credit facility for general working capital purposes. The total outstanding amounts under the credit facility cannot exceed $100,000. The facility has
a term of 364 days with a current maturity date of October 15, 2004, subject to extension for additional periods of 364 days with the consent of the lenders.
Borrowings under the facility will bear interest, at the Company’s option, at The Bank of New York’s prime commercial rate (or, if greater, the federal funds
rate plus 0.50%) as in effect from time to time plus a margin of between zero and 1.0%, or LIBOR plus a margin of between 1.125% and 2.250%, with the
applicable margin to be determined based on our financial strength rating. As of December 31, 2003, there were no funds drawn against this line of credit.

The Company also maintains a $607 secured letter of credit from HSBC Bank USA to support one of its rental lease obligations.
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11. Commitments
The Company leases office facilities and equipment under capital and operating lease arrangements. Future minimum payments for capital leases and
noncancelable operating leases, including escalation clauses, as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

2004

2005
2006
2007
2008
Future years
Net minimum lease payment

Capital
Leases

Operating
Leases

$ 12,401
12,686
12,882
13,126
13,418
23,752

$ 35,602

88,265

$ 436,604

30,494
31,780
31,385
31,499
275,844

Less:

26,902
13,018

Interest

Maintenance, taxes, etc.

$ 48,345

Present value of minimum lease payments

The average imputed interest rate on the capital leases was 14% in 2003. Rent expense under operating leases was $46,762, $54,082 and $50,540 for
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The schedule above includes rent commitments for the Company’s Staten Island facility. However, as part of the information technology outsourcing
agreement with IBM (see footnote 7), the Company entered into a sublease agreement with IBM for this property. The Company expects to receive net sublease
income of approximately $1,436 per year until 2012.
During the third quarter of 2003, management determined that based on current and projected occupancy requirements, the Company would not receive
economic benefit from certain unoccupied leased office space.
The Company recognized an administrative expense of $13,367 for the year ended December 31, 2003, representing the net present value difference
between the fair value of estimated sublease rentals and the remaining lease obligation for this space. At December 31, 2003, $12,764 of these costs are
included in other liabilities.

12. Related Party Transactions
Administrative expenses incurred related to NASCO services totaled $17,818, $14,673 and $13,281 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Accounts payable as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, includes amounts due to NASCO of $1,919 and $3,515, respectively.
Active Health Management, Inc., (“AHM”) an entity in which the Company has a 0.8% ownership interest, provides certain medical management
services to the Company. Administrative expenses incurred related to AHM services totaled $3,521, $5,882 and $4,869 for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. There are no accounts payable as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, due to AHM.
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12. Related Party Transactions (continued)
An Executive Vice President of a labor union account was a member of the Company’s board of Directors until June 2003. For the years ended December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company earned premium revenue $17,793, $18,019 and $16,280, respectively from the union. Billed premiums receivable
at December 31, 2003 and 2002 includes amounts due from the union of $2,058 and $2,730, respectively. In addition, the Company recorded administrative
service fees revenue of $2,384, $2,957 and $2,863 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001. Other amounts due from customers at December
31, 2003 and 2002 includes $829 and $856 for service fees due from the union.

A member of the Company’s board of directors is an Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of a provider in our network. For the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company made payments to the provider in the amount of $130,605 $101,998 and $82,523 respectively for
the reimbursement of claims to this provider.

A physician in a group practice, which is a provider in our network, was a member of the Company’s board of Directors until June 2003. For the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company made payments in the amount of $309, $313 and $330, respectively to this group practice for the
reimbursement of claims.

13. Insurance Proceeds
In December 2002, the Company and its insurance carrier settled the Company’s business property protection and blanket earnings and extra expense
claim related to loss of the Company’s offices located at the World Trade Center for $74,000. During 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded gains related to
the business property portion of the claim of $7,959 and $6,784, respectively, which were included in other income. Administrative expense for the year
ended December 31, 2002 includes a gain of $19,300 representing extra expense settlement proceeds for items expensed in 2001 and extra expenses that have
not yet been incurred. Administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2001 includes expenses of $3,535 related to the Company’s recovery efforts.

14. Pension Benefits

The Company had several noncontributory, defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of its employees. In May 1998, the Company’s
Board of Directors approved a consolidation of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans into one “cash balance” defined benefit plan (the “Cash Balance
Plan”). The redesigned plan, effective January 1, 1999, provides employees with an opening balance based on the previous benefits attributed to the employee
under prior plans with increases through contributions by the Company based on the employee’s age and length of service. The benefit provided at retirement
is the sum of all contributions and interest earned.
Prior to the redesign, the Company’s pension benefits were provided through three plans. Although the manner in which these plans were funded
differed, the benefits relating to each were similar.

As part of the consolidation of the plans, the Cash Balance Plan assumed the assets and benefit obligations of the previous plans, some of which were
previously retained by an insurer under an annuity purchase contract. As a result of the consolidation of the plans, the Company is amortizing the amount of
the plan assets in excess of the benefit obligation assumed from the insurer, $116,865 over the average remaining service life of plan participants (10.5
years).
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14. Pension Benefits (continued)
The effect of the change in pension benefits reduced the benefit obligation by $20,606 which will be amortized over the remaining service life of the
Cash Balance Plan members (13 years).

The Company also has an unfunded, nonqualified supplemental plan to provide benefits in excess of ERISA limitations on recognized salary or benefits
payable from the qualified pension plans and the Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan and Executive Savings Plan. This supplemental plan is accounted
for using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method.
The following table sets forth the plans’ change in the actuarially determined benefit obligation, plan assets and information on the plan’s funded status.
December 31

2003

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of period
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan amendments
Actuarial (gain) loss
Benefits paid

2002

$ 400,268

$ 368,042
15,977
26,144
11
33,563
(43,469)

16,307
23,760

—
(7,806)
(39,458)

393,071

400,268

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period
Actual return on plan assets
Administrative expenses
Employer contributions
Benefits paid

450,977
33,916
(870)

467,523
27,641

Fair value of plan assets at end of period

445,511

Benefit obligation at end of period

Change in plan assets
(900)

182
(43,469)

945

(39,457)

Information on funded status and amounts recognized
Funded status
Unrecognized net transition asset
Unrecognized prior service credits
Unrecognized net loss from past experience different from that assumed

450,977

$ 52,440

$ 50,709
(715)
(70,951)
66,166

(525)
(58,263)
59,863

$ 53,515

Prepaid benefit cost

$ 45,209

Based on the funded status of the pension plan, the Company does not anticipate any contributions to be made during 2004 for the Cash Balance Plan.
The Company expects to contribute approximately $126 to the non-qualified plan in 2004.

Actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
December 31

Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return
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2002

6.5%
4.0

7.0%

7.5

8.0

4.0
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14. Pension Benefits (continued)

As of December 31, 2003 measurement date the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption is 7.50%. As defined in SFAS No. 87, this
assumption represents the rate of return on plan assets reflecting the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the
benefits included in the benefit obligation. The assumption has been determined by reflecting expectations regarding future rates of return for the investment
portfolio, with consideration given to the distribution of investments by asset class and historical rates of return for each individual asset class.
The following table sets forth the percentage of total plan assets for each major category of asserts:
December 31

2003

2002

25.4%
74.6

21.3%
78.7

100.0%

100.0%

Asset allocation by asset class
Equity securities
Debt securities

Total

The plan is diversified across three broad asset classes - large cap equity, international equity and domestic fixed income with the target allocation of
20% to large cap, 5% to international equities and the remaining 75% to fixed income. The Pension committee has retained the services of investment managers
to implement the Plan’s strategies.
Net pension income for the actuarially developed plans included the following components:
Year ended December 31

2003

Service cost
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization and deferral

$ 16,307

Net pension income

2002

2001

$ 14,443
23,783

(12,836)

$15,977
26,144
(36,054)
(12,070)

$ (7,359)

$ (6,003)

$ (8,652)

23,760
(34,590)

(33,984)
(12,894)

The Company administers two noncontributory defined contribution plans offering employees the opportunity to accumulate funds for their retirement.
The Deferred Compensation Plan, which is closed to new contributions, and the Executive Savings Plan are nonqualified plans designed to provide executives
with an opportunity to defer a portion of their base salary and/or incentive compensation. At December 31, 2003, the plan assets of $16,515 are included as
components of cash and investments and an offsetting liability to plan participants is included in other liabilities.

The Company also administers a contributory 401(k) Deferred Savings Plan which is offered to all eligible employees. The Company matches
contributions of participating employees; 50% of the first 6% of employee contributions or $5,247, $5,921 and $5,880 for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

15. Other Postretirement Employee Benefits
In addition to pension benefits, the Company provides certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees. Substantially all employees
may become eligible for those benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the Company.
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15. Other Postretirement Employee Benefits (continued)
The change in benefit obligation, plan assets and information on the plans’ funded status and the components of the net periodic benefit cost are as
follows:
December 31

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of period
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gain
Benefits paid

2003

2002

$ 120,726

$ 124,481
1,500
7,686
(7,154)
(5,787)

1,597
6,975
(2,457)
(9,030)

117,811

Benefit obligation at end of period

120,726

Change in plan assets

—

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period
Employer contributions
Benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets at end of period

Information on funded status and amounts recognized
Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial gain
Unrecognized transition obligation
Accrued postretirement benefit cost

9,030
(9,030)

—
5,787
(5,787)

—

—

(117,811)
(63,647)
38,715

(120,726)
(66,027)

$(142,743)

$ (143,736)

43,017

December 31

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of transition obligation
Amortization of actuarial gain

2003

2002

2001

$ 1,597

$ 1,500
7,686

$1,639

6,975
4,302
(4,837)

$ 8,037

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost

4,301

(4,699)
$ 8,788

8,434
4,302
(4,738)

$9,637

Actuarial gains or losses for postretirement life and health benefits are recorded separately when they exceed 10% of their respective accumulated
postretirement benefit obligations and, at that time, the entire amount of the gain is amortized over the period in which eligibility requirements are fulfilled (20
years).
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15. Other Postretirement Employee Benefits (continued)
The actuarial assumptions used for determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as measured on December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as
follows:
December 31

Weighted-average discount rate
Health care trend rates:

Participants under age 65 in EPO and PPO Plans
Participants under age 65 in other plans
Participants age 65 and over in Medicare HMOs
Participants age 65 and over in Indemnity Plans
Caps on Company paid portion of health care premiums for participants who retire on or after
May 1, 1996 (in whole dollars):
Participants age 65 and older with Medicare Carve-out Plans
Participants under age 65 with POS—Point of Service Plans

2003

2002

6.5%

7.0%

10.0%-4.5%
10.0%-4.5%
30.7%-4.5%
9.0%-4.5%

11.0%-4.5%
11.0%-4.5%
21.9%-4.5%
10.0%-4.5%

$2,358
$4,926

$2,358
$4,926

The trend rate ranges shown indicate the trend rates will decrease 1.0% annually, other than the Medicare HMO and the Indemnity Plan, until ultimately
leveling out at 4.5%. The annual trend rate for the Medicare HMO is 30.7%, 22.8%, and 10.1% for the next three years and then decreases annually until
ultimately leveling out at 4.5%. The annual trend rate for the Indemnity Plan is 9.0% and 8.0% for the next two years and then decreases 1.0% annually until
ultimately leveling out at 4.5%.

The health care cost trend rate assumptions have a significant effect on the amounts reported. Increasing and decreasing the assumed health care cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase and decrease the postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003 by $6,890 and
$6,174, respectively, and increase and decrease the service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for December 31, 2003 by
$445 and $405, respectively.

16. Concentration of Business
The Company’s business is concentrated in New York and New Jersey, with more than 98% of its premium revenue received from New York business.
As a result, future acts of terrorism, changes in regulatory, market or healthcare provider conditions in either of these states, particularly New York, could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
The Company earns revenue from its contracts with the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), the federal agency that administers the
Medicare program. Specifically, the Company has a contract with CMS to provide HMO Medicare+Choice coverage to Medicare beneficiaries in certain New
York counties and the Company has a contract to serve as fiscal intermediary for the Medicare Part A program and a carrier for the Medicare Part B program
(collectively, referred to as “Medicare Services”). The Company’s Medicare+Choice product and Medicare Services represented 9% and 27% of total premium
earned and administrative service fee revenue, respectively, during 2003.

The Company earns revenue from its contracts to provide healthcare services to New York State and New York City employees. The New York State
and New York City PPO business accounts for approximately represented 18% and 14% of total premium earned, respectively, during 2003.
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17. Segment Information
WellChoice has two reportable segments: commercial managed care and other insurance products and services. The commercial managed care segment
includes group PPO, HMO (including Medicare+Choice), EPO and other products as well as the Company’s New York City and New York State PPO
business. The other insurance products and services segment consists of the Company’s traditional indemnity products, Medicare supplemental, individual
hospital only, state sponsored individual plans, government mandated individual plans and government contracts with CMS to act as a fiscal intermediary
for Medicare Part A program beneficiaries and as a carrier for Medicare Part B program beneficiaries.
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense for the period ended December 31, 2003 include administrative expenses of $10,717 and
$2,650, for the managed care and other insurance products and services segments respectively, related to unoccupied leased office space, see footnote 11.

The reportable segments follow the Company’s method of internal reporting by products and services. The financial results of the Company’s segment
are presented consistent with the accounting policies described in Note 2. Administrative expenses, investment income, and other income, but not assets, are
allocated to the segments. There are no intersegment sales or expenses.
The following table presents information by reportable segment:
Other
Insurance
Products and

Commercial
Managed
Care

Year ended December 31, 2003
Revenues from external customers
Investment income and net realized gains
Other loss
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense

$ 4,373,643
52,885
(1,450)

Year ended December 31, 2002
Revenues from external customers
Investment income and net realized gains
Other revenue
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense

Year ended December 31, 2001
Revenues from external customers
Investment income and net realized gains
Other revenue
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense
F-30

Services

$

947,602
10,149
(274)

Total

$ 5,321,245
63,034
(1,724)
343,622

292,667

50,955

3,935,234
54,047
11,272
253,424

1,089,004
13,363
2,740
56,344

5,024,238
67,410
14,012
309,768

3,401,900
41,704
4,667
121,113

1,166,252
15,249

4,568,152
56,953
6,101
147,565

1,434

26,452
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17. Segment Information (continued)
The following table presents our revenue from external customers by products and services:
Year ended December 31

2003

2002

2001

$ 2,561,614
1,231,239
297,891
8,764
274,135

$2,349,911
1,133,637
234,112
5,343
212,231

$ 2,016,580
948,865
250,651
31,719
154,085

4,373,643

3,935,234

3,401,900

Other insurance products and services
Premiums earned:
Indemnity
Individual
Administrative service fees

312,519
463,353
171,730

397,175
507,857
183,972

489,947
508,406
167,899

Total other insurance products and services

947,602

1,089,004

1,166,252

$ 5,321,245

$ 5,024,238

$ 4,568,152

Revenues from external customers:
Commercial managed care:
Premiums earned:
PPO
HMO
EPO
Other
Administrative service fees

Total commercial managed care

Total revenues from external customers

18. Stock Compensation
The Company’s incentive plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and
cash awards. On March 26, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2003 Incentive Plan”). In accordance
with the 2003 Incentive Plan the maximum of 6,250,000 shares of common stock may be issued, including 1,875,000 shares solely for issuance under grants
of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units. A maximum of 500,000 shares may be issued to non-employee directors. Awards are granted by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Options vest and expire over terms set by the Committee at the time of grant

Stock Option Grants
In accordance with the 2003 Incentive Plan, the Company’s Compensation Committee granted options to purchase shares of common stock to the
Company’s officers and directors at the fair market value at the date of grant. These options generally vest over a three-year vesting period and expire ten years
after the grant date. A summary of the stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2003 is as follows:
Number
of

Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise price
per share

Balance at January 1, 2003
Granted

—
790,981

$

—
31.05

Balance at December 31, 2003

790,981

$

31.05

There were no options exercised, forfeited or expired for the year ended December 31, 2003. No stock options were granted or outstanding prior to 2003.
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18. Stock Compensation (continued)
Information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003 is summarized as follows:
Range of
Exercise Prices

Options
Outstanding

WeightedAverage Remaining
Contractual Life

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price

$31.03-$34.85

790,981

9.88

$31.05

There were no options exercisable as of December 31, 2003.

Restricted Stock Awards
During 2003, the Company granted 185,969 shares of the Company’s stock as restricted stock awards to certain eligible executives valued at the fair
value of the stock on the grant date with no cost to the employee. Restricted stock awards generally vest over a three-year period. The fair value of these awards
is being amortized to compensation expense over the vesting period. Administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes $497 of
compensation expense related to these awards. Unearned restricted stock compensation as of December 31, 2003 includes $5,274 related to the restricted stock
awards.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards
In 2003, the Company granted 27,076 shares of common stock as restricted unit awards to non-employee members of the Board of Directors. Stock
Units are settled in shares of WellChoce common stock and dividend equivalents. The restricted stock unit award will 100% vest on February 1, 2005
provided the grantee serves as a Director and has not terminated other than due to retirement prior to the vesting date. The fair value of the restricted unit
awards is being amortized to compensation expense over the vesting period. Administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes $87 of
compensation expense related to these awards. Unearned restricted stock compensation as of December 31, 2003 includes $753 related to the restricted stock
units.

19. Earnings Per Share
The denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share for 2003, and for the period from November 7, 2002 (date of for-profit conversion and initial
public offering) through December 31, 2002 is as follows:
2003

Denominator for basic earnings per common share—weighted-average shares
Effect of dilutive securities—employee and director stock options and non vested restricted stock
awards

83,490,478

Denominator for diluted earnings per common share

83,518,167

27,689

2002

83,490,478

—
83,497,478

Weighted-average shares used for basic earnings per share assumes that shares issued in the initial public offering were issued on the effective date of the
initial public offering. Weighted-average shares used for basic earnings per share also assumes that adjustments, if any, to the common stock issued in the
initial public offering occurred at the beginning of the quarter in which changes were identified.

There were no shares or dilutive securities outstanding prior to the for-profit conversion and initial public offering. For comparative pro forma earnings
per share presentation, the weighted-average shares outstanding and the effect of dilutive securities for the period from November 7, 2002 to December 31,
2002, are shown above.
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19. Earnings Per Share (continued)
Stock options, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock units are not considered outstanding in computing the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding for basic earnings per share. Stock options and restricted stock awards are included, from the grant date, in determining diluted earnings per
share using the treasury stock method. The stock options are dilutive in periods when the average market price exceeds the grant price. The restricted stock
unit awards are dilutive when the aggregate fair value exceeds the amount of unearned compensation remaining to be amortized.

20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following unaudited quarterly financial data are presented on a consolidated basis for each of the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.
Quarter ended

March 31

June 30

September 30

December 31

$ 1,292,078
82,983
47,741
$
0.57

$ 1,374,511
85,436
48,775
$
0.59

$ 1,339,339
87,461
52,058
$
0.62

$ 1,376,627
87,742
52,552
$
0.63

83,490,478

83,490,478

83,490,478

83,490,478

83,490,478

83,490,478

83,490,478

83,892,582

2003 Data
Total revenues
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Net income
Basic and diluted net income per common share
Shares used to compute basic earnings per share, based on weighted
average shares outstanding for the quarter
Shares used to compute dilutive earnings per share, based on weighted
average shares outstanding for the quarter

2002 Data
Total revenues
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Net loss for the period from November 7, 2002 (date of initial public
offering) to December 31, 2002
Basic and diluted net loss per common share for the period from
November 7, (date of initial public offering) to December 31, 2002
Shares used to compute earnings per share, based on weighted average
shares outstanding November 7, 2002 (date of conversion and
initial public offering) to December 31, 2002

1,280,100
79,704
79,681
(1,050)
78,631

1,321,642
60,092
60,095
(6)
60,089

1,221,204
87,224
254,409
—
254,409

1,282,714
82,748
(16,570)
—
(16,570)
(38,542)
(0.46)

83,333,244

For the quarter ended September 30, 2002, income from continuing operations includes a deferred tax benefit of $167,185 primarily resulting from the
reversal of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets. For the quarter ended December 31, 2002, loss from continuing operations includes income tax
expense of $99,318 primarily resulting from the elimination of the section 833(b) deduction that had previously been assumed during the first three quarters
of 2002. Refer to footnote 6.
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Schedule I—Summary of Investments Other than
Investments In Related Parties
Amount at

Cost

Type of Investment

which Shown
in the Balance
Sheet

Value
(Dollars in thousands)

Investments at December 31, 2003
Fixed maturities:

Bonds:
United States Government and government authorities
All other corporate bonds

$ 636,358

Total fixed maturities
Equity securities:
Common stocks
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other
Nonredeemable preferred stocks

400,389

$ 631,057
406,198

1,036,747

1,037,255

1,037,255

42,834

50,016
10,398

50,016
10,398

60,414

60,414

10,056

631,057
406,198

Total equity securities

52,890

Other long-term investments
Short-term investments

232,474

xxx
xxx

232,474

$1,353,797

xxx

$1,361,829

31,686

Total investments
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Condensed Balance Sheet
December 31,

2003

2002
(In thousands)

Assets
Investments:
Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost: $155,021 and $31,902)
Marketable equity securities, at fair value cost: $52,890 and $47,022)
Short-term investments
Other long-term equity investments

$

$

154,078
60,414
611
18,685

31,904
44,548
62,465
16,357

Total investments
Cash and cash equivalents

233,788
129,447

155,274
108,862

Total investments and cash and cash equivalents

363,235

264,136

3,962

6,109

Receivables:
Other receivables, net

6,109

3,962
1,057,855
113,526
53,515
69,164
17,079

Total receivables
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, equipment and information systems, net of accumulated depreciation
Prepaid pension expense
Deferred taxes, net
Other

1,007,330
100,788

45,209
96,533
16,903

$ 1,678,336

Total assets

$ 1,537,008

December 31,

2003

2002

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Capital lease obligations

$

Other

Total liabilities

103,796
48,345
93,838
245,979

$

110,636
47,700
142,410

300,746

Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, $0.01 per share value, 225,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and
outstanding: 2003—83,676,446; 2002—83,490,477
Class B common stock, $0.01 per share value, one share authorized; one share issued and outstanding
Preferred stock, $0.01 per share value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings (deficit)
Unearned restricted stock compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income

—
—
1,262,222
12,741

18,403

Total stockholders’ equity

1,432,357

1,236,262

$ 1,678,336

$ 1,537,008

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
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835
—
—
1,255,566
(38,542)
—
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Condensed Statement of Operations

For the
year ended

public offering)

December 31,
2003

to December 31,
2002

$ 196,708

Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries
Other income
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit
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(In thousands)

$

(40,331)

8,103

1,268

204,811
(3,685)

(39,063)
521

$ 201,126

Net income (loss)

Period from
November 7, 2002
(date of for profit
conversion and initial

$

(38,542)
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Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

For the

Period from
November 7, 2002
(date of for profit
conversion and initial

year ended

public offering) to

December 31,
2003

December 31,
2002
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Equity in earnings of wholly-owned unconsolidated subsidiaries
Deferred income tax benefit
Dividends received from Empire HealthChoice Assurance, Inc.
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Other receivables
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, equipment and information systems
Transfer of assets and liabilities from subsidiaries after for profit conversion
Proceeds from sale of property, equipment and information systems
Purchases of available for sale investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available for sale investments

$ 201,126

$

6,084

39,453
(196,708)

40,214

(10,139)

(521)
91,038
(1,167)

2,185
(5,363)
(16,730)
(64,701)

1,013
(2,471)
25,203
(91,821)

115,902

29,030

26,779
140,000

(43,519)

(4,124)

—

98,145

50,519
—
3,825
1,977

(95,963)

52,197

1,803
(152,392)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

(38,542)

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase (decrease) in capital lease obligations
Net proceed from common stock issued in the initial public offering

—

(355)
27,990

Net cash provided by financing activities

646

27,635

20,585
108,862

108,862
—

646

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$ 129,447

$

108,862

Supplemental disclosure
Dividend from Empire HealthChoice Assurance, Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary):
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

$ 140,000
—

$

91,038
133,962

Total dividend from Empire HealthChoice Assurance, Inc

$ 140,000

$

225,000
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(Dollars in thousands)

Segment
December 31, 2003
Commercial managed care
Other insurance products and services

Unpaid
Claims
And Claims

Unearned

Expenses

Premiums

$ 505,057

$

104,434

74,802
59,372

Total

$ 609,491

$ 134,174

December 31, 2002
Commercial managed care
Other insurance products and services

$ 451,838
108,086

$ 67,709
59,794

Total

$559,924

$ 127,503

Benefits

Other
Operating

and Fees

Net
Investment
Income

Provided

Expenses

$ 4,373,643

$ 52,885

$ 3,520,701

$ 611,710

947,602

10,149

641,545

264,977

775,451

Total

$ 5,321,245

$ 63,034

$ 4,162,246

$ 876,687

$ 4,882,051

Year ended December 31, 2002
Commercial managed Care
Other insurance products and services

$ 3,935,234
1,089,004

$ 54,047
13,363

$ 3,201,752
745,630

$ 545,377
303,133

$3,726,666
908,690

Total

$ 5,024,238

$ 67,410

$ 3,947,382

$ 848,510

$ 4,635,356

Year ended December 31, 2001
Commercial managed Care
Other insurance products and services

$ 3,401,900
1,166,252

$ 41,704
15,249

$2,877,902
860,919

$ 449,256
295,564

$ 3,267,616
992,993

Total

$ 4,568,152

$56,953

$ 3,738,821

$ 744,820

$ 4,260,609

Premiums

Segment
Year ended December 31, 2003
Commercial managed Care
Other insurance products and services
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Premium
Written

$

4,106,600
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Charged
(Credited) to
Costs and
Expenses

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged
(Credited)

to Other
Accounts

Other
(Deductions)
Recoveries

Balance
End
of Period

(Dollars in thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance

$

13,724
—

$

834

—

$ —
—

$

103

—

Year ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance

195,698

(195,698)

—
—

511
—

Year ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance

14,142
196,845

1,542
(1,147)

—
—

(3,244)

12,440
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14,661

—
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—
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Number

Description

2.1

New York State Superintendent of Insurance’s Opinion and Decision approving Plan Of Conversion, dated October 8, 2002 (1)

2.2

Form of Transfer and Exchange Agreement between the Fund and WellChoice, Inc. (1)

2.3

Form of Transfer and Exchange Agreement between the Foundation and WellChoice, Inc. (1)

2.4

Form of Transfer Agreement between WellChoice, Inc. as transferee, and Empire HealthChoice, Inc., as transferor (1)

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of WellChoice, Inc. (2)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of WellChoice, Inc., as amended as of July 23, 2003 (5)

4.1

Specimen Common Stock certificate (1)

4.2

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of November 7, 2002, by and among WellChoice, Inc., The New York Public Asset Fund and The
New York Charitable Asset Foundation (2)

9.1

Voting Trust and Divestiture Agreement dated as of November 7, 2002, by and among WellChoice Inc., The New York Public Asset Fund and
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Exhibit 10.4(a)

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO THE
EMPIRE BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD
EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN TRUST

WHEREAS , Empire HealthChoice, Inc. doing business as Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield (“Empire”) has sponsored the Empire Blue Cross and
Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan (the “Plan”) and established the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan Trust (the “Trust”) to hold
the Plan’s assets; and

WHEREAS, WellChoice, Inc. (the ‘Company”), as the successor to Empire adopted the Plan; adopted the Plan and has assumed the Trust; and

WHEREAS, Section 5.2 of the Trust provides for a successor employer to become the Employer under the terms of the trust in the event of a
dissolution, merger or consolidation, where the successor employer is continuing to carry on all or substantially all of the business and elects to carry on the
provisions of the Plan; and
WHEREAS , pursuant to Section 5.4 of the Trust, the Employer has the right to amend the Trust at any time; and
WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Trust, effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002, to reflect the change in the
sponsorship of the Trust.
NOW THEREFORE , effective after the close of business on November 7, 2002, the Trust is hereby amended as follows:
1. The introductory paragraph of the Trust is amended by inserting the following sentence at the end there of:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002, ‘Employer’ shall mean WellChoice, Inc., a for-profit
corporation.”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment as of this 18th day of December, 2002.

WELLCHOICE, INC.
By:

/s/ Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Exhibit 10.4(b)

SECOND AMENDMENT
TO THE
EMPIRE BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD
EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2001
WHEREAS, Empire HealthChoice, Inc., doing business as Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield, (the “Company”) maintains the Empire Blue Cross
and Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan (the “Plan”); and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 12.1 of the Plan, the Company has the right to amend the Plan at any time; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan, effective as of January 1, 2002, to incorporate certain provisions of the Economic Growth and
Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (“EGTRRA”) including: increasing the dollar limit for elective deferral contributions; providing for “catch-up” elective
deferral contributions for participants age 50 or older; and incorporating the increased Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) Section 415 limits on contribution
allocations; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to increase the amount that a participant who is a nonhighly compensated employee may contribute to the Plan as an
elective deferral from 20% to 30% of his or her compensation, subject to the limitations prescribed in the Code and set forth in the Plan.

NOW THEREFORE, effective as of January 1, 2002 the Plan is hereby amended as follows:
1. Article II of the Plan is amended by the addition of a new Section 2.16 that reads as follows and the renumbering all subsequent sections of Article II.

“2.16 ‘Catch-up Contributions ’ means elective deferral contributions made by the Employer pursuant to Section 4.1(b).”
2. Section IV of the Plan is amended by deleting the existing Section 4.1 in its entirety and inserting the following in its place:

“4.1 Elective Deferral Contributions .
(a)

In the form and manner prescribed by the Administrator, a Participant may elect to reduce Compensation that is not currently available to
him or her but would otherwise become distributable to him or her in cash while an Active Participant, and to have the amount of the
reduction contributed to the Plan by the Employer as an Elective Deferral

Contribution, which shall be promptly paid to the Trustee and allocated to the Participant’s Elective Deferral Account. A Participant’s
election shall be in multiples of 1% of the Compensation otherwise payable during any payroll period, except in the case of a Success
Sharing Award otherwise payable during any payroll period a Participant’s election shall be in multiples of 25%, and

(b)

(i)

if the Participant is a Nonhighly Compensated Employee such election shall not exceed 20% of the Participant’s Compensation
otherwise payable during any payroll period ending on or before December 31, 2001, or 30% of the Participant’s Compensation
otherwise payable during any payroll period ending on or after January 1, 2002; or

(ii)

if the Participant is a Highly Compensated Employee such election shall not exceed 14% of the Participant’s Compensation
otherwise payable during any payroll period.

A Participant who is making Elective Deferral Contributions described in subsection (a) above who will attain age 50 before the end of the
Plan Year may elect to further reduce Compensation that is not currently available to him or her but would otherwise become distributable
to him or her in cash while an Active Participant, and to have the amount of such further reduction contributed to the Plan by the
Employer as a Catch-up Contribution, which shall be promptly paid to the Trustee and allocated to the Participant’s Elective Deferral
Account. Such election to further reduce Compensation shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Code Section 414 and such
procedure established by the Administrator. Catch-up Contributions made in accordance with such election shall not be taken into account
for purpose of the provisions of the Plan implementing the required limitations of Sections 402 and 415 of the Code. The Plan shall not be
treated as failing to satisfy the provisions of the Plan implementing the requirements of Sections 401(k), 410(b) or 416 of the Code, as
applicable, by reason of the making of such Catch-up Contributions.”
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3. Article IV of the Plan is amended by adding a new subsection (c) at the end of Section 4.3 to read as follows:
“(c)

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, no Matching Contribution shall be credited to a Participant’s Matching Contribution
Account with respect to any Elective Deferral Contribution that is a Catch-up Contribution.”

4. Article V of the Plan is amended by deleting subsection (a) of Section 5.1 in its entirety and inserting the following in its place:
“(a)

In no event shall the Elective Deferral Contributions made on behalf of a Participant in any calendar year exceed the applicable dollar limit for
such calendar year under Code Section 402(g) except to the extent permitted under Section 4.1(b). In order to prevent the limitation of this Section
from being exceeded for any calendar year, the Administrator may prospectively limit the percentage or amount of Compensation which a
Participant may elect to have contributed as Elective Deferral Contributions.”

5. Article V of the Plan is amended by deleting Section 5.7 in its entirety and inserting the following in its place:

“5.7 Limitation on Annual Additions . Except to the extent permitted under Section 4.1(b) the Annual Addition to a Participant’s Account for any
Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of:
(a)

$40,000 (as adjusted pursuant to Section 415(d)(1) of the Code); or

(b)

100% of his or her Statutory Compensation for such Limitation Year.”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed this amendments as of this 23rd day of August, 2002.
EMPIRE HEALTHCHOICE, INC. D/B/A/
EMPIRE BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD

By:
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/s/ Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Exhibit 10.4(c)

THIRD AMENDMENT
TO THE
EMPIRE BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD
EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2001

WHEREAS , Empire HealthChoice, Inc. doing business as Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield (“Empire”) has sponsored the Empire Blue Cross and
Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan (the “Plan”); and

WHEREAS, WellChoice, Inc. (the “Company”), as the successor to Empire, has adopted the Plan; and
WHEREAS , pursuant to Section 12.1 of the Plan, the Company, as successor to Empire, has the right to amend the Plan at any time; and
WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 to reflect the change in the sponsorship
of the Plan from Empire to the Company; and
WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan effective as of January 1, 2002, to make technical corrections to the restated document, and to
incorporate in “good faith” certain provisions of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (“EGTRRA”) including: modifying the
rollover and hardship withdrawal provisions of the Plan; and
WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan, effective as of January 1, 2003, to incorporate the “model” Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”)
language regarding minimum required distributions; and

WHEREAS, the Company has submitted the Plan to the IRS for a determination on the qualified status of the Plan, and the Company desires to amend
the Plan effective, as of January 1, 2001, to make certain typographical revisions that were requested by the IRS as part of the review process.
NOW THEREFORE , the Plan is hereby amended as follows:
1. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002, Article I of the Plan is amended by deleting Section 1.1 in its entirety and by inserting the
following new Section 1.1 in its place:

“1.1

History. Blue Cross of Northeastern New York, Inc. adopted the Plan (‘originally named the Blue Cross of Northeastern New York, Inc.
Employee Savings and Protection Plan’) on November 1, 1983. On June 5, 1985, subsequent to the merger of Blue Cross of Northeastern
New York, Inc. into Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield (“Empire”), Empire adopted the Plan for its Albany
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Division employees and renamed it the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Employee Savings Plan. Effective as of October 1, 1987, the Plan
was amended and restated to comply with the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder, and to extend coverage to all eligible
employees of Empire. The Plan was subsequently amended and restated effective as of January 1, 1989 and as of January 1, 2001. As of the
close of business on November 7, 2002, upon Empire’s conversion to a for-profit entity, Empire ceased to sponsor the Plan which was adopted,
along with all associated assets and liabilities, by WellChoice, Inc. the successor employer.”
2. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002, Article II of the Plan is further amended by deleting Section 2.8 in its entirety and by
inserting the following in its place:

“2.8

‘Administrator ’ means WellChoice, Inc.”

3. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 , Article II of the Plan is further amended by deleting Section 2.14 in its entirety and by
inserting the following in its place:

“2.14

‘Board of Directors ’ means the board of directors of WellChoice, Inc.”

4. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article II of the Plan is further amended by deleting the second paragraph of subsection 2.17(b) in its entirety and
inserting the following in its place:
“The Compensation taken into account for determining all benefits provided under the Plan shall not exceed $200,000, as adjusted for increases in the
cost-of-living in accordance with Section 401(a)(17))(B) of the Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to any
determination period beginning in such calendar year.”

5. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 , Article II of the Plan is further amended by deleting Section 2.27 in its entirety and by
renumbering the subsequent Sections of Article II respectively to reflect the deletion.
6. Effective as of January 1, 2001, Article II of the Plan is further amended by changing the Plan cite in the first sentence of the last paragraph of Section
2.40 (as renumbered) from “Section 1.35 to “Section 2.40.”

7. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 , Article II of the Plan is further amended by deleting Section 2.28 (as renumbered) in its
entirety and by inserting the following new Section 2.28 in its place:
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“2.28

‘Employer’ means WellChoice or any subsidiary or affiliated company of WellChoice, as set forth in Exhibit A, which has adopted the Plan,
which is designated by the Board as an Employer under the Plan, and whose designation as such has become effective and continues in
effect.”

8. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 , Article II of the Plan is further amended by inserting a new Section 2.81 to read as
follows, and by renumbering the subsequent Sections of Article II respectively to reflect the insertion:

“2.81

‘WellChoice’ means WellChoice, Inc., and any successor thereto by merger, consolidation, or sale or other transfer of substantially all its
assets.”

9. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002, the Plan is further amended by replacing each subsequent reference to “Empire”
throughout the Plan document with a reference to “WellChoice.”
10. Effective as of January 1, 2001, Article III of the Plan is amended by changing the Plan cite in Section 3.2(b) from “Section 2.81” to “Section 2.82”.

11. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article IV of the Plan is amended by deleting subsection 4.5(a)(1) in its entirety and by inserting the following in its
place:

“(1) The contribution is a pre-tax ‘rollover contribution’ which the Code permits to be transferred to a qualified plan described in Section 401(a) or
403(a) of the Code, an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code, or an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is
maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state. Rollover
Contributions into this Plan from an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code as described in the preceding sentence shall be separately
accounted for in the Employee’s Rollover Account.”

12. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article IV of the Plan is amended by the addition of the following sentence at the end of Section 5.4:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 5.4 shall not apply for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001.”
13. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article X of the Plan is amended by deleting the first sentence of Section 10.9(a) and by inserting the following new
sentence in its place:

“If a Participant’s Vested Account exceeds $5,000 (excluding any Rollover Contributions), and his or her Vested Account is immediately
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distributable, the Participant and, if the Participant is married, the Participant’s spouse (or, if either the Participant or the Participant’s spouse has died,
the survivor), must consent to any distribution of such Vested Account.”
14. Effective as of January 1, 2003, Article X of the Plan is amended by adding the following sentence to the end of subsection 10.11(d):

“For purposes of determining required minimum distributions for calendar years beginning with the 2003 calendar year, the provisions of Article X.A
shall apply.”

15. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article X of the Plan is further amended by deleting Section 10.12 in its entirety and by inserting the following in
its place:

“10.12

Small-Sum Payment . If a Participant’s Vested Account does not exceed $5,000, excluding any Rollover Contributions made in accordance with
Section 4.5, then notwithstanding any contrary provision in this Article X, his or her Vested Account shall be paid in a lump sum upon the
Participant’s termination of service. If the value of a Participant’s Vested Account is zero at the time he or she terminates service, the Participant
shall be deemed to have received a distribution of such Vested Account.”

16. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article X of the Plan is further amended by deleting subsection 10.13(b) in its entirety and by inserting the
following in its place:
“(b) The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this Section 10.13:
(1)

‘Eligible Rollover Distribution’ means any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the Distributee, except that an
Eligible Rollover Distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less
frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the Distributee or the joint lives – (or joint life expectancies) of the
Distributee and the Distributee’s designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more; any distribution to the extent
such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9); any distribution which is made upon hardship of the Distributee, and the
portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation
with respect to employer securities) unless such portion is transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in
Section 408(a)
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or (b) of the Code, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code that agrees to separately
account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross
income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.

(2)

‘Eligible Retirement Plan’ means an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a), an individual retirement annuity plan
described in Code Section 408(b), an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a), a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a),
an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b) or an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) maintained by a state, political
subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account
for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan.

(3)

‘Distributee ’ includes an Employee or former Employee. In addition, the Employee’s or former Employee’s surviving spouse and the
Employee’s or former Employee’s spouse or former spouse who is the Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order are
Distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.

(4)

‘Direct Rollover ’ means a payment by the Plan to the Eligible Retirement Plan specified by the Distributee.”

17. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article IX of the Plan is amended by deleting subsection 9.2(d) in its entirety, by relettering subsections 9.2 “(e)”
and “(f)” as subsections “(d)” and “(e)”, and by inserting the following new subsection 9.2(d) (as relettered) as follows:
“(d) The Participant’s Elective Deferral Contributions under the Plan and elective contributions and employee contributions under all other tax-qualified
or nonqualified deferred compensation plans maintained by an Employer or a Related Employer shall be suspended for a period of six months
after the Hardship Withdrawal is made. A Participant who received a Hardship Withdrawal in calendar year 2002 shall be suspended from
making any Elective Deferral Contributions under the Plan and elective contributions and employee contributions under all other tax-qualified or
nonqualified deferred compensation plans maintained by an Employer or a Related Employer for six months after the Participant’s receipt of a
Hardship Withdrawal or until January 1, 2002, if later.”
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18. Effective as of January 1, 2003, the Plan is amended by the addition of a new Article X.A to read as follows:

“ARTICLE X.A

MINIMUM DISTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS
10.A.1

General Rules .

(a)

Effective date. The provisions of this Article X.A will apply for purposes of determining required minimum distributions for calendar
years beginning on and after January 1, 2003.

(b)

Precedence . The requirements of this Article X.A will take precedence over any inconsistent provisions of the Plan.

(c)

Requirements of Treasury Regulations Incorporated . All distributions required under this Article will be determined and made in
accordance with the Treasury regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9).

10.A.2

Time and Manner of Distribution.

(a)

Required Beginning Date . The Participant’s entire retirement benefit will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, to the Participant no
later than the Participant’s required beginning date.

(b)

Death of Participant Before Distributions Begin . If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the Participant’s entire retirement benefit
will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:
(1)

If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary, then distributions to the surviving spouse will
begin by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December
31 of the calendar year in which the Participant would have attained age 70 1/2 , if later.

(2)

If the Participant’s surviving spouse is not the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary, then distributions to the designated
beneficiary will begin by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died.

(3)

If there is no designated beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant’s death, the Participant’s
retirement benefit will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death.
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(4)

If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary and the surviving spouse dies after the
Participant but before distributions to the surviving spouse begin, this Section 10.A.2, other than 10.A.2(b), will apply as if the
surviving spouse were the Participant.

For purposes of the Section 10.A.2(b) and Section 10.A.4, unless Section 10.A.2(b)(4) applies, distributions are considered to begin on
the Participant’s required beginning date. If Section 10.A.2(b)(4) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date distributions are
required to begin to the surviving spouse under Section 10.A.2(b)(1). If distributions under an annuity purchased from an insurance
company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the Participant’s required beginning date (or to the Participant’s surviving spouse
under Section 10.A.2(b)(1)) the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.
(c)

10.A.3
(a)

Forms of Distribution . Unless the Participant’s interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company or
in single sum on or before the required beginning date, as of the first distribution calendar year, distributions will be made in accordance
with Sections 10.A.3 and 10.A.4 of this Article X.A. If the Participant’s interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from
an insurance company, distributions thereunder will be made in accordance with the requirements of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and the
Treasury regulations.
Required Minimum Distributions During Participant’s Lifetime

Amount of Required Minimum Distribution for Each Distribution Calendar Year . During the Participant’s lifetime, the minimum amount
that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year is the lesser of:
(1)

the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s account balance by the distribution period in the Uniform Lifetime Table set
forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations, using the Participant’s age as of the Participant’s birthday in the
distribution calendar year, or

(2)

if the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary for the distribution calendar year is the Participant’s spouse, the quotient obtained by
dividing the Participant’s account balance by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of
the Treasury regulations using the Participant’s and spouse’s attained ages as of the Participant’s and spouse’s birthdays in the
distribution calendar year.
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(b)

10.A.4
(a)

Lifetime Required Minimum Distributions Continue Through Year of Participant’s Death . Required minimum distributions will be
determined under this Section 10.A.3 beginning with the first distribution calendar year and up to and including the distribution
calendar year that includes the Participant’s date of death.

Required Minimum Distributions After Participant’s Death.
Death On or After Date Distribution Begins .

(1)

Participant Survived by Designated Beneficiary . If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is a
designated beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the
Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s account balance by the longer of the remaining life
expectancy of the Participant or the remaining life expectancy of the Participant’s designated beneficiary, determined as follows:
(i)

The Participant’s remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one
for each subsequent year.

(ii)

If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary, the remaining life expectancy of the
surviving spouse is calculated for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant’s death using the surviving
spouse’s age as of the spouse’s birthday in that year. For distribution calendar years after the year of the surviving spouse’s
death, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is calculated using the age of the surviving spouse as of the
spouse’s birthday in the calendar year of the spouse’s death, reduced by one for each subsequent calendar year.

(iii)

If the Participant’s surviving spouse is not the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary, the Beneficiary’s remaining life
expectancy is calculated using the age of the beneficiary in the year following the year of the Participant’s death, reduced by
one for each subsequent year.
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(2)

(b)

No Designated Beneficiary . If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is no designated beneficiary as of
September 30 of the year after the Participant’s death, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar
year after the year of the Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s account balance by the
Participant’s remaining life expectancy calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each
subsequent year.

Death Before Date Distributions Begin .

(1)

Participant Survived by Designated Beneficiary . If the Participant dies before the date of distributions begin and there is a
designated beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the
Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s account balance by the remaining life expectancy of the
Participant’s designated beneficiary, determined as provided in Section 10.A.4(a).

(2)

No Designated Beneficiary . If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no designated beneficiary as of
September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant’s death, distribution of the Participant’s entire interest will be
completed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death.

(3)

Death of Surviving Spouse Before Distributions to Surviving Spouse Are Required to Begin . If the Participant dies before
distributions begin, the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated beneficiary, and the surviving spouse
dies before distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under Section 10.A.2(a), this Section 10.A.4(b) will apply as
if the surviving spouse were the Participant.

10.A.5 Definitions
(a)

Designated beneficiary . The individual who is designated as the Beneficiary under Section 2.13 of the Plan and is the designated
beneficiary under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and Section 1.401(a)(9)-1, Q&A-4, of the Treasury regulations.
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(b)

Distribution calendar year . A calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions beginning before the
Participant’s death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the
Participant’s required beginning date. For distributions beginning after the Participant’s death, the first distribution calendar year is the
calendar year in which distributions are required to begin under Section 10.A.2(b). The required minimum distribution for the
Participant’s first distribution calendar year will be made on or before the Participant’s required beginning date. The required minimum
distribution for other distribution calendar years, including the required minimum distribution for the distribution calendar year in which
the Participant’s required beginning date occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that distribution calendar year.

(c)

Life expectancy . Life expectancy as computed by use of the Single Life Table in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury regulations.

(d)

Participant’s account balance . The account balance as of the last valuation date in the calendar year immediately preceding the distribution
calendar year (valuation calendar year) increased by the amount of any contributions made and allocated to the account balance as of dates
in the valuation calendar year after the valuation date and decreased by distributions made in the valuation calendar year after the
valuation date. The account balance for the valuation calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the plan either in the
valuation calendar year or in the distribution calendar year if distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year.

(e)

Required Beginning Date . The date specified in Section 2.67 of the Plan.”

19. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article XI of the Plan is amended by deleting Section 11.5 in its entirety and inserting the following in its place:

“11.5 Claims Procedure :
(a)

Claims for benefits under the Plan shall be submitted in writing to the Administrator (or its delegate) on a form prescribed for such
purpose. Within 90 days after receipt of a claim for benefits under the Plan, or within 45 days in the case of a claim for benefits based
upon disability, the Administrator (or its delegate) shall give written notice to the claimant of its decision on the claim unless the
Administrator (or its delegate) determines that special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim.
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(i)

If an extension of time is needed for processing a claim, other than a claim for benefits based upon disability, a written notice
shall be furnished to the claimant within the 90-day period referred to above. The notice shall state the special circumstances
requiring the extension and the date by which a decision can be expected. In no event, however, shall such decision be made
more than 180 days from the date the claim was filed.

(ii)

If an extension of time is needed for processing a claim for benefits based upon disability, a written notice shall be furnished
to the claimant within the 45-day period referred to above. The notice shall state the special circumstances requiring the
extension and the date by which a decision can be expected. In no event shall such date by which a decision is expected to be
rendered be more than 75 days from the date the claim is received. If prior to the end of the 30-day extension period, the
Administrator (or its delegate) determines that due to reasons beyond its control a decision cannot be given within the 30-day
extension period, the decision period may be extended for an additional 30 days.
If an additional 30-day extension is needed for processing a claim for benefits based upon disability, a written notice shall be
furnished to the claimant within the initial 30-day extension, referred to above. The notice shall state the circumstances
requiring the additional extension and the date by which a decision is expected. In no event shall the date by which a decision
is expected to be rendered be later than: 105 days after the date on which the claim was filed.
In the event an extension of time is needed for processing a claim for benefits based upon disability, the notice of extension
shall specifically explain:

A. the standards on which entitlement to a benefit is based;

B. the unresolved issues that prevent a decision on the claim;
C. the additional information needed to resolve those issues; and

D. that the claimant shall be afforded 45 days within which to provide the specified information.
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If the claimant must provide additional information to allow the Administrator (or its delegate) to make a decision on a claim for
benefits based on disability, the period the Administrator (or its delegate) have for making a determination on the claim shall be
tolled until the date the claimant responds to the request for additional information.
(b)

If a claim for benefits, including a claim for benefits based upon disability, is wholly or partially denied, the Administrator (or its
delegate) shall provide the claimant with written or electronic notice, setting forth in a manner calculated to be understood by that
individual:
(i)

the specific reason or reasons for the denial of benefits;

(ii)

specific references to the Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;

(iii)

a description of any additional material or information which may be needed to perfect the claim, including an explanation of why
such material or information is necessary; and

(iv)

an explanation of the Plan’s claim review procedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures, including a statement of the
claimant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA if the claim is denied following review on appeal; and

(v)

in the case of a notice of denial of a claim for benefits based upon disability, the following:

A.

if an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon in making the adverse determination, either the
specific rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion; or a statement that such a rule, guideline, protocol, or other
similar criterion was relied upon in making the adverse determination and that a copy of such rule, guideline, protocol, or
other similar criterion will be provided free of charge to the claimant upon request; and

B.

if the adverse determination is based on a medical necessity or experimental treatment or similar exclusion or limit, either an
explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment for the determination, applying the terms of the Plan to the claimant’s
medical circumstances, or a statement that such explanation will be provided free of charge upon request.
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(c)

Any claimant whose claim for benefits is denied by the Administrator (or its delegate) may appeal to the Administrator (or its delegate) for
review of the denial by making a written request therefore within 60 days of receipt of a notification of denial, or within 180 days in the
case of a claim for benefits based upon disability. Any such request may include any written comments, documents, records and other
information relating to the claim and may include a request for “relevant” documents to be provided free of charge. The claimant may, if
he or she chooses, request a representative to make such written submissions on his or her behalf.
(i)

Except in the case of claim for benefits based upon disability as set forth in (ii) below, the Administrator (or its delegate) shall notify
the claimant in writing within 60 days after the request for an appeal of its final decision. If, however, the Administrator (or its
delegate) determines that special circumstances require additional time for processing, the Administrator (or its delegate) may extend
such 60-day period, but not by more than an additional 60 days and shall notify the claimant in writing of such extension.

(ii)

In the case of claim for benefits based upon disability, the Administrator (or its delegate) shall notify the claimant in writing within
45 days after the request for an appeal of its final decision. If, however, the Administrator (or its delegate) determines that special
circumstances require an additional time for processing, the Administrator (or its delegate) may extend the 45-day period by
furnishing a written notice to the claimant before the termination of the initial 45-day period. The written notice shall specify the
reasons for the extension and when the review shall be completed, provided such review shall be completed within 90 days after the
date on which the request for review was filed. A review of a denial of a claim for benefits based upon disability:

A.

shall not be conducted by individuals who made the initial adverse determination, nor a subordinate of such individuals;

B.

shall be conducted, if the claim is based, in whole or in part, on a medical judgment, upon consultation with a health care
professional who has appropriate experience in the field of medicine involved in the medical judgment and who has neither
consulted in connection with the initial adverse determination, nor is a subordinate of the individuals who made the initial
adverse determination; and
13

C.

(iii)

(d)

shall provide for the identification of medical or vocational experts whose advice was obtained on behalf of the Plan in
connection with the claimant’s adverse benefit determination, without regard to whether the advice was relied upon in making
the benefit determination.

If the period of time is extended due to a claimant’s failure to submit information necessary to decide the claim, the period for
making the determination on appeal shall be tolled from the date on which the notification of the extension is sent to the claimant
until the date on which the claimant responds to the request for additional information.

In the case of an adverse benefit determination on appeal, the Administrator (or its delegate) will provide written notification to the
claimant, set forth in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant, of:
(i)

the specific reason or reasons for the adverse determination on appeal;

(ii)

the specific Plan provisions on which the denial of the appeal is based;

(iii)

a statement that the claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of all
documents, records, and other information “relevant” to the claimant’s claim for benefits; and

(iv)

a statement of the claimant’s right to bring a civil action under ERISA Section 502(a); and

(v)

in the case of an adverse determination on appeal for a claim for benefits based upon disability, the following:

A.

the same information as in the initial benefit determination notice regarding internal rules, documents, guidelines, protocols,
or other similar criterion (or the claimant’s access to that information);

B.

the same statement as in the initial benefit determination notice regarding denials based on medical necessity or experimental
treatments;

C.

a description of the claimant’s right to obtain additional information upon request about voluntary appeal procedures and the
following statement: “You and your
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Plan may have other voluntary alternative dispute resolution options, such as mediation. One way to find out what may be
available is to contact your local U.S. Department of Labor Office and your State insurance regulatory agency.
(e)

A decision on review shall be final and binding on all persons for all purposes. If a claimant shall fail to file a request for appeal
according to the procedures herein outlined, such claimant shall have no rights to review and shall have no right to bring action in any
court, and the denial of the claim shall become final and binding on all persons for all purposes.

(f)

For purposes of this Section 11.5, a document, record or other information shall be considered “relevant” to a claimant’s claim if such
document, record or other information: (i) was relied upon in making the benefit determination; (ii) was submitted, considered, or
generated in the course of making the benefit determination, without regard to whether such document, record, or other information was
relied upon in making the benefit determination; or (iii) demonstrates compliance with the administrative processes and safeguards
required in making the benefit determination.”

20. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article XIV of the Plan is amended by adding the following to the end of Section 14.1:
“The present values of accrued benefits of an Employee as of the applicable determination date shall be increased by the distribution made with respect
to the Employee under the Plan and any plan aggregated with the Plan under Section 416(g)(2) of the Code during the 1-year period ending on the
applicable determination date. The preceding sentence shall also apply to distributions under a terminated plan which had it not been terminated would
have aggregated with the Plan as part of the required aggregation group. In the case of a distribution made for a reason other than separation from service,
death or disability, this provision shall be applied by substituting ‘5-year period’ for ‘1-year period.’ The accrued benefits and accounts of any
individual who has not performed services for the Employer during the 1-year period ending on the applicable determination date shall not be taken into
account.”

21. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article XIV of the Plan is further amended by adding the following to the end of Section 14.2:

“Matching Contributions shall be taken into account for purposes of satisfying the minimum benefit requirements of this Section 14.2. Matching
Contributions that are used to satisfy the minimum benefit requirements shall be treated as matching contributions for purposes of the actual
contribution percentage test and other requirements of Section 401(m) of the Code.”
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22. Effective as of January 1, 2002, Article XIV of the Plan is further amended by deleting subsection 14.3(c) in its entirety and by inserting the
following in its place:
“(c)

‘Key employee’ means any Employee or former Employee (including any deceased Employee) who at any time during the Plan Year that includes
the applicable determination date was: (1) an officer of the Employer or a Related Employer having annual compensation greater than $130,000 (as
adjusted under Code Section 416(i)(1) for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2002), (2) a five percent owner of the Employer or a Related
Employer, or (3) a one percent owner of the Employer or a Related Employer having annual compensation greater than $150,000. For this
purpose, annual compensation means compensation within the meaning of Section 415(c)(3) of the Code. The determination of who is a key
employee will be made in accordance with Section 416(i)(1) of the Code and the applicable regulations and other guidance of general applicability
issued thereunder.”

23. Effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 Schedule A to the Plan is amended by deleting Schedule A in its entirety and replacing it
with the following:

“SCHEDULE A
Effective Dates

The provisions of this amended and restated Plan are effective January 1, 1999 except as otherwise provided in the Plan or below:

Provision Effective December 12, 1994:

1.

Section 13.14 (military service).

Provision Effective January 1, 1996:

1.

Definition of Required Beginning Date in Article II renumbered from Section 2.68 to Section 2.67 effective as of the close of business on
November 7, 2002.

Provisions Effective January 1, 1997:

1.

Section 2.17 (elimination of family attribution rules from Compensation definition).

2.

Definition of Highly Compensated Employee in Article II renumbered from Section 2.41 to Section 2.40 effective as of the close of business on
November 7, 2002.

3.

Sections 5.2, 5.3 (nondiscrimination tests).

Provisions Effective March 22, 2000:

1.

Section 6.2(b) (default investment fund).
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2.

Section 10.2(f) (flexible distribution option).

Provision Effective January 1, 2001:

1.

Change in corporate name in Article II from Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield to Empire HealthChoice, Inc. doing business as Empire Blue
Cross and Blue Shield (deleted effective as of the close of business on November 7, 2002 ).

Provision Effective November 8, 2002:

1.

Section 2.81 (change of Plan sponsor from Empire HealthChoice Inc. doing business as Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield to WellChoice, Inc.
in conjunction with restructuring from not-for-profit to for-profit).”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has executed this amendment as of this 18th day of December, 2002.

WELLCHOICE, INC.
By:
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/s/ Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Exhibit 10.24

WELLCHOICE, INC.
2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
EFFECTIVE AS OF NOVEMBER 7, 2003,
AMENDED AND RESTATED FEBRUARY 10, 2004
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WELLCHOICE, INC.
2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose. WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “ Plan”) is intended to provide incentives which will attract, retain, motivate and
reward highly competent persons who are officers, key employees and non-employee directors of WellChoice, Inc. (the “ Company ”) and its subsidiaries and
affiliates, by providing them with appropriate incentives and rewards to encourage them to enter into and continue in the employ or service of the Company, to
acquire a proprietary interest in the long-term success of the Company.
2. Administration.
(a) Committee. The Plan will be administered by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board”) or such
other committee appointed by the Board from among its members (the “ Committee ”) and shall be comprised, unless otherwise determined by the Board,
solely of not less than two (2) members who shall be (i) “ Non-Employee Directors ” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3(b)(3) (or any successor rule)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”) and (ii) “ outside directors” within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.162-27(e)(3) under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code”).

(b) Authority. The Committee is authorized, subject to the provisions of the Plan, to establish such rules and regulations as it deems necessary for
the proper administration of the Plan and to make such determinations and interpretations and to take such action in connection with the Plan and any
Benefits granted hereunder as it deems necessary or advisable. All determinations and interpretations made by the Committee shall be binding and conclusive
on all participants and their legal representatives.
(c) Indemnification. No member of the Committee and no employee of the Company shall be liable for any act or failure to act hereunder, except
in circumstances involving his or her bad faith or willful misconduct, or for any act or failure to act hereunder by any other member or employee or by any
agent to whom duties in connection with the administration of this Plan have been delegated. The Company shall indemnify members of the Committee and
any agent of the Committee who is an employee of the Company, a subsidiary or an affiliate against any and all liabilities or expenses to which they may be
subjected by reason of any act or failure to act with respect to their duties on behalf of the Plan, except in circumstances involving such person’s bad faith or
willful misconduct.

(d) Delegation and Advisers. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members or officers of the Company any duties, power or
authority it has under the Plan pursuant to such conditions as the Committee may establish, except that the Committee shall not delegate its powers and duties
under the Plan (1) with regard to Benefits issued to officers of the Company who are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, or (2) in such a manner as
would cause grants intended to qualify as Performance-Based Awards to fail to so qualify. In addition, the Committee may delegate to one or more of its
members, or to one or more agents, such administrative duties as it may deem advisable,
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and the Committee, or any person to whom it has delegated duties as aforesaid, may employ one or more persons to render advice with respect to any
responsibility the Committee or such person may have under the Plan. The Committee may employ such legal or other counsel, consultants and agents as it
may deem desirable for the administration of the Plan and may rely upon any opinion or computation received from any such counsel, consultant or agent.
Expenses incurred by the Committee in the engagement of such counsel, consultant or agent shall be paid by the Company, or the subsidiary or affiliate whose
employees have benefited from the Plan, as determined by the Committee.
3. Participants. Participants will consist of such officers, key employees and Non-Employee Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates as the Committee in its sole discretion determines to be significantly responsible for the success and future growth and profitability of the Company
and whom the Committee may designate from time to time to receive Benefits under the Plan. Designation of a participant in any year shall not require the
Committee to designate such person to receive a Benefit in any other year or, once designated, to receive the same type or amount of Benefit as granted to the
participant in any other year. The Committee shall consider such factors as it deems pertinent in selecting participants and in determining the type and amount
of their respective Benefits. Non-Employee Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries shall not be eligible for Cash Awards (as described below).
4. Type of Benefits. Benefits under the Plan may be granted in any one or a combination of (a) Stock Options, (b) Stock Appreciation Rights, (c)
Restricted Stock Awards, (d) Restricted Stock Units, and (e) Cash Awards (each as described below, and collectively, the “Benefits”). Restricted Stock
Awards, Restricted Stock Units and Cash Awards may, as determined by the Committee in its discretion, constitute Performance-Based Awards, as described
in Section 11 hereof. Benefits granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by agreements (which need not be identical) that may provide additional terms and
conditions associated with such Benefits, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, provided, however, that in the event of any conflict between
the provisions of the Plan and any such agreement, the provisions of the Plan shall prevail.

5. Common Stock Available Under the Plan.
(a) Limitations.
(i) Plan Limitations.

(A) Total Number of Shares. The aggregate number of shares of common stock of the Company, par value $0.01 (“ Common Stock ”) that may
be subject to Benefits and issued under this Plan shall be 6,250,000 shares of Common Stock, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with Sections
5(b) and (c), and 13 hereof. Shares of Common Stock may be authorized and unissued shares, treasury shares or shares previously authorized and issued
and purchased by the Company for purposes of satisfying Awards under the Plan.

(B) Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be granted or measured
under the Plan as Restricted Stock Awards or Restricted Stock Units and that vest or otherwise become non-forfeitable by a participant during the term of the
Plan shall be 1,875,000 shares, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with Section 13 hereof and, with respect to shares previously subject to any
Restricted Stock Award or Restricted Stock Units, Sections 5(b) and (c) hereof.
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(C) Non-Employee Director Awards. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be granted or measured under Awards to
Non-Employee Directors during the term of the Plan shall be 500,000, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with Section 13 hereof and, with respect
to shares of Common Stock previously subject to any Award, Sections 5(b) and (c) hereof.
(ii) Individual Limitations. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan, the following limitations shall apply to the Awards described below,
subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 13 hereof:

(A) Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Options (whether
or not Incentive Stock Options) or Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted or measured to any individual participant under the Plan in any calendar year
during the term of the Plan shall be 300,000 shares, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 13 hereof.

(B) Restricted Stock Awards or Restricted Stock Units. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be granted or measured to any
individual participant under the Plan as Restricted Stock Awards or Restricted Stock Units during any calendar year during the term of the Plan shall be
100,000 shares, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 13 hereof.
(C) Performance Award Limitation for Long-Term Incentive Awards. Subject to Section 5(a)(ii)(A) and 5(a)(ii)(B) above, the maximum amount of
any Performance-Based Award containing a performance period in excess of one year, payable or distributable to any participant who is a “ covered employee”
within the meaning of Section 162(m) whether in cash, shares or other property shall be the lesser of (i) $3 million multiplied by the number of years in the
performance period governing such Award, and (ii) $10 million.
(D) Performance Award Limitation for Annual Incentive Awards. Subject to Section 5(a)(ii)(A) and 5(a)(ii)(B) above, the maximum amount of any
Performance-Based Award, containing a performance period of one year, payable or distributable to any Covered Employee whether in cash, shares or other
property shall be $5 million.

(E) Non-Employee Director Benefits. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be granted or measured under Awards to any
individual Non-Employee Director during the term of the Plan in any calendar year shall be 10,000, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 13 hereof.
(F) Ownership Limitation. No participant may receive a Benefit under the Plan, if immediately after the receipt of such Benefit, such participant would
Beneficially Own more than five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding Capital Stock of the Company. The terms “ Beneficially Own ” and “Capital
Stock” have the meanings ascribed to them in the Company’s certificate of incorporation.

(b) Additional Shares. The following shares of Common Stock subject to, relating to or arising out of Benefits under the Plan shall again be available
for any type of Benefits under the Plan
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for purposes of the Plan limitations contained in Section 5(a)(i) but not for any of the individual limitations contained in Section 5(a)(ii):
(i) Unexercised Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. Any shares of Common Stock subject to a Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right
which for any reason is cancelled or terminated without having been exercised;
(ii) Forfeited Restricted Stock Awards, Restricted Stock Units, and Performance-Based Awards. Any shares subject to Restricted Stock Awards,
Restricted Stock Units or Performance Awards that are forfeited;
(iii) Shares Delivered in Payment or to Satisfy a Tax Obligation. Any shares delivered to the Company as part or full payment of the exercise or
purchase price of a Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right or Restricted Stock Award or to satisfy a tax obligation in connection with an Award, including
any shares withheld by the Company pursuant to Section 17 hereof to satisfy any tax withholding requirements;

(iv) Awards Settled in Cash. Any Awards settled in cash; and

(v) Shares repurchased with Option Exercise Proceeds. Any shares of Common Stock that are repurchased by the Company on the open market or
in private transactions in which the Company is a party, may be added to the aggregate number of shares available for issuance for the exercise of Options or
issuance of other Benefits under this Plan provided (i) the aggregate price paid for the repurchased shares does not exceed the cumulative amount received in
cash by the Company and (ii) the repurchased shares shall not be added to the maximum number of shares issued with respect to Options under the Plan
which shall not exceed 6,250,000, subject to other adjustments pursuant to Section 5(b)(i) through (iv), 5(c) and 13 hereof.
(c) Acquisitions. In connection with the acquisition of any business by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, any outstanding
grants, awards or sales of options or other similar rights pertaining to such business may be assumed or replaced by Benefits under the Plan upon such terms
and conditions as the Committee determines. The date of any such grant or award shall relate back to the date of the initial grant or award being assumed or
replaced, and service with the acquired business shall constitute service with the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates for purposes of such grant or
award. Any shares of Common Stock underlying any grant or award or sale pursuant to any such acquisition shall be disregarded for purposes of applying
the limitations under and shall not reduce the number of shares of Common Stock available under Section 5(a)(i) above.

6. Stock Options.
(a) Generally. Stock Options will consist of awards from the Company that will enable the holder to purchase a number of shares of Common
Stock, at set terms. Stock Options may be “ incentive stock options ” (“Incentive Stock Options ”), within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, or Stock
Options which do not constitute Incentive Stock Options (“ Nonqualified Stock Options ”). The Committee will have the authority to grant to any participant
one or more Incentive Stock Options, Nonqualified Stock Options, or both types of Stock Options (in each case with or without Stock Appreciation Rights).
Each Stock Option shall be subject to such terms and conditions, including
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vesting, consistent with the Plan as the Committee may impose from time to time, subject to the following limitations:

(b) Exercise Price. Each Stock Option granted hereunder shall have per-share exercise price as the Committee may determine at the date of grant
but in no event less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of Common Stock on the date of grant.
(c) Payment of Exercise Price. The option exercise price may be paid in cash or, in the discretion of the Committee, one or more of the following
that the Committee determines to be consistent with applicable law (including, when applicable, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as it may be amended from
time to time) and the purpose of the Plan:

(A) by the delivery of shares of Common Stock of the Company then owned by the participant, provided any shares acquired upon exercise of a Stock
Option or other Benefit have been held for at least six (6) months by the participant;
(B) by delivering a properly executed exercise notice to the Company together with a copy of irrevocable instructions to a broker to deliver promptly to the
Company the amount of sale or loan proceeds to pay the exercise price. To facilitate the foregoing, the Company may enter into agreements for coordinated
procedures with one or more brokerage firms; and

(C) by permitting the cashless exercise of the Stock Option where the number of shares to be delivered to the participant upon exercise of the Stock
Option is reduced by a number of shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value equal to the exercise price and the amount necessary to satisfy any tax
obligations in connection with the exercise of the Stock Option.

(d) Exercise Period. Subject to Section 6(f) hereof, Stock Options granted under the Plan shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject to
such terms and conditions, including vesting, as shall be determined by the Committee; provided, however, that no Stock Option shall be exercisable later
than ten (10) years after the date it is granted except in the event of a participant’s death, in which case, the exercise period of such participant’s Stock Options
may be extended beyond such period but no later than one (1) year after the participant’s death. All Stock Options shall terminate at such earlier times and
upon such conditions or circumstances as the Committee shall in its discretion set forth in such option agreement at the date of grant.
(e) Limitations on Incentive Stock Options. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to participants who are employees of the Company or
of a “Parent Corporation” or “Subsidiary Corporation ” (as defined in Sections 424(e) and (f) of the Code, respectively) at the date of grant. The aggregate
Fair Market Value (determined as of the time the Stock Option is granted) of the Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable
for the first time by a participant during any calendar year (under all option plans of the Company and of any Parent Corporation or Subsidiary Corporation )
shall not exceed one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000). For purposes of the preceding sentence, Incentive Stock Options will be taken into account in the
order in which they are granted. The per-share exercise price of an Incentive Stock Option shall not be less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market
Value of the Common Stock on the date of grant, and no Incentive Stock Option may be exercised later than ten (10) years after the date it is granted.
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(f) Minimum Vesting Period. If the vesting of a Stock Option is not linked to any of the business criteria described in Section 11(b), then no
portion of such Stock Option shall vest earlier than one (1) year following the date of grant except that the Committee may provide for the acceleration of
vesting upon or immediately prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control or upon termination of employment or service as a Non-Employee Director due to
death or disability within such one-year period.

7. Stock Appreciation Rights.
(a) Generally. The Committee may, in its discretion, grant Stock Appreciation Rights, including a concurrent grant of Stock Appreciation Rights
in tandem with any Stock Option grant. A Stock Appreciation Right means a right to receive a payment in cash, Common Stock or a combination thereof, for
an amount equal to the excess of (i) the Fair Market Value, or other specified valuation, of a specified number of shares of Common Stock on the date the right
is exercised over (ii) the Fair Market Value, of such shares of Common Stock on the date the right is granted, or other specified amount, all as determined by
the Committee; provided, however, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with or in substitution for a Stock Option, the designated Fair
Market Value in the award agreement shall reflect the Fair Market Value on the date such Stock Option was granted. Each Stock Appreciation Right shall be
subject to such terms and conditions, including vesting, as the Committee shall impose from time to time.

(b) Exercise Period. Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan shall be exercisable, at such time or times and subject to such terms and
conditions, including vesting, as shall be determined by the Committee; provided, however, that no Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable later than
ten (10) years after the date it is granted except in the event of a participant’s death, in which case, the exercise period of such participant’s Stock Appreciation
Rights may be extended beyond such period but no later than one (1) year after the participant’s death. All Stock Appreciation Rights shall terminate at such
earlier times and upon such conditions or circumstances as the Committee shall in its discretion set forth in such right at the date of grant.
(c) Minimum Vesting Period. If the vesting of a Stock Appreciation Right is not linked to any of the business criteria described in Section 11(b),
then no portion of such Stock Appreciation Right shall vest earlier than one (1) year following the date of grant, except that the Committee may provide for the
acceleration of vesting upon or immediately prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control or upon termination of employment or service as a Non-Employee
Director due to death or disability within such one-year period.

8. Restricted Stock Awards.
(a) Generally. The Committee may, in its discretion, grant Restricted Stock Awards (which may include mandatory payment of any bonus in
stock) consisting of Common Stock issued or transferred to participants with or without other payments therefor. A Restricted Stock Award shall be construed
as an offer by the Company to the participant to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Restricted Stock Award at the purchase price,
if any, established therefor. Any right to acquire the shares under the Restricted Stock Award that is not accepted by the participant within thirty (30) days after
the grant is communicated shall automatically expire.
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(b) Payment of the Purchase Price. If the Restricted Stock Award requires payment therefor, the purchase price of any shares of Common Stock
subject to a Restricted Stock Award may be paid in any manner authorized by the Committee, which may include any manner authorized under the Plan for
the payment of the exercise price of a Stock Option. Restricted Stock Awards may also be made in consideration of services rendered to the Company or its
subsidiaries or affiliates.
(c) Additional Terms. Restricted Stock Awards shall be subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate including,
without limitation, (i) vesting, (ii) restrictions on the transfer of such shares, (iii) the right of the Company to reacquire such shares for no consideration, and
(iv) a waiver by the participant of the right to vote or to receive any dividend or other right or property with respect thereto), and may also constitute
Performance-Based Awards, as described in Section 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the vesting of a Restricted Stock Award is not linked to any of the
business criteria described in Section 11(b) or not issued in payment of other compensation that has been earned by the participant, then no portion of such
Restricted Stock Award shall vest earlier than one (1) year following the date of grant except the Committee may provide for the acceleration of such vesting
upon or immediately prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control or upon termination of employment or service as a Non-Employee Director due to death or
disability within such one-year period. The Committee may require the participant to deliver a duly signed stock power, endorsed in blank, relating to the
Common Stock covered by such an Award. The Committee may also require that the stock certificates evidencing such shares be held in custody or bear
restrictive legends until the restrictions thereon shall have lapsed.

(d) Rights as a Shareholder. The Restricted Stock Award shall specify whether the participant shall have, with respect to the shares of Common
Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Award, all of the rights of a holder of shares of Common Stock of the Company, including the right to receive dividends
and to vote the shares.

9. Restricted Stock Units.
(a) Generally. The Committee may, in its discretion, grant Restricted Stock Units (as defined in subsection (c) below) to participants hereunder.
Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate, including, without limitation, (i) vesting, (ii)
restrictions on the transfer of such Units, (iii) forfeiture provisions, and (iv) a waiver by the participant of the right to vote or to receive any dividend or other
right or property with respect thereto), and may also constitute Performance-Based Awards, as described in Section 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the
vesting of a Restricted Stock Unit is not linked to any of the business criteria described in Section 11(b) or not issued in payment of other compensation that
has been earned by the participant, then no portion of such Restricted Stock Unit shall vest earlier than one (1) year following the date of grant except the
Committee may provide for the acceleration of such vesting upon or immediately prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control or upon termination of
employment or service as a Non-Employee Director due to death or disability within such one-year period. The Committee shall determine whether a
participant granted a Restricted Stock Unit shall be entitled to a Dividend Equivalent Right (as defined in subsection (c) below).

(b) Settlement of Restricted Stock Units. A Restricted Stock Unit granted by the Committee shall provide payment in shares of Common Stock
at such time as the award agreement shall specify unless the Committee provides for the payment of the Restricted Stock Units in cash equal to the value
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of the shares of Common Stock which would otherwise be distributed to the participant or partly in cash and partly in shares of Common Stock. Shares of
Common Stock issued pursuant to this Section 9 may be issued with or without other payments therefor as may be required by applicable law or such other
consideration as may be determined by the Committee.
(c) Definitions. A “ Restricted Stock Unit ” means a notional account representing one (1) share of Common Stock. A “ Dividend Equivalent
Right” means the right to receive the amount of any dividend paid on the share of Common Stock underlying a Restricted Stock Unit, which shall be payable
in cash or in the form of additional Restricted Stock Units.

10. Cash Awards.
The Committee may, in its discretion, grant awards to be settled solely in cash (“ Cash Awards”). Cash Awards may be subject to such terms and
conditions, including vesting, as the Committee determines appropriate. Cash Awards may constitute Performance-Based Awards, as described in Section 11
hereof.

11. Performance-Based Awards.
(a) Generally. Any Benefits granted under the Plan may be granted in a manner such that the Benefits qualify for the performance-based
compensation exemption of Section 162(m) of the Code (“ Performance-Based Awards”). As determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, either the
granting or vesting of such Performance-Based Awards shall be based on achievement of hurdle rates and/or growth rates in one or more business criteria that
apply to the individual participant, one or more business units or the Company as a whole.

(b) Business Criteria. The business criteria shall be as follows, individually or in combination: (i) earnings; (ii) earnings per share; (iii) market
share; (iv) operating profit; (v) operating margin; (vi) return on equity; (vii) return on assets; (viii) total return to stockholders; (ix) revenues; (x) cash flows,
(xi) membership; (xii) member satisfaction; (xiii) technology improvements; (xiv) claims handling; and (xv) return on investment capital. In addition,
Performance-Based Awards may include comparisons to the performance of other companies, such performance to be measured by one or more of the
foregoing business criteria.
(c) Establishment of Performance Goals. With respect to Performance-Based Awards, the Committee shall establish in writing (i) the
performance goals applicable to a given period, and such performance goals shall state, in terms of an objective formula or standard, the method for
computing the amount of compensation payable to the participant if such performance goals are obtained and (ii) the individual employees or class of
employees to which such performance goals apply no later than ninety (90) days after the commencement of such period (but in no event after twenty-five
percent (25%) of such period has elapsed).

(d) Certification of Performance. No Performance-Based Awards shall be payable to or vest with respect to, as the case may be, any participant
for a given period until the Committee certifies in writing that the objective performance goals (and any other material terms) applicable to such period have
been satisfied.
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(e) Modification of Performance-Based Awards. With respect to any Benefits intended to qualify as Performance-Based Awards, after
establishment of a performance goal, the Committee shall not revise such performance goal or increase the amount of compensation payable thereunder (as
determined in accordance with Section 162(m) of the Code) upon the attainment of such performance goal. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the
Committee may reduce or eliminate the number of shares of Common Stock or cash granted or the number of shares of Common Stock vested upon the
attainment of such performance goal.

(f) Settlement of Performance-Based Awards. Performance-Based Awards may be settled in cash, shares of Common Stock or any combination
thereof. Should the Committee so provide, settlement of Performance-Based Awards may be deferred and paid in installments or a lump sum in accordance
with such procedures as may be established by the Committee. Such deferred awards may be credited with a reasonable rate of interest.
(g) Annual Executive Incentive Plan. Annual bonuses under the Company’s Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan for the Company’s
senior executive officers and bonuses to other employees to be settled in (or measured by reference to) shares of Common Stock, shall be designed as
Performance-Based Awards and settled under this Plan. Unless the Committee provides otherwise, award opportunities under the Annual Executive Incentive
Plan shall be set as a percentage of base salary, subject to the limitations contained in Section 5 hereof.

(h) Long Term Incentive Plan. Awards made under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan to the Company’s senior executive officers and
awards to other employees to be settled (or measured by reference to) shares of Common Stock, shall be designed as Performance-Based Awards and settled
under this Plan.

12. Non-Employee Director Awards.
(a) Avoidance of Conflicts. No member of the Committee shall exercise discretion with respect to his own Benefit unless such discretion is
applicable uniformly to the Benefits of similarly situated Non-Employee Director participants.

(b) Taxes. Upon or prior to the exercise of an Option or receipt of Common Stock, a Non-Employee Director may make a written election to have
shares of Common Stock withheld by the Company from the shares otherwise to be received to cover Federal, state or local income, and other taxes and
governmental obligations (“ Taxes”) incurred by the reason of the exercise or issuance of Benefits under the Plan. The number of shares so withheld shall have
an aggregate Fair Market Value on the date of exercise sufficient to satisfy the applicable Taxes. The acceptance of any such election by an Optionee shall be at
the sole discretion of the Committee. Such Taxes shall be calculated at minimum statutory withholding rates.

13. Adjustment Provisions; Change in Control.
(a) Adjustment Generally. If there shall be any change in the Common Stock of the Company, through merger, consolidation, reorganization,
recapitalization, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, spin-off, combination of shares, exchange of shares, dividend in kind or other like
change in capital structure or distribution (other than normal cash dividends) to stockholders of the Company, an adjustment shall be made to each
outstanding Stock Option and Stock
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Appreciation Right such that each such Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Right shall thereafter be exercisable for such securities, cash and/or other
property as would have been received in respect of the Common Stock subject to such Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right had such Stock Option or
Stock Appreciation Right been exercised in full immediately prior to such change or distribution, and such an adjustment shall be made successively each
time any such change shall occur.
(b) Modification of Benefits. In the event of any change or distribution described in subsection (a) above, in order to prevent dilution or
enlargement of participants’ rights under the Plan, the Committee will have authority to adjust, in an equitable manner, the number and kind of shares that
may be issued under the Plan, the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding Benefits, the exercise price applicable to outstanding Benefits, and the
Fair Market Value of the Common Stock and other value determinations applicable to outstanding Benefits; provided, however, that any such arithmetic
adjustment to a Performance-Based Award shall not cause the amount of compensation payable thereunder to be increased from what otherwise would have
been due upon attainment of the unadjusted award. Appropriate adjustments may also be made by the Committee in the terms of any Benefits under the Plan to
reflect such changes or distributions and to modify any other terms of outstanding Benefits on an equitable basis, including modifications of performance
targets and changes in the length of performance periods; provided, however, that any such arithmetic adjustment to a Performance-Based Award shall not
cause the amount of compensation payable thereunder to be increased from what otherwise would have been due upon attainment of the unadjusted award. In
addition, other than with respect to Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, and other awards intended to constitute Performance-Based Awards, the
Committee is authorized to make adjustments to the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Benefits in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring
events affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company, or in response to changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) each such adjustment with respect to an Incentive Stock Option shall comply with the rules of Section 424(a) of the Code,
and (ii) in no event shall any adjustment be made which would render any Incentive Stock Option granted hereunder other than an incentive stock option for
purposes of Section 422 of the Code.
(c) Effect of a Change in Control. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, unless the Committee shall determine otherwise at the time
of grant with respect to a particular Benefit, in the event of a Change in Control:

(i) All outstanding Benefits (other than those Benefits designed to qualify as Performance-Based Awards) shall become fully and immediately exercisable
and vested and all deferrals and restrictions with respect thereto shall lapse unless such Benefits are converted, assumed or replaced by a successor. In the
event of a Change in Control in which such Benefits are not converted, assumed or replaced by a successor, all such Benefits shall be subject to the terms of
any agreement effecting the Change in Control, which agreement, may provide, without limitation, that each Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Right
outstanding hereunder shall terminate within a specified number of days after notice to the holder, and that such holder shall receive, with respect to each share
of Common Stock subject to such Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right, an amount equal to the excess of the Fair Market Value of such shares of
Common Stock immediately prior to the occurrence of such Change in Control over the exercise price per share underlying such Stock Option or Stock
Appreciation Right with such amount payable in cash, in one or more kinds of property (including the
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property, if any, payable in the transaction) or in a combination thereof, as the Committee, in its discretion, shall determine. A provision like the one contained
in the preceding sentence shall be inapplicable to a Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right granted within six (6) months before the occurrence of a Change
in Control if the holder of such Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and no
exception from liability under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act is otherwise available to such holder.
(ii) If following a Change in Control, the Benefits of a participant (other than those Benefits designed to qualify as Performance-Based Awards) are
converted, assumed or replaced by a successor and within twenty-four (24) months following such Change in Control the participant’s employment with the
Company or the successor is terminated by the Company (or the successor) without “ Cause” or by the participant for “ Good Reason ” (as such terms are
defined in Section 13(d) below), then as of the date that employment terminates the unvested portion of such Benefits shall become fully exercisable and vested
and all deferrals and restrictions on any such Benefits shall lapse.

(iii) Upon a Change in Control, all Performance-Based Awards (and cash or other awards the payment of which depends on achievement of performance
factors (a “ performance-type award ”) shall, if appropriate, be adjusted pursuant to Section 13(a) above. If within 24 months following a Change in Control,
a participant’s employment with the Company or the successor is terminated by the Company (or the successor) without Cause or by the participant for Good
Reason, the Company (or the successor) shall pay the participant (A) any accrued but unpaid Performance-Based Award (and each other performance-type
award) which had not been paid for any performance periods that ended prior to date employment terminated, and (B) a pro-rata Performance-Based Award
(and each other performance-type award) for each performance period that had not been completed as of the date of employment termination, based on the target
award established for each such performance period and any requirement that a participant remain employed to receive a Performance-Based Award shall be
waived.

(d) Definitions. The following definitions used in this Section 13 shall have the meaning ascribed to them below:
(i) “Cause” shall mean “ cause” as defined in any individual employment, severance or Change in Control agreement between the Company and the
participant or in the absence of any such agreement, “ cause” as defined in the Award agreement.
(ii) “Change in Control” of the Company shall be deemed to have occurred upon any of the following events:

(A) Any person (as such term is used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act, other than the Fund referred to below, is or becomes the
“beneficial owner ” (as determined for purposes of Regulation 13D-G under the Exchange Act as currently in effect), directly or indirectly, of securities of the
Company representing twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or

(B) During any period of two (2) consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board and any new director, whose
election to the Board or nomination for election to the Board was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in
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office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to
constitute a majority of the Board; or (C) The Company effects a merger or consolidation with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation (1)
which does not result in any person becoming the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly of securities of the Company or the surviving entity fifty percent
(50%) or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s (or such surviving entity’s) then outstanding securities, and (2) in which a majority of the
Board of Directors of the Company or such surviving entity immediately after such merger or consolidation is comprised of directors of the Company
immediately prior to such merger or consolidation; or

(D) The Company sells or disposes of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the ownership of The New York State Public Asset Fund of more than twenty-five percent (25%) of
the Company’s securities does not constitute a Change in Control for purposes of this Plan.
(iii) “Good Reason ” shall mean “ good reason” as defined in any individual employment, severance or Change in Control agreement between the
Company and the participant or in the absence of any such agreement, “ good reason” as defined in the Award agreement.

14. Nontransferability. Each Benefit granted under the Plan to a participant (other than that portion of a Restricted Stock Award or Cash Award which
has vested) shall not be transferable otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and shall be exercisable, during the participant’s lifetime,
only by the participant. In the event of the death of a participant, each Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right theretofore granted to him or her shall be
exercisable during such period after his or her death as the Committee shall in its discretion set forth in such option or right at the date of grant and then only
by the executor or administrator of the estate of the deceased participant or the person or persons to whom the deceased participant’s rights under the Stock
Option or Stock Appreciation Right shall pass by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at the discretion of the
Committee, an award of a Benefit other than an Incentive Stock Option may permit the transferability of a Benefit by a participant solely to the participant’s
spouse, siblings, parents, children and grandchildren or trusts for the benefit of such persons or partnerships, corporations, limited liability companies or
other entities owned solely by such persons, including trusts for such persons, subject to any restriction included in the award of the Benefit.

15. Other Provisions. The award of any Benefit under the Plan may also be subject to such other provisions (whether or not applicable to the Benefit
awarded to any other participant) as the Committee determines appropriate, including, without limitation, for the forfeiture of, or restrictions on resale or other
disposition of, Common Stock acquired under any form of Benefit, for the payment of the value of Benefits to participants in the event of a Change in
Control, or to comply with federal and state securities laws, or understandings or conditions as to the participant’s service with the Company in addition to
those specifically provided for under the Plan.
16. Fair Market Value. For purposes of this Plan and any Benefits awarded hereunder, Fair Market Value shall be the average of the high and low
sale prices of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of calculation (or on the last preceding trading date if Common Stock was not traded on such date) if
the Company’s Common Stock is readily tradable on a national securities
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exchange or other market system, and if the Company’s Common Stock is not readily tradable, Fair Market Value shall mean the amount determined in good
faith by the Committee as the fair market value of the Common Stock of the Company.

17. Withholding. All payments or distributions of Benefits made pursuant to the Plan shall be net of any amounts required to be withheld pursuant to
applicable Taxes. If the Company proposes or is required to distribute Common Stock pursuant to the Plan, it may require the recipient to remit to it or to the
corporation that employs such recipient an amount sufficient to satisfy such tax withholding requirements prior to the delivery of any certificates for such
Common Stock. In lieu thereof, the Company or the employing corporation shall have the right to withhold the amount of Taxes from any other sums due or to
become due from such corporation to the recipient as the Committee shall prescribe. The Committee may, in its discretion and subject to such rules as it may
adopt (including any as may be required to satisfy applicable tax and/or non-tax regulatory requirements), permit an optionee or award or right holder to pay
all or a portion of Taxes arising in connection with any Benefit consisting of shares of Common Stock by electing to have the Company withhold shares of
Common Stock having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of Taxes to be withheld. Such Taxes shall be calculated at minimum statutory withholding
rates.
18. Tenure. A participant’s right, if any, to continue to serve the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates as an officer, employee, NonEmployee Director or otherwise, shall not be enlarged or otherwise affected by his or her designation as a participant under the Plan.
19. Unfunded Plan. Participants shall have no right, title, or interest whatsoever in or to any investments which the Company may make to aid it in
meeting its obligations under the Plan. Nothing contained in the Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a
trust of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship between the Company and any participant, beneficiary, legal representative or any other person. To the extent that
any person acquires a right to receive payments from the Company under the Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor
of the Company. All payments to be made hereunder shall be paid from the general funds of the Company and no special or separate fund shall be established
and no segregation of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth in the Plan. The Plan is not intended to be subject
to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
20. No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Benefit. The Committee
shall determine whether cash, or Benefits, or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of fractional shares or whether such fractional shares or any rights
thereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliminated.

21. Duration, Amendment and Termination. No Benefit shall be granted more than ten (10) years after the earlier of the Effective Date or the date of
shareholder approval of the Plan and, unless shareholders re-approve the business criteria described in Section 11 hereof in the first shareholder’s meeting that
occurs five (5) years after the Effective Date, no Performance-Based Award shall be granted more than five (5) years after the Effective Date. The Committee
may amend the Plan from time to time or suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. No amendment of the Plan may be made without approval of the
stockholders of the Company if the amendment will: (i) disqualify any Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan; (ii) increase the aggregate number of
shares of
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Common Stock that may be delivered through Stock Options under the Plan; (iii) increase the maximum amounts which can be paid to an individual
participant under the Plan as set forth in Section 5(a)(ii) hereof; (iv) permit the Committee to grant Stock Options with a per share exercise price less than Fair
Market Value on the date of grant; (v) change the types of business criteria on which Performance-Based Awards are to be based under the Plan; (vi) permit the
Committee to re-price, substitute, replace or buy out Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights with an exercise price or grant price less than the Fair Market
Value of the Common Stock underlying such Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right; (vii) modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation in the
Plan; or (viii) take any action which would otherwise require shareholder approval under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or applicable law.

22. Governing Law. This Plan, Benefits granted hereunder and actions taken in connection herewith shall be governed and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Delaware (regardless of the law that might otherwise govern under applicable Delaware principles of conflict of laws).
23. Effective Date. The Plan shall be effective as of November 7, 2003 (the “ Effective Date ”), provided that the Plan is approved by the stockholders
of the Company at an annual meeting or any special meeting of stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months of the Effective Date, and such
approval of stockholders shall be a condition to the right of each participant to receive any Benefits hereunder. Any Benefits granted under the Plan prior to
such approval of stockholders shall be effective as of the date of grant (unless, with respect to any Benefit, the Committee specifies otherwise at the time of
grant), but no such Benefit may be exercised or settled and no restrictions relating to any Benefit may lapse prior to such stockholder approval, and if
stockholders fail to approve the Plan as specified hereunder, any such Benefit shall be cancelled.
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Cash Awards
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1
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Incentive Stock Option
Non-Employee Director

16
13(d)(iii)

6(a)
2(a)

6(a)
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Outside Directors
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Plan
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Stock Options
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2(a)
6(e)
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1
8
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Exhibit 10.28
December 23, 2002

Linda V. Tiano
Senior Vice President and General Counsel
WellChoice, Inc.
11 West 42nd Street
New York, NY 10036
Re: Change in Control Retention

Dear Ms. Tiano:
WellChoice, Inc. (“WellChoice”) considers it essential to its best interests to foster the continuous employment of key management personnel
should WellChoice receive a proposal from a third party, whether solicited by WellChoice or unsolicited, concerning a possible business combination
transaction. Further, the Board of Directors of WellChoice (the “Board”) has determined that it is imperative that it and WellChoice be able to rely upon your
continued services without concern that you might be distracted by the personal uncertainties and risks that such a proposal might otherwise entail.

Accordingly, the Board desires to reinforce and encourage your continued attention and dedication to your assigned duties without distraction in
the face of potentially disturbing circumstances that could arise out of a proposal for a change in control of WellChoice. In order to induce you to remain in the
employ of WellChoice and its subsidiaries, you shall receive the severance benefits set forth in this letter agreement (the “Agreement”) in the event your
employment with WellChoice and its subsidiaries is involuntarily terminated in connection with a change in control of WellChoice.

For purposes of this Agreement, the “Company” shall refer to WellChoice and its successors and assigns as provided for in Section 6(a) below.

1. Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue in effect through December 31, 2005; provided that
the term of this Agreement shall automatically be extended for one additional
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year as of January 1, 2005 and each January 1 thereafter unless the Company provides you with written notice prior to any such date that it does not wish to
further extend this Agreement. Notwithstanding any such notice by the Company, if a Change in Control occurs during the original or any extended term of
this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in effect until the second anniversary of such Change in Control.

2. Change in Control.
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, no benefits shall be payable hereunder unless there shall have been a Change in
Control of the Company, as set forth below.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, a Change in Control shall be deemed to have occurred if (A) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections
13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), other than the Fund referred to below, is or becomes the “beneficial
owner” (as determined for purposes of Regulation 13D-G under the Exchange Act as currently in effect), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company
representing 25% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or (B) during any period of two consecutive years,
individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board and any new director whose election to the Board or nomination for election to the Board
was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or
nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board; or (C) the Company effects a merger or
consolidation with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation (x) which does not result in any person becoming the beneficial owner, directly
or indirectly, of securities of the Company or the surviving entity representing 25% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s (or such
surviving entity’s) then outstanding securities and (y) in which a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company or such surviving entity immediately
after such merger or consolidation is comprised of directors of the Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation; or (D) the Company sells or
disposes of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the ownership of The New York Public
Asset Fund of more than 25% of the Company’s securities does not constitute a Change in Control for purposes of this Agreement.
(c) For purposes of this Agreement, a “potential change in control of the Company” shall be deemed to have occurred if (A) the Company enters
into an agreement, the consummation of which would result in the occurrence of a Change in Control; (B) any person (including the Company) publicly
announces an intention to take or to consider taking actions which if
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consummated would constitute a Change in Control; or (C) the Board adopts a resolution to the effect that, for purposes of this Agreement, a potential change
in control of the Company has occurred.
3. Termination In Connection with a Change in Control .

(a) Termination. You shall be entitled to the benefits provided in Section 4 hereof upon the termination of your employment with the Company and
its subsidiaries during the term of this Agreement occurring within six months preceding, or within two years following, a Change in Control, unless such
termination is (i) a result of your death, retirement at or after age 65 (as set forth below), or permanent and total disability (as determined for purposes of the
Company’s long-term disability benefit plan in which you participate), (ii) by you other than for Good Reason, or (iii) by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries for Cause.

(b) Disability . In the absence of any applicable long term disability benefit plan, any question as to the existence of your permanent and total
disability for purposes of this Agreement shall be governed by a qualified independent physician selected by the Company and approved by you, said
approval not to be unreasonably withheld. The determination of such physician made in writing to the Company and to you shall be final and conclusive for
all purposes of this Agreement.
(c) Retirement . For purposes of this Agreement, “retirement” shall mean (i) your voluntary resignation of employment with the Company and its
subsidiaries at or after age 65 on your own initiative and other than for Good Reason, (ii) your termination of employment pursuant to a mandatory age limit
policy for executives adopted by the Company at least one year prior to any Change in Control, or (iii) your resignation in accordance with any retirement
arrangement established with your consent with respect to you at least six months prior to any Change in Control.

(d) Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean (A) your willful breach of a material duty or other material willful misconduct in
the course of your employment which, if curable, is not cured by you within ten (10) business days following written notice thereof from the Board, (B) your
commission of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude (other than a petty misdemeanor), or (C) your habitual neglect of your employment duties
provided you were provided prompt written notice of such neglect by the Board and a reasonable opportunity to cure such neglect. For purposes of this Section
3(d) no act, or failure to act, on your part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by you not in good faith and without reasonable belief
that your action or omission was in and not opposed to the interests of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, you shall not be deemed to have been terminated for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to you a copy of a resolution duly
adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters (3/4) of the entire membership of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for such
purposes (after reasonable notice to you and a reasonable opportunity for you, together with your counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that in the
reasonable, good faith opinion of the Board you were guilty of conduct set forth above in this Section 3(d) and specify the particulars thereof in detail.
(e) Good Reason . You shall be entitled to terminate your employment with the Company and its subsidiaries for Good Reason on or after a Change
in Control by providing at least 30 days prior written notice to the Board specifying the acts or omissions within the preceding 90 days that are believed to
constitute Good Reason and a proposed termination date. The Company and its subsidiaries shall be permitted during the 30-day period following the Board’s
receipt of such notice to cure or otherwise correct any such acts or omissions and, if reasonably cured or corrected, you shall not be allowed to resign for Good
Reason. For the purpose of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence, without your express written consent, of any of the following
circumstances unless such circumstances are fully corrected prior to the Date of Termination (as defined in Section 3) specified in the Notice of Termination
(as defined in Section 3) given in respect thereof:

(i) the assignment to you of any duties that are not commensurate or consistent with your status as Senior Vice President & General Counsel
of WellChoice, your removal from such position(s), or a substantial diminution in the nature or status of your responsibilities from those in effect
immediately prior to any potential change in control or Change in Control occurring within the preceding two years; provided that (A) any
diminution in the nature or status of your responsibilities resulting solely from the Company becoming a subsidiary of another entity (and not any
other changes to your responsibilities) shall constitute Good Reason, and (B) during the six-month period following a Change in Control, in
connection with a transition of your responsibilities to a successor shall not constitute Good Reason until the earlier of the completion of such
transition or the end of such six-month period (except you may nevertheless provide a Notice of Termination prior thereto);

(ii) a reduction by the Company or any of its subsidiaries in your annual base salary as in effect on the date hereof or as the same may be
increased from time to time;
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(iii) the failure by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to continue in effect any bonus or incentive compensation plan in which you
participate prior to the Change in Control, unless an equitable alternative compensation arrangement (embodied in an ongoing substitute or
alternative plan) has been provided for you, except that the discontinuation of the grant of options or other equity based awards shall not be
deemed to be covered by the provisions of this subparagraph;
(iv) the failure by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to continue your participation in any employee benefit plans other than by reason
of any change applicable to all similarly situated employees;
(v) the relocation of the office in which you are based to a location more than thirty-five (35) miles from the office in which you are based,
unless such relocation does not increase your commute by more than twenty (20) miles;

(vi) the failure of the Company to obtain a satisfactory agreement from any successor to assume and agree to perform this Agreement, as
contemplated in Section 6 hereof.

Your continued employment shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver of rights with respect to, any circumstances constituting Good Reason
hereunder; provided, however, you may not seek to terminate your employment for Good Reason based on any act or such circumstance that occurred more
than 90 days prior to the date Notice of Termination is provided. The suspension of your duties and responsibilities, following written notice from the Board
and during the pendency of the Board’s consideration of a termination of your employment with the Company for Cause shall not, by itself, constitute Good
Reason provided such suspension does not extend for more than 30 days unless you have requested in writing additional time in order to be heard by the Board
before it makes its final determination on your proposed termination for Cause.
(f) Notice of Termination. Any purported termination of your employment by the Company and its subsidiaries or by you shall be communicated
by written Notice of Termination to the other party hereto in accordance with Section 7 hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” shall
mean a notice which shall indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon and shall set forth in reasonable detail the facts and
circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of your employment under the provision so indicated.
(g) Date of Termination, Etc. “Date of Termination” shall mean if your employment is terminated for any reason (other than your death or
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Disability), the date specified in the Notice of Termination which shall not be less than thirty (30) days from the date such Notice of Termination is given;
provided in the event of your proposed termination by the Company for Cause you shall be permitted to correct or otherwise cure the offending act or failure to
act, if possible, during the period following such notice.
4. Compensation Upon Termination.

(a) If your employment by the Company and its subsidiaries shall be terminated during the term of this Agreement by (a) the Company and its
subsidiaries other than for Cause or your death, Retirement or Disability, or (b) you for Good Reason, and such termination occurs within six months
preceding, or within two years following, a Change in Control of the Company, then you shall be entitled to the benefits provided below:

(i) The Company (or one of its subsidiaries, if applicable) shall pay you no later than the tenth business day following the Date of
Termination (unless a different payment date is specified herein): (A) your full base salary through the Date of Termination at the rate in effect at
the time of the Change in Control or the Notice of Termination is given (whichever date your salary rate is higher), plus (B) the unpaid annual
incentive for the preceding year, if any, plus (C) a pro rata amount of your target annual incentive for the year in which your termination of
employment occurs, plus (D) all other amounts to which you are entitled under any compensation plan of the Company applicable to you, at the
time such payments are due, plus (E) a pro rata portion of your target awards under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan.

(ii) The Company shall pay you, on a date that is no later than the tenth business day following the Date of Termination, a severance
payment equal to two times (2x) the sum of (A) your full annual base salary and (B) annual incentive payment, in each case in effect at the time
of the Change in Control or the Notice of Termination is given (whichever date provides a higher payment). For purposes of this Section 4(a)(ii),
your annual incentive payment shall mean your target bonus multiplied by the average of the corporate score under the annual incentive plan for
the three years preceding the year in which your termination of employment occurs.
(iii) The payment to be made to you pursuant to this Section 4(a) shall not be reduced by the amount of any other payment or the value of
any benefit received or to be received by
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you in connection with your termination of employment or contingent upon a Change in Control of the Company (whether payable pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement or any other agreement, plan or arrangement with the Company or an affiliate, predecessor or successor of the Company
or any person whose actions result in a Change in Control of the Company or an affiliate of such person), except your acceptance of the severance
payment provided by this Agreement shall constitute a waiver of any right or entitlement to severance pay under any severance pay plan of the
Company otherwise applicable to you. In addition, the Company will pay you (x) all amounts under all retirement plans accrued through the Date
of Termination (which shall be immediately vested on your termination of employment), Deferred Compensation Plan or any other deferred
compensation plan or non-qualified retirement plan in effect at the Date of Termination, such amounts to be paid to you at the time specified in
your election (or deemed election) under such plans, notwithstanding any provisions of such plan (or any related trust) that would allow
WellChoice (or any trustee) to delay the payments of such amounts, (y) all amounts determined and earned by you on an annual basis consistent
with WellChoice’s practice as of the date of this Agreement for years ended before the year in which the Date of Termination occurs under,
pursuant to or in connection with any Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan adopted by WellChoice, notwithstanding the fact that your
employment will have terminated prior to the end of the relevant three-year period performance cycle thereunder or any vesting or other provisions
of any such plan, and (z) if the number of your years of service is a factor in the determination of your benefit under any of the Company’s
defined benefit retirement plans, an amount equal to any additional benefit you would be entitled to under any such plans if your years of service
for purposes of such plans was increased by two.

(b) You shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in Section 4 by seeking other employment or otherwise, nor shall
the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in Section 4 be reduced by any compensation earned by you as the result of employment by another
employer or by retirement benefits received after the Date of Termination or otherwise.

(c) If you are entitled to the payments provided in Section 4 hereof, the Company or any of its subsidiaries shall continue your participation, as if
you were still an employee, in the medical, dental, hospitalization and life insurance plans, programs and/or arrangements of the Company or any of its
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subsidiaries in which you were participating on the date of the termination of your employment on the same terms and conditions as other executives under
such plans, programs and/or arrangements until the earlier of (i) the end of the 24-month period following the date of the termination of your employment or (ii)
the date, or dates you receive equivalent coverage and benefits under the plans, programs and/or arrangements of a subsequent employer (such coverage and
benefits to be determined on a coverage-by-coverage or benefit-by-benefit basis).

5. Parachute Tax Gross-Up.
(a) In the event that any payment or benefit received or to be received by you pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (the “Contract Payments”) or
in connection with or contingent upon a Change in Control of the Company pursuant to any other agreement, plan or arrangement with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries (“Other Payments” and, together with the Contract Payments, the “Payments”) would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of
the Code (the “Excise Tax”), the Company shall pay to you an additional amount (the “Gross-Up Payment”) such that the net amount of Payments retained by
you shall be equal the amount you would have retained if none of such Payments were subject to the Excise Tax. In particular, the Company will timely pay to
you an amount equal to the Excise Tax on the Payments, any interest, penalties or additions to tax payable by you by reason of your filing income tax returns
and making tax payments in a manner consistent with an opinion of tax counsel selected by the Company and reasonably acceptable to you (“Tax Counsel”),
and any federal, state and local income tax and Excise Tax upon the payments by the Company to you provided for by this Section 5. Notwithstanding the
foregoing provisions of this Section 5(a), in the event the amount of Payments subject to the Excise Tax exceeds the product (“Parachute Payment Limit”) of
2.99 and your applicable “base amount” (as such term is defined for purposes of Section 4999 of the Code) by less than ten percent (10%) of your annual
base salary, you shall be treated as having waived such rights with respect to Payments designated by you to the extent required such that the aggregate amount
of Payments subject to the Excise Tax is less than the Parachute Payment Limit.

(b) The Company shall obtain an opinion of Tax Counsel that initially determines whether any of the Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax
and the amounts of such Excise Tax, which shall serve as the basis for reporting Excise Taxes and federal, state and local income taxes on Payments
hereunder. For purposes of determining the amount of the Gross-Up Payment, you shall be deemed to pay federal income tax at the highest marginal rates of
federal income taxation applicable to individuals in the calendar year in which the Gross-Up Payment is to be made and state and local income taxes at the
highest marginal rates of taxation applicable to individuals as are in effect in the state and locality of your residence in the calendar year in which the Gross-Up
Payment is to be
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made, net of the maximum reduction in federal income taxes that can be obtained from deduction of such state and local taxes, taking into account any
limitations applicable to individuals subject to federal income tax at the highest marginal rates.

(c) The Gross-Up Payments provided for in this Section 5 shall be made as to each Payment upon the earlier of (i) the payment to you of any such
Contract Payment or Other Payment or (ii) the imposition upon you or payment by you of any Excise Tax or any federal, state or local income tax on any
payment pursuant to this Section 5.
(d) If it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or an Internal Revenue Service proceeding or the opinion of Tax Counsel that the Excise
Tax is less than the amount taken into account under Section 5 hereof, you shall repay to the Company within five days of your receipt of notice of such final
determination or opinion the portion of the Gross-Up Payment attributable to such reduction (plus the portion of the Gross-Up Payment attributable to the
Excise Tax and federal, state and local income tax imposed on the Gross-Up Payment being repaid by you if such repayment results in a reduction in Excise
Tax or a federal, state and local income tax deduction) plus any interest received by you on the amount of such repayment. If it is established pursuant to a
final determination of a court or an Internal Revenue Service proceeding or the opinion of Tax Counsel that the Excise Tax exceeds the amount taken into
account hereunder (including by reason of any payment the existence or amount of which cannot be determined at the time of the Gross-Up Payment), the
Company shall make an additional Gross-Up Payment in respect of such excess within five days of the Company’s receipt of notice of such final
determination or opinion.

6. Successors; Binding Agreement .
(a) For purposes of this Agreement, the “Company” shall mean WellChoice, Inc. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to expressly assume and
agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company is required to perform it. Failure of the Company to obtain such
assumption and agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such succession shall be a breach of this Agreement and shall entitle you to compensation from the
Company in the same amount and on the same terms as you would be entitled hereunder if you had terminated your employment for Good Reason following a
Change in Control, except that for purposes of implementing the foregoing, the date on which any such succession becomes effective shall be deemed the Date
of Termination. As used in this Agreement, “Company”shall mean the Company as defined in the first sentence of this Section 6(a) as well as any successor
to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.
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(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by your personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators,
successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. If you should die while any amount would still be payable to you hereunder if you had continued to live,
all such amounts, unless otherwise provided herein, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to your devisee, legatee or other designee or,
if there is no such designee, to your estate.

7. Notice. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly given when delivered or mailed by United States registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the address
set forth on the first page of this Agreement with respect to the Company and on the signature page with respect to you, provided that all notices to the
Company shall be directed to the attention of the General Counsel of the Company, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in
writing in accordance herewith, except that notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.
8. Miscellaneous . No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver, modification or discharge is agreed
to in writing and signed by you and such officer as may be specifically designated by the Board. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach
by the other party hereto of, or compliance with, any conditions or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver
of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time. No agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or
implied, with respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement. The validity,
interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York, including Section 198 (1-a) of the New
York Labor Law. All references to sections of the Code shall be deemed also to refer to any successor provisions to such sections. Any payments provided for
hereunder shall be paid net of any applicable withholding required under federal, state or local law. The obligations of the Company under Section 4 shall
survive the expiration of the term of this Agreement.
9. Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other
provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.
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10. Legal Expenses . The Company shall also pay to you all legal fees and expenses reasonably incurred by you in contesting or disputing the
nature of any termination of your employment for purposes of this Agreement or in seeking to obtain or enforce any right or benefit provided by this
Agreement); provided that the Company shall not be obligated to pay any amount under this Section 10 to the extent a court or a mutually agreed upon
arbitrator determines that your claim, contest, dispute or enforcement of this Agreement is frivolous.

11. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which
together will constitute one and the same instrument.
12. Arbitration . Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator’s award in any court having
jurisdiction; provided, however, that you shall be entitled to seek specific performance of your right to be paid until the Date of Termination during the
pendency of any dispute or controversy arising tinder or in connection with this Agreement.
If this letter sets forth our agreement on the subject matter hereof, kindly sign and return to the Company the enclosed copy of this letter which
will then constitute our agreement on this subject.

Sincerely,

WELLCHOICE, INC.

By:

/s/ Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Name:

Michael A. Stocker, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer

Title:

Agreed to this 23rd day
of December 2002

/s/ Linda V. Tiano

Address for notices:

Exhibit 10.29

February 11, 2003
Jason Gorevic
Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer
WellChoice, Inc.
11 West 42nd Street

New York, NY 10036
Re: Change in Control Retention

Dear Mr. Gorevic:

WellChoice, Inc. (“WellChoice”) considers it essential to its best interests to foster the continuous employment of key management personnel should
WellChoice receive a proposal from a third party, whether solicited by WellChoice or unsolicited, concerning a possible business combination transaction.
Further, the Board of Directors of WellChoice (the “Board”) has determined that it is imperative that it and WellChoice be able to rely upon your continued
services without concern that you might be distracted by the personal uncertainties and risks that such a proposal might otherwise entail.

Accordingly, the Board desires to reinforce and encourage your continued attention and dedication to your assigned duties without distraction in the face
of potentially disturbing circumstances that could arise out of a proposal for a change in control of WellChoice. In order to induce you to remain in the employ
of WellChoice and its subsidiaries, you shall receive the severance benefits set forth in this letter agreement (the “Agreement”) in the event your employment
with WellChoice and its subsidiaries is involuntarily terminated in connection with a change in control of WellChoice.

For purposes of this Agreement, the “Company” shall refer to WellChoice and its successors and assigns as provided for in Section 5(a) below.
Term of Agreement . This Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue in effect through December 31, 2005; provided that the
term of this Agreement shall automatically be extended for one additional year as of January 1, 2005 and each January 1 thereafter unless the Company
provides you with written notice prior to any such date that it does not wish to further extend this Agreement. Notwithstanding any such notice by the
Company, if a Change in Control occurs during the original or any extended term of this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in effect until the second
anniversary of such Change in Control.
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Change in Control.
Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, no benefits shall be payable hereunder unless there shall have been a Change in Control of the
Company, as set forth below.

For purposes of this Agreement, a Change in Control shall be deemed to have occurred if (A) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and
14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), other than the Fund referred to below, is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as
determined for purposes of Regulation 13D-G under the Exchange Act as currently in effect), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing
25% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or (B) during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who
at the beginning of such period constitute the Board and any new director whose election to the Board or nomination for election to the Board was approved by
a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for
election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board; or (C) the Company effects a merger or consolidation with any
other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation (x) which does not result in any person becoming the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of
securities of the Company or the surviving entity representing 25% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s (or such surviving entity’s) then
outstanding securities and (y) in which a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company or such surviving entity immediately after such merger or
consolidation is comprised of directors of the Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation; or (D) the Company sells or disposes of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the ownership of The New York Public Asset Fund of
more than 25% of the Company’s securities does not constitute a Change in Control for purposes of this Agreement.
For purposes of this Agreement, a “potential change in control of the Company” shall be deemed to have occurred if (A) the Company enters into an
agreement, the consummation of which would result in the occurrence of a Change in Control; (B) any person (including the Company) publicly announces
an intention to take or to consider taking actions which if consummated would constitute a Change in Control; or (C) the Board adopts a resolution to the
effect that, for purposes of this Agreement, a potential change in control of the Company has occurred.
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Termination In Connection with a Change in Control .

Termination. You shall be entitled to the benefits provided in Section 4 hereof upon the termination of your employment with the Company and its
subsidiaries during the term of this Agreement occurring within six months preceding, or within two years following, a Change in Control, unless such
termination is (i) a result of your death, retirement at or after age 65 (as set forth below), or permanent and total disability (as determined for purposes of the
Company’s long-term disability benefit plan in which you participate), (ii) by you other than for Good Reason, or (iii) by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries for Cause.

Disability . In the absence of any applicable long term disability benefit plan, any question as to the existence of your permanent and total disability for
purposes of this Agreement shall be governed by a qualified independent physician selected by the Company and approved by you, said approval not to be
unreasonably withheld. The determination of such physician made in writing to the Company and to you shall be final and conclusive for all purposes of this
Agreement.
Retirement . For purposes of this Agreement, “retirement” shall mean (i) your voluntary resignation of employment with the Company and its
subsidiaries at or after age 65 on your own initiative and other than for Good Reason, (ii) your termination of employment pursuant to a mandatory age limit
policy for executives adopted by the Company at least one year prior to any Change in Control, or (iii) your resignation in accordance with any retirement
arrangement established with your consent with respect to you at least six months prior to any Change in Control.

Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean (A) your willful breach of a material duty or other material willful misconduct in the course
of your employment, (B) your commission of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude (other than a petty misdemeanor), or (C) your habitual neglect of
your employment duties provided you were provided prompt written notice of such neglect by the Company and a reasonable opportunity to cure such neglect.
For purposes of this Section 3(d) no act, or failure to act, on your part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by you not in good faith
and without reasonable belief that your action or omission was in and not opposed to the interests of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The finding that
you were guilty of conduct set forth above in this Section 3(ii) shall be made by the Company in its reasonable discretion.
Good Reason . You shall be entitled to terminate your employment with the Company and its subsidiaries for Good Reason on or after a Change in
Control by providing at least 30 days prior written notice to the Company
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specifying the acts or omissions within the preceding 90 days that are believed to constitute Good Reason and a proposed termination date. The Company and
its subsidiaries shall be permitted during the 30-day period following the Company’s receipt of such notice to cure or otherwise correct any such acts or
omissions and, if reasonably cured or corrected, you shall not be allowed to resign for Good Reason. For the purpose of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall
mean the occurrence, without your express written consent, of any of the following circumstances unless such circumstances are fully corrected prior to the
Date of Termination (as defined in Section 3) specified in the Notice of Termination (as defined in Section 3) given in respect thereof:

the assignment to you of any duties that are not commensurate or consistent with your status as Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer of
WellChoice, your removal from such position(s), or a substantial diminution in the nature or status of your responsibilities from those in effect
immediately prior to any potential change in control or Change in Control occurring within the preceding two years; provided that during the six-month
period following a Change in Control, in connection with a transition of your responsibilities to a successor shall not constitute Good Reason until the
earlier of the completion of such transition or the end of such six-month period (except you may nevertheless provide a Notice of Termination prior
thereto);

a reduction by the Company or any of its subsidiaries in your annual base salary as in effect on the date hereof or as the same may be increased
from time to time;
the failure by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to continue in effect any bonus or incentive compensation plan in which you participate
prior to the Change in Control, unless an equitable alternative compensation arrangement (embodied in an ongoing substitute or alternative plan) has
been provided for you, except that the discontinuation of the grant of options or other equity based awards shall not be deemed to be covered by the
provisions of this subparagraph;
the failure by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to continue your participation in any employee benefit plans other than by reason of any
change applicable to all similarly situated employees;
the relocation of the office in which you are based to a location more than thirty-five (35) miles from the office in which you are based, unless
such relocation does not increase your commute by more than twenty (20) miles;
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the failure of the Company to obtain a satisfactory agreement from any successor to assume and agree to perform this Agreement, as contemplated
in Section 5 hereof.

Your continued employment shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver of rights with respect to, any circumstances constituting Good Reason
hereunder; provided, however, you may not seek to terminate your employment for Good Reason based on any act or such circumstance that occurred more
than 90 days prior to the date Notice of Termination is provided.
(f) Notice of Termination. Any purported termination of your employment by the Company and its subsidiaries or by you shall be communicated by
written Notice of Termination to the other party hereto in accordance with Section 6 hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” shall
mean a notice which shall indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon and shall set forth in reasonable detail the facts and
circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of your employment under the provision so indicated.
(g) Date of Termination, Etc. “Date of Termination” shall mean if your employment is terminated for any reason (other than your death or Disability),
the date specified in the Notice of Termination which shall not be less than thirty (30) days from the date such Notice of Termination is given.

Compensation Upon Termination.
If your employment by the Company and its subsidiaries shall be terminated during the term of this Agreement by (a) the Company and its subsidiaries
other than for Cause or your death, Retirement or Disability, or (b) you for Good Reason, and such termination occurs within six months preceding, or within
two years following, a Change in Control of the Company, then you shall be entitled to the benefits provided below:
The Company (or one of its subsidiaries, if applicable) shall pay you no later than the tenth business day following the Date of Termination
(unless a different payment date is specified herein): (A) your full base salary through the Date of Termination at the rate in effect at the time of the
Change in Control or the Notice of Termination is given (whichever date your salary rate is higher), plus (B) the unpaid annual incentive for the
preceding year, if any, plus (C) a pro rata amount of your target annual incentive for the year in which your termination of employment occurs, plus (D)
all other amounts to which you are entitled under any compensation
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plan of the Company applicable to you, at the time such payments are due, plus (E) a pro rata portion of your target awards under the Company’s
Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan.
The Company shall pay you, on a date that is no later than the tenth business day following the Date of Termination, a severance payment equal
to two times (2x) the sum of (A) your full annual base salary and (B) annual incentive payment, in each case in effect at the time of the Change in
Control or the Notice of Termination is given (whichever date provides a higher payment). For purposes of this Section 4(a)(ii), your annual incentive
payment shall mean your target bonus multiplied by the average of the corporate score under the annual incentive plan for the three years preceding the
year in which your termination of employment occurs.
The payment to be made to you pursuant to this Section 4(a) shall not be reduced by the amount of any other payment or the value of any benefit
received or to be received by you in connection with your termination of employment or contingent upon a Change in Control of the Company (whether
payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement, plan or arrangement with the Company or an affiliate, predecessor or successor
of the Company or any person whose actions result in a Change in Control of the Company or an affiliate of such person), except your acceptance of the
severance payment provided by this Agreement shall constitute a waiver of any right or entitlement to severance pay under any severance pay plan of the
Company otherwise applicable to you. In addition, the Company will pay you (x) all amounts under all retirement plans accrued through the Date of
Termination (which shall be immediately vested on your termination of employment), Deferred Compensation Plan or any other deferred compensation
plan or non-qualified retirement plan in effect at the Date of Termination, such amounts to be paid to you at the time specified in your election (or deemed
election) under such plans, notwithstanding any provisions of such plan (or any related trust) that would allow WellChoice (or any trustee) to delay the
payments of such amounts, (y) all amounts determined and earned by you on an annual basis consistent with WellChoice’s practice as of the date of
this Agreement for years ended before the year in which the Date of Termination occurs under, pursuant to or in connection with any Long-Term
Incentive Compensation Plan adopted by WellChoice, notwithstanding the fact that your employment will have terminated prior to the end of the relevant
three-year period
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performance cycle thereunder or any vesting or other provisions of any such plan, and (z) if the number of your years of service is a factor in the
determination of your benefit under any of the Company’s defined benefit retirement plans, an amount equal to any additional benefit you would be
entitled to under any such plans if your years of service for purposes of such plans was increased by two.
You shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in Section 4 by seeking other employment or otherwise, nor shall the
amount of any payment or benefit provided for in Section 4 be reduced by any compensation earned by you as the result of employment by another employer
or by retirement benefits received after the Date of Termination or otherwise.

If you are entitled to the payments provided in Section 4 hereof, the Company or any of its subsidiaries shall continue your participation, as if you were
still an employee, in the medical, dental, hospitalization and life insurance plans, programs and/or arrangements of the Company or any of its subsidiaries in
which you were participating on the date of the termination of your employment on the same terms and conditions as other executives under such plans,
programs and/or arrangements until the earlier of (i) the end of the 24-month period following the date of the termination of your employment or (ii) the date, or
dates you receive equivalent coverage and benefits under the plans, programs and/or arrangements of a subsequent employer (such coverage and benefits to be
determined on a coverage-by-coverage or benefit-by-benefit basis).
Successors; Binding Agreement .

For purposes of this Agreement, the “Company” shall mean WellChoice, Inc. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by
purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to expressly assume and agree to perform
this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company is required to perform it. Failure of the Company to obtain such assumption and
agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such succession shall be a breach of this Agreement and shall entitle you to compensation from the Company in the
same amount and on the same terms as you would be entitled hereunder if you had terminated your employment for Good Reason following a Change in
Control, except that for purposes of implementing the foregoing, the date on which any such succession becomes effective shall be deemed the Date of
Termination. As used in this Agreement, “Company”shall mean the Company as defined in the first sentence of this Section 5(a) as well as any successor to
its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.
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This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by your personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs,
distributees, devisees and legatees. If you should die while any amount would still be payable to you hereunder if you had continued to live, all such amounts,
unless otherwise provided herein, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to your devisee, legatee or other designee or, if there is no such
designee, to your estate.
Notice. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed
to have been duly given when delivered or mailed by United States registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the address set forth
on the first page of this Agreement with respect to the Company and on the signature page with respect to you, provided that all notices to the Company shall
be directed to the attention of the General Counsel of the Company, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in
accordance herewith, except that notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

Miscellaneous . No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver, modification or discharge is agreed to in
writing and signed by you and such officer as may be specifically designated by the Board. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the
other party hereto of, or compliance with, any conditions or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of
similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time. This Agreement supercedes the Agreement entered into regarding
the subject matter hereof by the parties hereto dated December 23, 2002, and no agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with
respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement. The validity, interpretation, construction
and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York, including Section 198 (1-a) of the New York Labor Law. All
references to sections of the Code shall be deemed also to refer to any successor provisions to such sections. Any payments provided for hereunder shall be
paid net of any applicable withholding required under federal, state or local law. The obligations of the Company under Section 4 shall survive the expiration
of the term of this Agreement.

Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this
Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.
Legal Expenses . The Company shall also pay to you all legal fees and expenses reasonably incurred by you in contesting or disputing the nature of
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any termination of your employment for purposes of this Agreement or in seeking to obtain or enforce any right or benefit provided by this Agreement);
provided that the Company shall not be obligated to pay any amount under this Section 10 to the extent a court or a mutually agreed upon arbitrator determines
that your claim, contest, dispute or enforcement of this Agreement is frivolous.

Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will
constitute one and the same instrument.
Arbitration . Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in accordance with
the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator’s award in any court having jurisdiction; provided,
however, that you shall be entitled to seek specific performance of your right to be paid until the Date of Termination during the pendency of any dispute or
controversy arising tinder or in connection with this Agreement.
If this letter sets forth our agreement on the subject matter hereof, kindly sign and return to the Company the enclosed copy of this letter which will then
constitute our agreement on this subject.

Sincerely,

WELLCHOICE, INC.

By:

/s/ Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Name: Michael A. Stocker, M.D.
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Agreed to this 12 th day
of February 2003

/s/ Jason Gorevic

Address for notices:
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WELLCHOICE, INC.
ANNUAL EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
2004 PLAN DESCRIPTION
PURPOSE
The purpose of the WellChoice, Inc. (the “Company”) Annual Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) is to improve Company performance by
relating executive and management compensation to corporate and division annual objectives and to motivate eligible employees to achieve operational
excellence.

ELIGIBILITY
Participation in the Plan is generally restricted to full-time positions that are:

1.

Executive, middle management, or other key contributors, and

2.

Grades 25 or above.

However, additional positions below grade 25 that significantly and directly influence business performance may be selectively included at the discretion of
the President and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”). Positions otherwise eligible may be deleted at the CEO’s discretion. The Target Award Pool will not be
increased to accommodate the target awards for any such positions that are added.
Positions participating in the Sales Incentive Plan or other short-term incentive plans offered by the Company are not eligible to participate in this Plan for that
portion of the year during which they participated in another plan.

ADMINISTRATION SUMMARY
At the beginning of each year, the CEO will develop performance measures for the Company based on WellChoice’s annual plan. The CEO will recommend
the corporate objectives to the Board of Directors for approval.
At the beginning of each year (See Exhibit A), the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”) will evaluate the performance of the CEO and the
Company for the most recent Plan year. The Committee will then establish the Performance Adjusted Award Pool and recommend the actual incentive
payments to be awarded to the CEO and direct reports to the CEO, and present them to the full Board for ratification. The Committee may, at its discretion,
establish separate pools and separate multipliers for the CEO and for the group of all other eligible executives.

The Committee has overall responsibility for, and has the maximum discretion permitted under the law over, the administration of the Plan and the
interpretation of all of the Plan’s terms. The Board of Directors reserves the right to amend, suspend, or terminate the Plan at any time without recourse on the
part of any employee.
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PLAN FEATURES
Individual Awards - Current participants and new participants who enter the Plan after January 1, 2004 will have Individual Awards based on their base
salary in effect as of April 15, 2004 times the target award percentage associated with their grade level as shown in Exhibit B. Pro-rations will be made for
salary and grade changes that occur after April 15, 2004 as appropriate.
Adjusted Individual Awards are determined by the CEO and management based on the individual’s contribution to corporate, division and individual
business objectives. Adjusted Individual Awards for the direct reports to the CEO, and direct reports to the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer, will be individually reviewed by the Compensation Committee. An Adjusted Individual Award may be more or less than the Individual Target Award
depending on actual results achieved, but will not exceed 1.5 times the Individual Target Award. All awards are granted as lump sum payments.

Target Award Pool - The sum of the Individual Target Awards of eligible Plan participants in grade 25 and above at 100% performance on all objectives is
the Target Award Pool. At target, if all Plan participants as of December 2003 remain in the Plan for the full year, the Target Award Pool would be $11.6
million (not including the target award for the CEO, for whom the Board may establish a separate pool). The actual pool will be based on participants as of
December 31, 2004, prorated based on months of participation in the Plan and any changes in grade level during the Plan year as well as changes to base
salary that occur during the Plan year.
Performance Objectives - Specific objectives are established at the beginning of the performance period (See Exhibit C) for the corporation, each division and
each eligible individual. Objectives may be weighted based on relative importance.
Corporate objectives will be expressed as measurable results, (e.g., achievement of targeted pre-tax earnings growth, increase in membership, customer
satisfaction, etc.).

Performance Measures - Objectives will have numerical measures by which to assess performance. Each objective will generally have a threshold level of
performance, below which no credit will be earned. In some cases, the target performance level may also be the threshold. Each objective will also have a
maximum level of performance above which no additional credit will be earned. Achieving the objective, i.e., the target performance level, earns 1.0 credit for
that goal.

Measures selected for the Corporation may vary from one year to another. Chosen measures will, in each instance, reflect important strategic and/or tactical
objectives crucial to the applicable entity’s success.

Corporate Multiplier - The Corporate Multiplier will be based on the aggregate level of corporate objective achievement and will range from 0 to 1.5. Each
weighted corporate objective will be evaluated and scored separately. The weighted scores will be summed to become the Corporate Multiplier (See Exhibit D) to
be utilized in determining the Performance Adjusted Award Pool. The Committee has discretion to modify the results of the calculation if, in their opinion, it
does not appropriately reflect overall performance.

Performance Adjusted Award Pool - Calculation of a Performance Adjusted Award Pool will be made at the end of each performance year. The Pool is equal
to the product of the Target Award Pool adjusted by the Corporate Multiplier. Payments to all eligible participants may not exceed the Performance
Adjusted Award Pool.
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SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS
If a participant’s employment is terminated due to death or permanent disability, or if a termination of employment occurs due to retirement (defined herein as
eligibility for retiree medical coverage based on meeting the following criteria: (1) at least 65 years of age plus 10 or more years of service, (2) at least 55 years
of age plus 20 or more years of service, or (3) at least 30 years of service at any age), prior to the date of payment, the participant or the participant’s
beneficiary will eligible to receive, subject to recommendation by the participant’s manager and the CEO along with approval by the Committee and ratification
by the Board, a pro-rata portion of the award that would have been received had the participant been active for the full year. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Plan, if a participant’s employment is terminated prior to the date of payment due to voluntary resignation, job elimination or discharge, any
rights to an award will be forfeited.

If a participant terminates employment prior to the date of payment for any reason other than death, permanent disability or retirement (as defined above), any
rights to an award will be forfeited.

LIMITATIONS
(a)

No part of the Plan shall be construed as an employment or compensation contract, either explicit or implied. The establishment of the Plan shall not be
construed as conferring any legal rights upon any participant for a continuation of employment, nor shall it interfere with the rights of the Company to
discharge a participant and to treat him or her without regard to the effect which such treatment might have upon him or her as a participant in the Plan.

(b)

The Company shall have the right to deduct from any amounts otherwise payable to a participant, whether pursuant to the Plan or otherwise, or
otherwise to collect from the participant, any required withholding taxes with respect to benefits under the Plan.

(c)

Subject to any applicable law, no benefit under the Plan shall be subject in any manner to, nor shall the Company be obligated to recognize, any
purported anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer (otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution), assignment, pledge encumbrance, or
charge, and any attempt to do so shall be void. No such benefit shall in any manner be liable for or subject to garnishment, attachment, execution, or as
a levy, or liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of the participant.

(d)

The Plan shall not be construed as conferring on a participant any right, title, interest, or claim in or to any specific asset, reserve, account, or property
of any kind possessed by the Company. To the extent that as a participant or any other person acquired a right to receive payments from the Company,
such right shall be no greater than the rights of an unsecured general creditor.
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WELLCHOICE, INC.
DIRECTORS DEFERRED CASH COMPENSATION PLAN

1.

Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of this WellChoice, Inc. Directors Deferred Cash Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) is to enable WellChoice, Inc. (“WellChoice”) to compete
more effectively with other corporations in attracting individuals to serve as non-employee members of the Board of Directors (the “Board”). To that end,
the Plan provides members of the Board with an opportunity to defer certain fees received from WellChoice in connection with their service as members
of the Board.

2.

Definitions

2.1

“Administrator ” means the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors or agent of the Administrator specified in, or appointed
pursuant to, Section 9.2.

2.2

“Board” means the Board of Directors of WellChoice, Inc.

2.3

“Deferral Account ” means the bookkeeping account maintained for a Participant to record his or her Deferred Amounts, together with earnings
thereon credited, or debited, pursuant to Section 4.3.

2.4

“Deferral Election ” means the Participant’s election to defer all or a portion of his or her retainer and/or meeting fees.

2.5

“Deferred Amounts ” means the amounts credited to a Participant’s Deferral Account pursuant to Section 3.2.

2.6

“Director” means an individual who, at the relevant time, is serving as a non-employee member of the Board of Directors of WellChoice and is
not an active participant in the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Executive Savings Plan.

2.7

“Investment Election ” means a Participant’s election under Article 4 of the investment fund or funds used to measure the hypothetical
investment performance of the Participant’s Deferral Account.

2.8

“Participant ” means a Director who elected to participate in the Plan and shall continue until his or her participation terminates in accordance
with Section 3.1.

2.9

“Plan” means this WellChoice, Inc. Directors Deferred Cash Compensation Plan, as amended from time to time.

2.10

“Plan Year” means the 12-consecutive month period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31.

1

2.11
3.

4.

“Valuation Date” means the last day of each calendar quarter and such additional dates as the Administrator may establish.

Participation and Deferral Elections

3.1

Participation . To commence participation in the Plan, a Director must file with the Administrator a Deferral Election with respect to a Plan Year
in accordance with Sections 3.2 and 3.3. Participation in the Plan shall terminate when all amounts credited to a Participant’s account have
been distributed.

3.2

Deferral Election . A Deferral Election for a Plan Year shall specify the respective deferral percentages applicable to the Participant’s Retainer
Fees and/or Meeting Fees otherwise payable during such Plan Year. Any amount deferred pursuant to a Deferral Election shall be credited to the
Participant’s Deferral Account within 30 days after the date on which such amount would otherwise have been paid.

3.3

Timely Filing of Election . A Deferral Election shall be filed with the Administrator, in such form as the Administrator shall designate, prior to
the commencement of the relevant Plan Year. In the case of a Director who becomes an Eligible Director after January 1 and before December 1
of a Plan Year, such Director may make an initial Deferral Election no later than 30 days after the date on which he or she becomes a Director.
Such Deferral Election shall be effective as soon as administratively practicable after it is filed with the Administrator. A Deferral Election shall
be applicable only to fees payable during the Plan Year to which it relates, exclusive of any fees payable before the Director commences
participating in the Plan.

Investment Performance Elections

4.1

Additions to Account . At the time a Participant makes a Deferral Election with respect to a Plan Year, he or she shall file an Investment
Election. In the Investment Election, the Participant shall designate one or more investment fund(s) from the investment funds available for
selection under the Plan that shall be used to measure the investment performance of Deferred Amounts added to the Participant’s Deferral
Account. An Investment Election shall remain in effect until a subsequent Investment Election is made pursuant to Section 4.2.

4.2

Existing Account Balances . A Participant may, on or before July 1 of any Plan Year, change the proportions of his or her existing Deferral
Account balance that are deemed invested in the investment fund or funds referred to in Section 4. 1. Such change shall be implemented as of
August 1 of such Plan Year or as soon as administratively practicable thereafter.

4.3

Crediting of Investment Return . As of any Valuation Date, each Participant’s Deferral Account shall, under such procedures as the
Administrator shall establish, be credited with any income, and debited with any loss, that would have been realized if the amounts credited to
his or her Deferral Account had been invested since the preceding Valuation Date in accordance with his or her Investment Election.
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References in the Plan to Investment Elections are for the sole purpose of attributing hypothetical investment performance to each Participant’s
Deferral Account. Nothing herein shall require WellChoice to invest, earmark, or set aside its general assets in any specific manner.

5.

6.

Accounts

5.1

Maintenance of Account . The Administrator shall maintain or cause to be maintained for each Participant a Deferral Account. Each Participant
shall be furnished with quarterly statements setting forth the balances in his or her Deferral Account.

5.2

Vesting. The amounts in a Participant’s Deferral Account shall be fully vested at all times.

Distribution of Benefits

6.1

6.2

Benefit Payment Election .
(a)

Prior to the commencement of his or her participation in the Plan, each Participant shall file a benefit payment election with the
Administrator on such form as the Administrator shall prescribe specifying: (i) whether the Participant’s benefit is to be paid in a lump
sum, substantially equal annual installments, or both; (ii) the year in which such lump-sum payment is to be made or such
installments are to commence; and (iii) if installments are elected, the number of such installments. Lump-sum payments may not be
made later than, and installment payments may not extend beyond, the 10th year following the year in which the Participant ceases to
serve as a Director.

(b)

In the event a Participant fails to make an initial benefit payment election pursuant to subsection (a), he or she shall be deemed to have
made an initial election to receive his or her benefit in a lump sum within 60 days following the effective date of his or her cessation of
service as a Director.

Change in Election . A Participant’s benefit payment election may be changed from time to time, provided, however, that no such change shall
be effective if the Participant’s cessation of service as a Director occurs less than 12 months after the date such change is made. In such event
the Participant’s benefit shall be paid in accordance with his or her most recent election or change in election (other than a change in election
made less than 12 months before his or her separation from service). For purposes of this Section 6.2, a revocation of a prior change of
election shall itself be treated as a new change of election.
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6.3

7.

8.

Distribution of Benefits . Except as otherwise in accordance with Articles 7 and 8, A Participant’s Account shall be distributed in accordance
with his or her benefit payment election made pursuant to Section 6.1 (after giving effect to any modifications to such election pursuant to
Section 6.2). The payment of an initial installment or the entire lump sum amount shall, in accordance with the Participant’s election, be made
either: (i) within 60 days after the date the Participant ceases to Serve as a Director; or (ii) during the first 60 days of a calendar year
commencing after the Participant ceases to serve as a Director.

Death of a Participant

7.1

A Participant may designate in writing, on such form as the Administrator may prescribe, a beneficiary to receive any benefits with respect to
such Participant in the event of his or her death. Such beneficiary designation may be changed at any time.

7.2

Subject to Section 7.3, in the event of a Participant’s death prior to the distribution of his or her entire Deferral Account balance, the remaining
balance in the Participant’s Deferral Account shall be distributed in accordance with his or her benefit payment election made pursuant to
Section 6.1 (after giving effect to any modifications to such election pursuant to Section 6.2). Such distribution shall be made to the
Participant’s designated beneficiary or, in the absence of any such designated beneficiary, to the Participant’s estate.

7.3

A Participant may elect to have any amount remaining in his or her Deferral Account upon his or her death paid to his or her designated
beneficiary in a lump sum within 60 days after the Administrator has received notification of his or her death, rather than in accordance with
the Participant’s benefit payment election under Section 6.1 (after giving effect to any modifications to such election pursuant to Section 6.2).
Such a lump-sum death benefit election may be made or revoked at any time; provided, however, that no such election or revocation shall be
effective if made less than 12 months before the date of the Participant’s death.

Unforeseeable Emergency

8.1

Emergency Acceleration . In the event that a Participant experiences an Unforeseeable Emergency, such Participant may request an acceleration
of the distribution of all or a portion of his or her Deferral Account. Any such request shall be subject to the approval of the Administrator.
Approval shall only be granted to the extent such distribution is reasonably needed to satisfy the need created by the Unforeseeable Emergency
and shall not be granted to the extent that such need may reasonably be relieved: (i) through reimbursement or compensation by insurance or
otherwise; or (ii) by liquidation of the Participant’s assets (to the extent the liquidation of such assets would not itself cause severe financial
hardship). The amount paid in an accelerated distribution shall approximate the amount reasonably necessary to alleviate the need created by
the Unforeseeable Emergency.
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9.

8.2

Unforeseeable Emergency . An “Unforeseeable Emergency” means severe financial hardship to the Participant resulting from: (i) a sudden and
unexpected illness or accident of the Participant or his or her dependent; (ii) loss of the Participant’s property due to casualty; or (iii) other
similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the Participant’s control. Examples of
circumstances not qualifying, as an Unforeseeable Emergency include the need to send a Participant’s child to college and the desire to
purchase a home.

8.3

Suspension of Deferrals . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 8, in the event the Administrator approves a Participant’s
request for an acceleration of the distribution of all or a portion of his or her Deferral Account pursuant to Section 8.1 on account of an
Unforeseeable Emergency, the Participant’s Deferral Election shall be suspended (and the Participant shall be ineligible to make a new Deferral
Election) with respect to any fees otherwise payable during the period beginning on the date of such withdrawal or effective date of such
approval and ending on the last day of the next succeeding Plan Year.

Administration

9.1

Administrator. The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board, except that no member of the Compensation
Committee shall have the authority to take any action with respect to his or her own benefits under the Plan. The Administrator shall have full
power and discretionary authority to administer, interpret and construe this Plan, to determine and review claims for benefits under this Plan,
to establish rules and regulations, to delegate responsibilities to others to assist it in administering this Plan, to establish investment guidelines,
and to perform all other acts it believes reasonable and proper in connection with the administration of this Plan. Until such time as the
Administrator establishes other policies and procedures and/or appoints another agent or agents pursuant to Section 9.2, and except for Article
8, the policies and procedures established with respect to investment management, recordkeeping and day-to-day administration of the Plan
will be handled in accordance with the policies and procedures established for the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Executive Savings Plan;
and, agents appointed to provide services for the Empire Blue Cross and Blue Shield Executive Savings Plan are appointed to provide such
services for this Plan.

9.2

Agents. The Administrator may appoint an individual to be the Administrator’s agent with respect to the day-to-day administration of the Plan.
In addition, the Administrator may, from time to time, employ other agents and delegate to them such administrative duties as it sees fit, and
may from time to time consult with counsel who may be counsel to the Employer.
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9.3

10.

11.

Binding Effect of Decisions . The decision or action of the Administrator with respect to any question arising out of or in connection with the
administration, interpretation and application of the Plan and the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder shall be final and binding upon
all persons having any interest in the Plan.

General Provisions

10.1

No Contract of Service . The establishment of the Plan shall not be construed as conferring any legal rights upon any Participant to continue to
serve as a member of the Board.

10.2

Withholding. As a condition to a Participant’s entitlement to benefits hereunder, WellChoice shall have the right to deduct from any amounts
otherwise payable to a Participant, whether pursuant to the Plan or otherwise, or otherwise to collect from the Participant, any required
withholding taxes with respect to amounts deferred or benefits payable under the Plan.

10.3

Non-Assignablility of Benefits . Subject to any applicable law, no benefit under the Plan shall be subject in any manner to, nor shall
WellChoice be obligated to recognize, any purported anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and
any attempt to do so shall be void. No such benefit shall in any manner be liable for or subject to garnishment, attachment, execution, or a
levy, or liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of the Participant.

10.4

Successor Company . The Plan shall be binding upon any successor to WellChoice by merger, consolidation, or sale or transfer of
substantially all of its assets.

10.5

Validity In case any provision of this Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, said illegality or invalidity shall not affect the
remaining parts hereof, but this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal and invalid provision had never been inserted herein.

10.6

Governing Law . The laws of the State of New York shall govern the construction of this Plan and the rights and the liabilities hereunder of the
parties hereto.

Source of Benefits

The Plan is an unfunded plan maintained by WellChoice for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for members of the Board. Benefits under
the Plan shall be payable from the general assets of WellChoice. The Plan shall not be construed as conferring on a Participant any right, title interest, or
claim in or to any specific asset, reserve, account, or property of any kind possessed by WellChoice. To the extent that a Participant or any other person
acquires a right to receive payments from WellChoice, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor.
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12.

Effective Date

This Plan shall be effective January 1, 2004.
13.

Amendment or Termination

The Board reserves the right to amend or terminate this Plan at any time. No amendment or termination of the Plan shall adversely affect the right of any
Participant to receive his or her accrued benefits as determined as of the date of amendment or termination.
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WELLC HOICE, INC.
2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT A WARD A GREEMENT
(FOR NON-EMPLOYEE BOARD MEMBER)
REFERENCE NUMBER: 00000000
SECTION 1. GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD.
(a) Restricted Stock Unit Award . On the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and each Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award referencing this
Agreement (the “ Notice”), the Company hereby grants the Grantee the right to receive on a date designated by the Grantee which is on or after the Settlement
Date the number of shares of common stock, par value $.01, of the Company (“ Common Stock ”) equal to the number of units (the “ Units”) awarded to the
Grantee, as set forth in the Notice. Each such Notice, together with this referenced Agreement, shall be a separate Restricted Stock Unit Award governed by the
terms of this Agreement.

(b) Dividend Equivalents . If the Notice so provides, prior to the Settlement Date, on the date (if any) that the Company pays any ordinary or special
dividends with respect to the Common Stock, the Company shall credit the Grantee with a number of Units whose underlying shares have a Fair Market
Value equal to the dividend paid on each share of Common Stock, multiplied by the Total Number of Units Subject to Award described in the Notice. Units
issued in respect of dividend equivalents shall be subject to the same rules and restrictions as Units originally subject to the award.
(c) Plan and Defined Terms. This award is granted under and subject to the terms of the Plan, which is incorporated herein by this reference. Unless
otherwise defined in Section 6 of this Agreement, capitalized terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.

SECTION 2. ISSUANCE OF SHARES.
(a) Stock Certificates . Subject to the terms of the Notice and any deferral election made by the Grantee, on or promptly following the Settlement Date, the
Company shall cause to be issued a certificate or certificates for the shares of Common Stock representing this award, registered in the name of the Grantee (or
in the names of such person and his or her spouse as joint tenants with right of survivorship).

(b) Stockholder Rights . Until such time as the Grantee receives the stock certificate for the shares representing this award, the Grantee (or any successor in
interest) shall have no rights as a stockholder (including, without limitation, no voting, dividend and liquidation rights) with respect to the shares of Common

Stock.
(c) Share Withhold Election. Upon or prior to receipt of shares of Common Stock, the Grantee may make a written election to have shares of Common Stock
withheld by the Company from the shares otherwise to be received to cover Taxes incurred by reason of the issuance of the shares under this Agreement and
the Notice. The number of shares so withheld shall have an

aggregate Fair Market Value on the date of issuance sufficient to satisfy the applicable Taxes. The acceptance of any such election by the Grantee shall be at the
sole discretion of the Committee. Such Taxes shall be calculated at minimum statutory withholding rates.

SECTION 3. TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD OR SHARES ISSUED IN SETTLEMENT OF THIS
AWARD.
(a) Generally . Except as otherwise provided in subsection (c) below, this award and the rights and privileges conferred hereby shall not be sold, pledged or
otherwise transferred (whether by operation of law or otherwise) other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and shall not be subject to sale under
execution, attachment, levy or similar process.

(b) Transfer of Shares. Except as otherwise expressly permitted by the Committee, the Grantee shall not Transfer (other than a Permitted Transfer as
described in subsection (c) below) any shares of Common Stock issued in settlement of this award while the Grantee remains in Service with the Company,
except for a sale of only that number of shares necessary to generate sufficient proceeds to pay taxes on income recognized by the Grantee upon the issuance of
shares issued in settlement of this award.
(c) Permitted Transfers. Subject to the approval of the Committee in its sole discretion, the Grantee may transfer this award (other than those Units issued
under the Grantee’s initial Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award and the shares issued in settlement of such Units) in connection with his or her estate plan,
to the Grantee’s spouse, siblings, parents, children and grandchildren or trusts for the benefit of such persons or partnerships, corporations, limited liability
companies or other entities owned solely by such persons, including trusts for such persons. In connection with any such Permitted Transfer, the Transferee
shall execute and be bound by such terms and conditions as the Committee shall require.

SECTION 4. ADJUSTMENT OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK.
(a) Adjustment Generally . If there shall be any change in the Common Stock of the Company, through merger, consolidation, reorganization,
recapitalization, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, spin-off, combination of shares of Common Stock, exchange of shares of Common
Stock, dividend in kind or other like change in capital structure or distribution (other than normal cash dividends) to stockholders of the Company, an
adjustment shall be made to this award so that upon the Settlement Date, the Grantee shall receive on the Settlement Date such securities, cash and/or other
property as would have been received had the Grantee held a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Units held by the Grantee pursuant
to this award immediately prior to such change or distribution, and such an adjustment shall be made successively each time any such change shall occur.

(b) Modification of Award . In the event of any change or distribution described in subsection (a) above, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the
Grantee’s rights hereunder, the Committee may adjust, in an equitable manner, the number and kind of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under
this award and other value determinations applicable to this award.
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SECTION 5. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.
(a) Tenure. Nothing in the Notice, Agreement or Plan shall confer upon the Grantee any right to continue in Service for any period of specific duration or
interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the Company (or any Parent Corporation or Subsidiary Corporation retaining the Grantee) or of the
Grantee, which rights are hereby expressly reserved by each, to terminate his or her Service at any time and for any reason, with or without cause.

(b) Notification . Any notification required by the terms of this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall be deemed effective upon personal delivery or
upon deposit with the United States Postal Service, by registered or certified mail, with postage and fees prepaid. Communications to the Company shall be
addressed to the Company at its principal executive office and to the Grantee at the address that he or she most recently provided to the Company.
(c) Entire Agreement . This Agreement, the Notice and the Plan constitute the entire contract between the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter hereof.
They supersede any other agreements, representations or understandings (whether oral or written and whether express or implied) which relate to the subject
matter hereof.

(d) Amendment . This Agreement may be amended by the Company at any time upon written notice to the Grantee, provided, however, that no such
amendment shall adversely affect the rights of the Grantee hereunder without the Grantee’s consent.
(e) Waiver. The failure of the Company in any instance to exercise any rights under this Agreement or any other agreement between the Company and the

Grantee shall not be deemed a waiver of such rights. No waiver of any breach or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other or
subsequent breach or condition whether of like or different nature.

(f) Grantee Undertaking . The Grantee agrees to take whatever additional action and execute whatever additional documents the Company may deem
necessary or advisable in order to carry out or effect one or more of the obligations or restrictions imposed on either the Grantee or the shares of Common Stock
to be issued in settlement of this award.
(g) Successors and Assigns . The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Company and its successors and

assigns and upon the Grantee, the Grantee’s assigns and the legal representatives, heirs and legatees of the Grantee’s estate, whether or not any such person
shall have become a party to this Agreement and have agreed in writing to be joined herein and be bound by the terms hereof.

(h) Choice of Law . This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, as such laws are applied to
contracts entered into and performed in such State.

SECTION 6. DEFINITIONS.
(a) “Agreement” shall mean this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.
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(b) “Board of Directors ” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.
(c) “Cause” shall mean with respect to the Grantee:

(i) any conviction or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a felony,

(ii) any fraud, theft or other willful misconduct,
(iii) any willful breach of any material written policy of the Company which results or reasonably could be expected to result in any material liability,
loss or damages to the Company, or
(iv) any willful breach of any confidential or proprietary information, non-compete or non-solicitation covenant for the benefit of the Company or any of
its affiliates.

Upon the occurrence of any event described in clauses (ii) or (iii) above, the Company shall provide the Grantee with written notice that Cause exists within a
reasonable period of time not to exceed one (1) calendar month after the event giving rise to Cause exists. Upon receipt of such notice, the Grantee shall have an
opportunity to meet and discuss with the Board whether Cause exists.

(d) “Common Stock ” shall have the meaning described in Section 1(a) of this Agreement.
(e) “Company ” shall mean WellChoice, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto.

(f) “Director” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors who is not an Employee.
(g) “Disability” shall mean the Grantee is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determined physical or mental

impairment as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

(h) “Employee ” shall mean any individual who is an employee of the Company, a Parent Corporation or a Subsidiary Corporation.
(i) “Grantee ” shall mean the person named in the Notice.
(j) “Notice” shall have the meaning described in Section 1(a) of this Agreement.

(k) “Permitted Transfers” shall have the meaning described in Section 3(c) of this Agreement.
(l) “Plan” shall mean WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

(m) “Retirement” shall mean the date the Grantee ceases to be a director after not standing for election following the Grantee’s attainment of age 72.
4

(n) “Service” shall mean service as a Director.
(o) “Settlement Date ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Notice.

(p) “Transferee” shall mean any person to whom the Grantee has directly or indirectly transferred any shares of Common Stock.
(q) “Unit” shall have the meaning described in Section 1(a) of this Agreement.
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GRANT NO.

WELLCHOICE , INC.
2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
NOTICE OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT A WARD
(FOR INITIAL GRANT TO NON-EMPLOYEE BOARD MEMBER )

Name of Grantee:

(“Grantee”)

Date of Grant:

______________

Type of Award:

Units, to be settled in shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share (“ Common Stock ”), of WellChoice,
Inc. (the “ Company ”), and Dividend Equivalents, to be “re-invested” in Units which shall also be settled in
shares of Common Stock.

Total Number of Units
Subject to Award:

X Units, where each Unit represents one hypothetical share of Common Stock.

Vesting Date:

The Grantee will be 100% vested in the Units and Dividend Equivalents that are subject to this award on
(the “Vesting Date”), provided the Grantee’s Service as a Director has not terminated (other than
due to the Grantee’s Retirement) prior to that date; provided, however, that the Committee may elect, in its sole
discretion, to permit the Units to continue to vest after Grantee’s Service terminates.

Settlement of Award:

Unless the Grantee shall have delivered to the Company prior to the Date of Grant a duly executed deferral
election notice substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix A to defer settlement of this award to a
later date or dates (the “ Deferral Date ”), shares of Common Stock in settlement of this award shall be delivered
on the Vesting Date (such date, the “Settlement Date ”).

Acceleration of Award:

This award shall be settled prior to the Settlement Date (or if applicable the Deferral Date) and become fully
vested as follows:
•

Change in Control : If following a Change in Control, the Grantee ceases to be a director of the surviving company,
this award shall be settled on the date board service ends, unless the Grantee shall have made a separate Change in
Control deferral election in the manner described for deferrals above, in which case this award shall be settled in
accordance with such election;

•

Death/Disability : If the Grantee ceases to be a Director of the Company due to death or Disability, but if such date

should occur less than one year after the Date of Grant, this award shall be settled on the anniversary of the Date of
Grant;

•

Committee Discretion : If the Committee, in its sole discretion, elects to accelerate settlement of this

award.

Dividend Equivalents:

Prior to the settlement of this award, the Grantee shall be eligible to receive for each Unit that is the subject to
this award, additional Units the number of which shall equal the Fair Market Value equal to the value of any
regular or special dividends paid on the shares of Common Stock.

Transfer Restrictions:

The Units and the shares of Common Stock issued in settlement of this award are subject to the transfer
restrictions as described in the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, referenced below.
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By indicating your acceptance below, you accept this award and acknowledge that this award is granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of
WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“ Plan”) and the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement reference number DU000000 (“ Agreement ”), both of
which are hereby made a part of this document. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in the Plan and Agreement.

GRANTEE:

WELLCHOICE, INC.

Name:

Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Title:

President and Chief Executive Officer
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Appendix A
Deferral Election
TO:

Robert W. Lawrence, Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Services,
WellChoice, Inc.

I hereby request that WellChoice, Inc. (the “ Company ”) defer the delivery to me of shares of Common Stock, par value $.01 per share, of the Company, in
settlement of an initial award of restricted stock units that may be made to me in November 2003 (the “ Award”) in accordance with my instructions described
below.

Deferral Date (check one)
Please commence delivery of shares of Common Stock in settlement of the Award on:

_____

[DATE]

(Note, this is the anticipated Settlement Date. Thus, there would be no deferral if you elect a lump sum
payment; if you elect installments, the first installment would not be deferred.)

_____

[DATE]

(or, if earlier, the date I cease to serve as member of the board of directors of the Company).

_____

The date I cease to serve as member of the board of directors of the Company.

Form of Payment (check one; if you elect annual installments, select the # of installments)
Please settle my Award:

_____

All at once, in one lump sum delivery of shares of Common Stock on the Deferral Date.

_____

In equal annual installments, commencing on the Deferral Date (or if no deferral on the Settlement Date).

_____

Number of Annual Installments (enter 2, 3, 4 or 5)

Form of Payment – Change in Control (check only if you agree)
If settlement of my Award would otherwise be accelerated and paid in one lump sum because of a Change in Control, please settle my
Award (or the remainder thereof):

_____

In one lump sum.

_____

In equal annual installments, commencing on the accelerated settlement date.

_____

Number of Annual Installments (enter 2, 3, 4 or 5)

Today’s Date:
Signature

Print Name

Exhibit 21

WELLCHOICE, INC.
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY

PLACE OF ORGANIZATION

EHC BENEFITS AGENCY, INC

NEW YORK

EMPIRE HEALTHCHOICE ASSURANCE, INC

NEW YORK

EMPIRE HEALTHCHOICE HMO, INC

NEW YORK

WELLCHOICE HOLDINGS OF NEW YORK, INC

NEW YORK

WELLCHOICE INSURANCE OF NEW JERSEY, INC

NEW JERSEY

EXHIBIT 23
Consent of Independent Auditor
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8) pertaining to the WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan and
WellChoice, Inc. 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of our report dated February 2, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedules
of WellChoice, Inc. included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2003.
/S /

New York, NY
February 12, 2004

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Exhibit 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Michael A. Stocker, MD, Chief Executive Officer of WellChoice, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of WellChoice, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions based upon the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2004
/S /

MICHAEL A. S TOCKER, M.D.
Michael A. Stocker, MD
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, John W. Remshard, Chief Financial Officer of WellChoice, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of WellChoice, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions based upon the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2004

/s/ JOHN W. REMSHARD
John W. Remshard
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Michael A. Stocker, MD, as Chief Executive Officer of WellChoice, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2003 (the “ Report”), being filed with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: February 12, 2004
/S /

MICHAEL A. S TOCKER, M.D.

Name:

Michael A. Stocker, MD

Title:

Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to WellChoice, Inc. and will be retained by WellChoice, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, John W. Remshard, as Chief Financial Officer of WellChoice, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2003 (the “ Report”), being filed with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: February 12, 2004
/S /
Name:

Title:

JOHN W. REMSHARD
John W. Remshard
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to WellChoice, Inc. and will be retained by WellChoice, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

